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The Hon. Eva Lawler MLA
Minister for Environment 
Parliament House
State Square Darwin NT 0800

Dear Minister,

I am pleased to present you with the 2020-21 Annual Report of the Department of Environment, Parks 
and Water Security, which has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of section 28 of the 
Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993 and section 12 of the Financial Management Act 
1995.

Pursuant to my responsibilities as the Accountable Officer under the Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act 1993, the Financial Management Act 1995 and the Information Act 2002, I advise that to 
the best of my knowledge and belief:

• proper records of all transactions affecting the Department of Environment, Parks and Water 
Security are kept, and all employees under my control observe the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 1995, its Regulations and applicable Treasurer’s Directions

• procedures in the department afford proper internal control, and these procedures are recorded in 
the Accounting and Property Manual, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Financial Management Act 1995

• there is no indication of fraud, malpractice, major breach of legislation or delegation, major error in, 
or omission from, the accounts and records

• in accordance with section 15 of the Financial Management Act 1995, the internal audit capacity was 
adequate and the results of all internal audit matters were reported to me

• the financial statements included in this annual report have been prepared from proper accounts 
and records and are in accordance with the Treasurer’s Directions

• all Employment Instructions issued by the Commissioner for Public Employment have been satisfied

• in respect to my responsibilities under section 131 of the Information Act 2002, processes have 
been implemented to achieve compliance with the archives and records management provisions 
prescribed in Part 9 of the Information Act 2002.

Yours sincerely,

LETTER TO THE MINISTER

Jo Townsend
Chief Executive Officer
30 September 2021
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PURPOSE
The Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security 2020-21 Annual Report 
provides a record of the department’s functions and performance and progress against its 
strategic goals and priorities.

The report complies with annual reporting requirements in the Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act 1993, the Financial Management Act 1995 and the Information Act 2002.

OUR AUDIENCE
The annual report is tabled by the Minister in the Northern Territory Legislative Assembly, 
primarily as an accounting and reporting mechanism for the department’s income and 
financial expenditure for the year ending 30 June 2021.

The report provides information to the public and other government agencies about the 
department’s purpose and outcomes during the year. It also formally acknowledges the 
achievements of its programs and employees.

REPORT STRUCTURE
The report is made up of 5 key sections:

1. OUR DEPARTMENT 
The organisation’s purpose, primary functions and objectives.

2. OUR ACHIEVEMENTS 
The department’s output performance in 2020-21 and results against measures 
published in Budget Paper No. 3.

3. OUR PEOPLE 
An overview of the department’s people, human resource management and legislative 
requirements and formal acknowledgement of our employees’ achievements.

4. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
The department’s corporate governance model and performance.

5. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The department’s financial statements and related notes.

This annual report is published online at depws.nt.gov.au
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OVERVIEW
The Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security (DEPWS) was established by the Northern Territory 
Government on 8 September 2020, combining the functions of the previous Department of Environment and 
Natural Resources and the Parks and Wildlife Commission of the Northern Territory from the former Department 
of Tourism, Sport and Culture. 

The department provides advice and regulation to support the sustainable use of the Territory’s natural resources.  
The department is responsible for the management, development, protection and preservation of the Territory’s 
wildlife and parks and reserves as well as coordinating water security outcomes.

The department operates from offices throughout the Territory delivering natural resource management services 
and advice to landholders across the 1,350,000 km² of the Northern Territory. 

The department also manages the Northern Territory's parks and reserves estate comprising 85 national parks and 
reserves throughout the Territory, offering visitors a range of natural and cultural experiences.

OUR DEPARTMENT
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STRATEGIC PLAN 2021-2420
GOALS

DOING

OUR

WHAT
WE

ARE

VALUES

The Northern Territory’s natural 
assets are managed sustainably 
for the benefit of all.

Provide evidence-based advice and regulation 
to support sustainable use of the Northern 
Territory’s natural resources, and protect and 
present our wildlife, parks and reserves. 

1.1 Undertake strategic, integrated 
assessments of the Territory’s 
natural assets to inform sustainable 
development and conservation 
management.

1.2 Support the development and 
growth of Aboriginal businesses 
and Aboriginal economic 
participation.

1.3 Implement regulatory efficiencies to 
support our customer service focus.

1.4 Ensure we have the right regulatory 
and policy framework to support 
effective decision making.

2.1 Grow the profile of the department 
and its work by promoting our 
objectives and outcomes through 
digital and stakeholder engagement.

2.2 Collaborate and engage with key 
stakeholders to design and deliver 
effective regulatory systems.

2.3 Develop and maintain partnerships 
with land managers and research 
agencies to leverage knowledge and 
better manage the Territory’s natural 
resources.

2.4 Work with key industries and 
stakeholders to build partnerships 
through mutual understanding.

2.5 Build an informed and resilient 
community.

3.1 Implement robust systems to monitor the health 
of the Territory’s natural resources, including 
biodiversity values, to inform effective management.

3.2 Develop and implement policies and management 
programs to facilitate sustainable use of wildlife 
and mitigate threats to our natural assets and the 
community.

3.3 Preserve and conserve our parks, reserves, wildlife 
and cultural assets for future generations.

3.4 Improve access to our parks and reserves and 
cultural assets to enhance visitor experience and 
Territory lifestyle and wellbeing.

3.5 Ensure the effective and efficient administration of 
our legislation, including transparent, consistent and 
proportionate regulation.

3.6 Security of our water resources for future 
generations.

4.1 Inspire and support a workplace culture 
that is diverse, collaborative, respectful 
and accountable.

4.2 Build and enhance strategic leadership 
across the department.

4.3 Maintain and increase capability through 
succession planning and development 
programs.

4.4 Deliver a healthy and safe environment 
through reducing risk and supporting 
continual improvement.

4.5 Implement improved business systems, 
access to information and streamline key 
processes.

4.6 Maintain and enhance data and 
information management systems that 
maximise accessibility and value for 
stakeholders.

Commitment to Service   ||   Ethical Practice   ||   Respect   ||   Accountability   ||   Impartiality   ||   Diversity

Department of

ENVIRONMENT, PARKS AND WATER SECURITYSTRATEGIC PLAN

21
24

OUR
VISION

OUR
PURPOSE

SUPPORTING SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT

PROTECTING AND MANAGING OUR 
NATURAL ASSETS

FOSTERING AND STRENGTHENING 
PARTNERSHIPS

INVESTING IN OUR PEOPLE 
AND SYSTEMS

01

03

02

04
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GOVERNANCE BOARD

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Jo Townsend

Jo has held the position of Chief Executive Officer of the 
Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security 
since it was formed in September 2020.  

She was previously the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Department of Environment and Natural Resources where 
she led the agency through an extensive legislative reform 
program and positioned the organisation to deliver new 
accountabilities for the regulation for water resources, 
onshore gas and environmental impact assessment, as well 
as new approaches to bushfire management, established 
the Office of Climate Change and supported an expanded 
assessment of water, land and biodiversity resources 
across the Territory.

Jo also holds the statutory appointment of the Controller 
of Water Resources under the Water Act 1992 where 
she is responsible for management, allocation and 
enforcement responsibilities under the Act.  

Jo has an extensive and diverse career in the Northern 
Territory Public Sector spanning more than 25 years and 
has held executive leadership roles in social policy, public 
health, child protection, water resources.  

Jo has a Bachelor of Arts degree and a Graduate Diploma 
in Applied Psychology.

L-R: Luis Da Rocha, Executive Director, Rangelands; Amy Dysart, Executive Director, Water Resources;  
Sally Egan, Executive Director, Parks and Wildlife; Stephanie Jungfer, Executive Officer; Amy Dennison, 
Executive Director Environmental Regulation; Cynthia Loganathan, Chief Financial Officer; Jo Townsend, Chief 
Executive Officer; Dr Alaric Fisher, Executive Director, Flora and Fauna; Paul Purdon, Executive Director, 
Environmental Assessment and Policy; Collene Bremner, Executive Director, Bushfires NT.  
Not pictured: John Gaynor, Regional Director South.
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LEGISLATION ADMINISTERED
The department is responsible for administering 44 pieces of legislation, including 23 Acts and 21 pieces of 
subordinate legislation. This legislation provides an overriding direction for many department functions and is 
the foundation of a number of output groups. A review process ensures the legislation remains contemporary 
and relevant to community expectations and incorporates best practice in the areas it governs.

• Bushfires Management Act 2016
 – Bushfires Management (General) Regulations 

2017
 – Bushfires Management (Volunteer Bushfire 

Brigades) Regulations 2006

• Cobourg Peninsula Aboriginal Land, Sanctuary 
and Marine Park Act 1981

 – Cobourg Peninsula Aboriginal Land and 
Sanctuary (Entry and Camping) By-laws 1986

 – Cobourg Peninsula Aboriginal Land, Sanctuary 
and Marine Park (Rehabilitation Areas) By-
laws 2002

• Environment Protection Act 2019 

• Environment Protection (Beverage Containers 
and Plastic Bags) Act 2011

 – Environment Protection (Beverage Containers 
and Plastic Bags) Regulations 2011

• Environmental Offences and Penalties Act 1996
 – Environmental Offences and Penalties 

Regulations 2011

• Lake Eyre Basin Intergovernmental Agreement 
Act 2009 

• Litter Act 1972

• Marine Pollution Act 1999
 – Marine Pollution Regulations 2003

• National Environment Protection Council 
(Northern Territory) Act 1994

• Nitmiluk (Katherine Gorge) National Park Act 
1989 

• Northern Territory Environment Protection 
Authority Act 2012

• Nuclear Waste Transport, Storage and Disposal 
(Prohibition) Act 2004

 – Nuclear Waste Transport, Storage and 
Disposal (Prohibition) Regulations 2019

• Parks and Reserves (Framework for the Future) 
Act 2003

 – Parks and Reserves (Framework for the 
Future) Regulations 2005

• Parks and Wildlife Commission Act 1980

• Pastoral Land Act 1992 (except provisions about 
Aboriginal community living areas)

 – Pastoral Land Regulations 1992

• Petroleum Act 1984
Part V, Division 2 and provisions relating to 
environmental regulation of exploration for and 
production of petroleum 

 – Petroleum (Environment) Regulations 2016

• Planning Act 1999 
Land clearing approvals on unzoned land (under 
delegation from the Minister for Infrastructure, 
Planning and Logistics)

• Soil Conservation and Land Utilisation Act 1969

• Territory Parks and Wildlife Conservation Act 
1976 

 – Territory Parks and Wildlife Conservation By- 
laws 1984

 – Territory Parks and Wildlife Conservation 
Regulations 2001

 –  Tnorala Local Management Committee 
Regulations 1993

 –  Barranyi (North Island) Local Management 
Committee Regulations 1992

 –  Djukbinj National Park Local Management 
Committee (Djukbinj Board) Regulations 1997

 –  Keep River National Park Local Management 
Committee Regulations 1992

• Waste Management and Pollution Control Act 
1998

 – Waste Management and Pollution Control 
(Administration) Regulations 1998

 – Environment Protection (National Pollutant 
Inventory) Objective 2004

• Water Act 1992
 – Water Regulations 1992

• Water Efficiency Labelling Standards (National 
Uniform Legislation) Act 2014

• Weeds Management Act 2001
 – Weeds Management Regulations 2006
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OUR ACHIEVEMENTS
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Key achievements in 2020-21

• Completed a range of environmental studies on the 
Middle Arm Peninsula in Darwin Harbour, which will 
contribute to the strategic environmental assessment 
for the Middle Arm Sustainable Development Precinct.

• Developed predictive modelling for the distribution 
of groundwater dependent ecosystems in the central 
plains of the Western Davenport area, and undertook 
an ecological assessment of these communities.

• Undertook a range of projects in Darwin Harbour, 
including benthic habitat mapping, analysis and 
reporting of sediment quality monitoring, and 
development of a water quality index.

• Completed an extensive renovation of the Darwin 
Herbarium, which included a significant expansion of 
the collection capacity to allow for further growth in 
the collection over the next decade, and providing 
upgraded facilities for plant identification services.

• Undertook the annual aerial survey of magpie goose 
population and nesting rate to inform the conditions 
for the 2021-22 waterfowl hunting season, in 
accordance with the Management Program.

• Delivered the fourth round of the Aboriginal Ranger 
Grants Program including $1.43m for 16 new land 
management projects. The full $12.1m available 
under the 4-year funding program from 2017-18 to 
2020-21 has now been delivered, and the Northern 
Territory Government has committed to a further  
4 years of funding.

• Finalised a review of the conservation status of plant 
and animal species listed as threatened under the 
Territory Parks and Wildlife Conservation Act 1976. The 
revision includes 12 additions and 11 removals from 
the Northern Territory Threatened Species list, as well 
as 16 changes of status level within the list.

• Coordinated the delivery of the Strategic Regional 
Environment and Baseline Assessment (SREBA) 
program for the Beetaloo Sub-basin, and undertook 
extensive fieldwork for the terrestrial and aquatic 
ecosystem studies.

Key future priorities

• Supporting the implementation of the Darwin 
Harbour Strategy, in collaboration with the Darwin 
Harbour Advisory Committee, including a mangrove 
retention plan; dredging management strategy and 
waste discharge strategy.

• Completing the delivery of the SREBA for the 
Beetaloo Sub-basin.

• Delivery of the next phase of the Aboriginal Ranger 
Grants Program over 2021-2025, including additional 
funding provided through the Ichthys LNG Coastal 
Management Offset.

• Revision of the Northern Territory Saltwater Crocodile 
Management Program.

• Supporting the completion and implementation of the 
Biodiversity Offsets Policy for the Northern Territory.

FLORA AND FAUNA
Provides scientific assessment and monitoring of the Territory’s native flora and fauna, and delivery of policy 
advice and support for the conservation and sustainable use of wildlife and management of feral animals.

This output is responsible for:

• assessing and monitoring the Territory’s native flora and fauna
• assisting land owners to manage the threat to our unique flora and fauna
• supporting and managing the sustainable use of wildlife
• providing robust, evidence-based advice to government, industry and the community relating to the 

biodiversity of the Northern Territory.

Services are provided from Darwin and Alice Springs.

KEY DELIVERABLES
2017-18 
ACTUAL

2018-19 
ACTUAL

2019-20 
ACTUAL

2020-21 
BUDGET

2020-21 
ACTUAL

Spatial biodiversity records for the Territory (million)1 2.9 2.89 3.8 4 3.5

Biodiversity information requests met within agreed timeframes - - - 75% 75%

Project funding milestones met - - - 80% 100%

Milestones met under approved management programs and strategies - - - 80% 89%

Variance analysis actual vs original budget

1. Due to the exclusion of invertebrate records.
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FLORA AND FAUNA 
SNAPSHOT

Coordination of the 

SREBA 
Program for the Beetaloo Sub-basin 

$1.43 million
granted through the  

Aboriginal Ranger Grants Program for 

16 
new land management projects

100% 
of project funding milestones met

Completed 

renovation 
of the 

Darwin 
Herbarium3.5 million

Territory flora and fauna 
spatial biodiversity records

Commissioned an independent review of the Aboriginal Ranger Grants Program, 
which found that the grants program made  

“a considerable and profound 
contribution to land 

management across the 
Territory”
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The small and sometimes overlooked, Typhonium 
praetermissum is a threatened species that lives only in 
the greater Darwin region. 

It is in the same family as the ‘Arum Lilies’, a group known 
for their short-lived but potent-smelling flowers that 
attract a range of carrion-feeding insects as pollinators. 

Scientists from the Flora and Fauna division are 
developing a conservation strategy to ensure the ongoing 
persistence and viability of this threatened species in the 
Darwin region. 

As a component of this work, staff are also unlocking 
more of the mysteries of how the plant reproduces and 
lives. 

At times, entire leaves are commonly observed browsed 
to the base. Time-lapse cameras are capturing valuable 
data on the species’ biology and ecology including the 
rate of leaf turnover, flowering events and midnight 
marauding in the guise of possums that have been caught 
enjoying a late buffet of smelly flowers and leaves. 

Targeted survey and genetic analysis are being 
undertaken to better understand the species’ population 
structure and help identify the key areas of genetic 
diversity for the species. 

This biological data will be used in spatial planning to 
direct the management priorities for the species, the first 
application of such a spatial genetics approach to the 
conservation management of a species in the NT.

To watch a time-lapse video of a possum caught snacking 
on a Typhonium at Middle Arm use the QR Code below:

THREATENED SPECIES CONSERVATION MANAGEMENT
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The Aboriginal Ranger Grants Program is one 
of the key elements of the Northern Territory 
Government's Protecting Country, Creating Jobs 
initiative. Commencing in 2017, the grants program 
has delivered $12 million of funding to Aboriginal 
Ranger groups and land managers across the Northern 
Territory.

Caring for their land and sea country is of prime 
importance to Aboriginal people and ranger groups 
have a key role in many Aboriginal communities.  As 
well as caring for country, rangers also undertake 
cultural and educational roles, support economic 
development through diverse fee for service 
opportunities and provide a career path and 
inspiration for young Aboriginal Territorians.  

The Territory Aboriginal Ranger Grants Program 
was carefully designed to support ranger groups in 
ways that would provide the most benefit to their 
operations.  The program supported the purchase 
of essential capital equipment to build on-ground 
capacity and provided operational funds for a broad 
array of projects that built capability and  
self-sufficiency, as well as securing environmental and 
cultural outcomes.

An independent review of the Aboriginal Ranger 
program was recently undertaken by Ninti One, which 
summarises the achievements and outcomes of the 
program: 

“The review has found that the Aboriginal Ranger 
Grant Program has made a considerable and 
profound contribution to land management across 
the Northern Territory. 

"This has been achieved through the focused 
provision of resources and project funding to 
Aboriginal ranger groups that has allowed for 
ongoing benefit beyond the program. The land 
management outcomes and financial benefit 
achieved has been substantial."

For more information or to watch one of the videos 
highlighting the work of Aboriginal rangers that 
received funding through the program, use the  
QR Code below:

ABORIGINAL RANGER GRANTS PROGRAM 
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RANGELANDS
Provides scientific assessment and monitoring of the Northern Territory’s land and delivery of extension 
services, policy advice, and regulation of use and threats to the land resources.

This output is responsible for:

• assessing and monitoring the Territory’s land resources
• assisting landholders in managing the threat and impact of weeds.

Services are provided from Darwin, Katherine, Tennant Creek and Alice Springs.

KEY DELIVERABLES
2017-18 
ACTUAL

2018-19 
ACTUAL

2019-20 
ACTUAL

2020-21 
BUDGET

2020-21  
ACTUAL

Pastoral estate monitored in the year1 - - - 20% 11%

Land clearing applications for unzoned freehold land assessed 
within statutory timeframes2 - - - 100% 12.5%

Compliance inspections undertaken under the Weeds Management 
Act 20013 - - - 1 100 1 600

Landholders (private, public, pastoral, Aboriginal) engaged on weed 
management1 - - - 2 300 2 226

Land development proposals assessed4 677 618 536 600 312

Soil profile sites described and tested to develop new soil and land 
resource mapping5 610 390 248 350 413

Variance analysis actual vs original budget

1. Due to COVID-19 related restrictions.
2. Impact of site inspection delays due to seasonal inundation.
3. Potentially the variation is due to an increase in capacity with the formation of the Gamba Fire Mitigation 

Unit.
4. Reflects a decrease in the number of land development proposals received.
5. Due to increased capacity as a result of expected additional external funding.

Key achievements in 2020-21

• Introduced new functions into Development 
Applications Online to allow clearing and non- 
pastoral use applications under the Pastoral Land 
Act 1992 to be lodged and tracked electronically 
and enable the public to view and make 
submissions.

• The Pastoral Land Clearing Guidelines amended to 
provide a simplified application process, allowing 
applications of up to 1,000 ha to be assessed 
within 6 weeks. 

• Carried out rangeland monitoring activities across 
26 pastoral leases to assess land condition.

• Assessed 17 applications to clear native 
vegetation under the Pastoral Land Act 1992 and 
8 applications on unzoned land under the Planning 
Act 1999. 

• Assessed 2 non-pastoral use applications made 
under the Pastoral Land Act 1992 for agriculture.

• Provided written advice on 312 development 
proposals for Northern Territory Government 
agencies, authorities and private entities.

• Established an overarching Gamba Management 
Framework which included:

 – release of the Gamba Grass Weed 
Management Plan 2020–2030

 – establishment of a Gamba Army
 – establishment of the Gamba Fire Mitigation 

Unit to manage a targeted compliance and 
enforcement program in the Darwin rural area 

 – provided assistance to 36 elderly and 
vulnerable rural landholders to reduce gamba 
fuel loads through the Fire Ready Assistance 
Program

 – assisted 2,226 participants through the 
Gamba Action Program

 – Launched the online Gamba: Check Your Risk  
self- assessment tool.
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RANGELANDS
SNAPSHOT

312  
land development proposals  

assessed

Core data from 

15,000 
new vegetation sites secured in the 

NT Vegetation Site Database

Helped 

36
elderly and vulnerable rural 
landholders to reduce their  

gamba grass fuel loads

2,226 
participants assisted 
through the Gamba 

Action Program 

Reduced time taken to assess a land 
clearing  applications <1,000ha to within

6 weeks
instead of the standard  

6 months (120 days)

25
applications to clear native 

vegetation assessed

26
 land condition assessments carried 

out on pastoral leases

18
pastoral lease transfers assessed and 

approved

1,600 
compliance inspections undertaken

413
soil profile sites described and tested 
to develop new soil and land resource 

mapping
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Key future priorities

• Develop a policy and initiatives to promote 
and enable climate change resilience within 
the Northern Territory pastoral estate, focusing 
on improving land condition, adopting best 
management practices to drive industry and 
environmental sustainability.

• Revision of statutory weed management plans for 
athel pine, chinee apple, grader grass and neem 
and development of new plans for bellyache bush 
and mimosa.

• Finalise and publish soil and land resource 
mapping in the Western Davenports, Deep 
Well, southern Alice Springs pastoral region and 
Katherine areas and present the findings of soil 
and land suitability mapping in the East Arnhem 
region to the regional board of the Northern Land 
Council for endorsement to release for public use.

• Finalise land resource survey of Groote Eylandt 
and in collaboration with the CSIRO, undertake 
further land suitability studies, including validation, 
in the Roper River catchment.

• Work with the Pastoral Land Board to finalise and 
publish a compliance framework for the pastoral 
estate.

• Develop the new Darwin Regional Weeds 
Strategy; the completion will result in the 
establishment of the Northern Territory Weed 
Strategy.

• Continue ongoing biosecurity emergency 
management of parthenium, rubber vine and siam 
weed.

• Develop a Geospatial Data Systems Strategy for 
the department.

The department published its first digital soil mapping 
project across part of the Roper River valley. This 
innovative project adopts world’s best practice soil 
modelling techniques to map land suitability for a range 
of irrigated tropical crops. 

The strategic assessment provided an opportunity for 
the department to gain an excellent understanding of 
the landscapes across the broader region and assist the 
targeting of agricultural development in the future. 

DIGITAL SOIL MAPPING IN THE ROPER RIVER VALLEY
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The department played a significant role in 
the development of the National Soil Strategy, 
participating in a Steering Committee and coordinating 
and leading stakeholder workshops in the Northern 
Territory. The National Soil Strategy was released on 
11 May 2021 with Northern Territory Government 
endorsing its release. 

The first case study in the strategy showcases how 
investment by the Northern Territory Government in 
land resource and groundwater studies in the Darwin 
region in the 1980s has laid the foundations for the 
establishment of one of northern Australia’s most 
successful horticultural regions, now estimated to be 
worth $120 million annually.

To read the strategy use the QR code below:

NATIONAL SOIL STRATEGY 

The final Territory Economic Reconstruction 
Commission Report commits the Northern Territory 
Government to streamlined regulatory processes 
to make it easier for investors to do business in the 
Northern Territory. 

In response, the department investigated 
opportunities to make regulatory approval processes 
easier and faster, to support accelerated investment. 
The department explored ways to expedite 
pastoral land clearing approval processes without 
compromising environmental outcomes. 

The result is the Simplified Pastoral Land Clearing 
Application process. 

The 'Simplified' category promotes the ecologically 
sustainable development of the Northern 
Territory. This category requires lessees to develop 
unconstrained land, which is land generally defined as 
having the most suitable soil and land resources with 
low biological and cultural value. 

Simplified applications are required to meet specific 
and more stringent environmental criteria thereby 
reducing environmental complexity and enabling an 
expedited assessment and approvals process. 

Through the Simplified process, an application for 
less than 1,000ha is processed within 6 weeks (30 
business days) instead of the standard 6 months.

SIMPLIFIED PASTORAL 
LAND CLEARING
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Chief Minister's Award

The way in which the annual Gamba Assistance 
Program (GAP) was delivered in early 2020 was 
changed due to the uncertain threat of COVID-19. 

Social distancing became the new norm, leading to 
the development of the Gamba Action Service Switch 
Program 2019-20 (GASSP-19) that resulted in:

• Contactless home delivery service of herbicide to 
registered landholders

• Spraying of gamba grass for at-risk, physically 
impaired or elderly landowners, or absentee lands 
and town camps that posed a significant gamba 
fire threat to neighbouring blocks.

The GASSP-19 was very popular among Territorians 
who were still able to reduce the spread and risks 
posed by gamba grass. The Program was a deserved 
winner at the 2020 Chief Minister’s Awards for 
Excellence in the Public Sector.  

CSIRO Collaboration Award (NAWRA)

The Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research 
Organisation Collaboration (CSIRO) Award recognises 
the most outstanding cross-business unit project 
involving staff members from 3 or more business units 
to resolve a significant challenge for CSIRO. 

Northern Australia Water Resource Assessment 
(NAWRA) was the world’s most extensive water 
resource study that brought together a multi-
disciplinary team of more than 150 scientific staff 
from 7 CSIRO business units and 17 other research 
organisations to deliver tools and data to enable 
evidence-based decision making for sustainable 
growth of Northern Australia.  

Department staff in both the Rangelands and Water 
Resources divisions were awarded medals for their 
contributions.

24 ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 | DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT, PARKS AND WATER SECURITY



IT’S A PITCH-FORKING WEED
Siam weed is a perennial plant considered to be one of the world’s most invasive weeds that is toxic to cattle if 
eaten and has reportedly killed 3,000 cattle annually in The Philippines.

It was first discovered in the Northern Territory at a pastoral property west of Litchfield National Park in 2019 
and the infestation area is now estimated to be 1,167 ha across 3 infected premises. While this weed has a 
distinguishable pitch-forking stem, it can be hard to detect as it only flowers for about a month during the 
coldest time of the year.

Efforts by the department to combat 
the spread and impact of Siam weed 
continued during the 2020-21 financial 
year including aerial and ground 
surveillance activities, as well as spraying 
herbicide, and releasing gall flies, which 
has proven effective in north Queensland.

In other countries where gall flies have 
been released, they have proven to be a 
very effective biocontrol agent. Gall flies 
won’t kill Siam weed but they reduce the 
vigour of the plant, meaning they disable 
the competitive advantage this weed has.

Back in Central and South America where 
Siam weed is a native plant, it would have 
gall flies and other insects impacting on it. 
The department has now set up its own 
breeding program for gall flies and the 
idea is that so long as the flies are buzzing 
around the infected premises it will mean 
the Siam weed is less able to spread and 
impact our native environment.

A public awareness campaign launched in 
2020 urges anyone who suspects they’ve 
seen Siam weed, to report it immediately 
to the department’s Weed Management 
Branch by calling 8999 4567.

The campaign includes videos that have 
been translated into local Aboriginal 
languages, to watch the Tiwi version use 
the QR code below:

The three things to spot are:
Foliage image credit: 

Queensland Department of 
Agriculture and Fisheries

It’s a  
Pitch-forking 
weed!”
Siam Weed is dangerous.  
It smothers plants and  
poisons animals.

“

Pitchfork pattern on the leaves Pinkish white flowers Opposite leaves

If you suspect it, call 

8999 4567
For more information

nt.gov.au/siamweed
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Key achievements in 2020-21

• Processed 108 licence applications and 200 bore 
work permits. 

• Published technical report 55/2020 to better 
define the Top End and Arid Zones referred to in 
the Northern Territory Water Allocation Planning 
Framework. 

• Designed flood mapping products to improve 
understanding of reduced flood risks for Rapid 
Creek catchment.

• Produced reference flood spatial overlays to 
improve riverine flood response and emergency 
operations for Alice Springs, Adelaide River, 
Borroloola, Katherine and Kalkarindji townships.

• Undertook the statutory 5-year review of the 
Alice Springs Water Allocation Plan to 2026 on 1 
April 2021. 

WATER RESOURCES 
Scientific monitoring, assessment, allocation, licensing and regulation for sustainable use of the Territory’s water 
resources, and the delivery of flood forecasting services for infrastructure protection and community safety. It is 
also responsible for the activities of the Office of Water Security.

This output is responsible for:

• monitoring and assessing the Territory’s water resources
• water planning and policy functions to meet the requirements of the environment while also supporting 

development
• water licensing and regulatory activities in compliance with the Water Act 1992 and Regulations
• groundwater drilling services
• the activities of the Office of Water Security and developing the Northern Territory’s Strategic Water Plan.

Services are provided from Darwin, Katherine and Alice Springs.

KEY DELIVERABLES
2017-18 
ACTUAL

2018-19 
ACTUAL

2019-20 
ACTUAL

2020-21 
BUDGET

2020-21 
ACTUAL

Water allocation plans in effect1 4 4 6 8 6

Onsite water licence compliance inspections completed2 - - - 170 129

High priority implementation actions in water allocation plans met 
within required timeframes3

- - - 85% 71%

Water extraction licences assessed within 80 business days4 - - - 80% 39%

Bore work permits issued within 10 business days of approved 
applications

- - - 95% 95%

Flood warning stations providing agreed alert services - - - 100% 99%

Average number of days for a licence decision from date of 
acceptance4

- - - 100 312

 Variance analysis actual vs original budget

1. Two draft water allocation plans are in progress with one expected to be completed in 2021-22.
2. Reflects focus on inspections of  non-compliant licensees, a reduction in staffing levels, COVID-19 impacts 

and the smaller number of new water meter installations requiring inspection.
3. Result of higher than usual activity in developing and reviewing water allocation plans.
4. Processing backlog of applications from previous years and finalising a number of significant and complex 

licence decisions.
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WATER RESOURCES
SNAPSHOT

Captured groundwater level data from 

451 
bores and surface water level data from 

161 
gauging stations

Completed hydrogeological  
cross-sections for the 

Great 
Artesian 

Basin
Created a new water data portal at

water.nt.gov.au
 

completed a comprehensive biophysical 
resource assessment of the 

Nangu 
homelands 

located 15 km south of Wadeye

108
licence applications processed

200
 land bore work permits processed

5,236
flood alerts provided from 

90 
flood monitoring stations

95%
bore work permits issued within 10 

business days of an approved application
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Key future priorities

• Water assessment and modelling to support the 
development of the 3 Beetaloo Sub-basin water 
allocation plans in the Southern Daly, Georgina 
Basin and Wiso Basin to meet recommendations 
7.7 and 7.8 of the Scientific Inquiry into Hydraulic 
Fracturing in the Northern Territory.

• Progress water allocation planning to declare new 
plans for the Mataranka Tindall Limestone Aquifer 
and Western Davenport in 2022 and 5-year 
review of the Berry Springs Water Allocation Plan 
2016 to 2026. 

• Finalise regulations to guide the manner and form 
of consent for eligible Aboriginal people to give 
consent to the Controller of Water Resources 
to make water licensing decisions regarding the 
Aboriginal water reserve.

• Progress legislative reform of the Water Act 
1992 to increase efficiencies, clarify legislative 
requirements, improve investor certainty and 
establish risk based, proportionate regulation, 
consistent with the Territory Economic 
Reconstruction Committee Final Report.

• Progress a surface water flood harvesting policy 
for the assessment of surface water extraction 
licence applications.

• Finalise assessments for Larrimah and Deep Well 
Mapping the Future projects, and conduct field 
studies for projects in Katherine and Western 
Davenports.
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During the year, a multidisciplinary team from 
across the department completed a comprehensive 
biophysical resource assessment of the Nangu 
homelands located approximately 15 km south of 
Wadeye. The extensive field surveys identified the 
land suitability, water availability and biodiversity 
values of the 5,960 ha study area.

This has produced a range of maps to highlight 
the potential of the areas for development and for 
protection in the Nangu area. Traditional Aboriginal 
owners can use the maps to scope development 
opportunities based on the land capability and crop's 
suitability while being confident they are protecting 
significant or high biodiversity values. 

The majority of the Nangu area, 4,638 ha or 78%, has 
good potential for agricultural development with gentle 
plains and slopes of deep, well-drained, sandy surfaced 
red earths. This area could be developed using  
rain-dependent crops or 2,240 ha overlies groundwater 
aquifers that could be used to support irrigated 
agriculture. The studies of the local aquifer determined 
a sustainable groundwater yield of approximately 2,000 
ML per annum with appropriate quality, which could 
support approximately 400 ha of irrigated agriculture.

The remaining areas contain significant or high 
biodiversity values that should be protected 
from development or soils that are unsuitable for 
agriculture. 

The flora surveys of these areas identified 296 plant 
species and several sensitive and significant vegetation 
communities including rainforests, riparian vegetation, 
estuarine wetlands and mangroves. The fauna surveys 
recorded 76 native species, predominantly birds and 
reptiles, with no threatened species detected during 
the surveys.

This project directly aligns with the Territory Economic 
Reconstruction Commission recommendations as it 
invests in land capability assessment and targeted 
water resource investigation to facilitate sustainable 
development of Aboriginal land and collaborate 
to build opportunities for Aboriginal-led economic 
development. For more information use the QR code 
below:

Photo credit: Stephen Trudgeon

DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL OF THE WADEYE AREA 
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The Office of Water Security was established in late 
2020 with the function of working across government 
to develop the Northern Territory's first strategic water 
plan. 

The plan will provide for a comprehensive, long-term 
approach to water management, supply, policy and 
governance with a focus on securing safe drinking 
water into the future, and ensuring water policy settings 
support sustainable development. 

Reporting to the Minister for Water Security, the 
Office of Water Security has consulted extensively 
with industry, community and environment groups, 
land councils and local government, Commonwealth 
departments and agencies, and specialist water policy 
bodies about the scope of the plan and proposed 
engagement. 

This has been combined in a directions paper to outline 
proposals to improve water security for the Territory. 
The paper, and the feedback and ideas it generates 
through consultation, will inform the development of 
the Northern Territory Strategic Water Plan. 

This will be the Territory’s first long term strategic plan 
for water and will set the agenda to 2050. The plan is 
expected to be released early in 2022. 

The Office of Water Security is also preparing an audit 
of water supply and demand in the Territory across 
all sectors and working with other Northern Territory 
Government agencies  to deliver the Darwin region 
future water supply infrastructure project.

To find out more about water security or the Northern 
Territory Strategic Water Plan use the QR code below:

OFFICE OF WATER SECURITY 
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BUSHFIRES NT
Provides fire management support to rural stakeholders and volunteer bushfire brigades across the Territory, 
including fire management planning, training and mitigation, and suppression activities to ensure best fire 
management practices. 

This output is responsible for:

• supporting landholders in the management and mitigation of wildfire
• providing support and training to volunteer bushfire brigades across the Territory
• coordination and management of aerial firefighting capability across the Top End.

Services and support are provided across the Territory with offices located in Acacia Hills (outside Darwin), 
Katherine, and Alice Springs.

KEY DELIVERABLES
2017-18 
ACTUAL

2018-19 
ACTUAL

2019-20 
ACTUAL

2020-21 
BUDGET

2020-21 
ACTUAL

Authorised bushfire volunteers and volunteer fire wardens1 408 457 526 400 350

Firefighting personnel who achieve the 2020 Northern Territory fire 
ground training standard2

- - - 10% 5%

Properties in high-risk fire protection zones inspected - - - 60% 88%

Blocks in high-risk fire protection zones found to comply with the 
Bushfires Management Act 2016

- - - 75% 86%

Bushfires NT planned mitigation burns completed - - - 75% 82%

Landholders engaged in fire management (includes private, public, 
pastoral and aboriginal)3

- - - 2000 2500

Variance analysis actual vs original budget

1. Reflects the lower number of renewals of authorised bushfire volunteers.
2. 2020-21 variation is due to COVID-19 related restrictions.
3. Estimate of stakeholder engagements with brigades, landowners, stations, pastoralists and generic public 

visiting the office.

Key achievements in 2020-21

• Delivered new prototype for grass firefighting 
vehicles to meet safety and functional 
requirements for staff and bushfires volunteers.

• Finalised the Identifying and Reducing Bushfire 
Risk project in Remote Communities.

• Conducted an effective 2020 Compliance and 
Enforcement Program which resulted in over 
99% of the 6,505 properties initially inspected 
being compliant. Delivered and completed an NT 
Risk Reduction Program project for Gamba Fire 
Mitigation Management.

• Developed new training pathways with 2 units 
accredited through Charles Darwin University.

• Completed resurfacing works to Hughes airstrip 
and installed 350,000 litre water tanks at 
Batchelor and Hughes airstrips in partnership with 
the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and 
Logistics.

Key future priorities

• Continue to develop and implement effective 
fire management plans in collaboration with 
landholders.

• Continue to implement additional accredited 
training units for staff and authorised bushfire 
volunteers.

• Deliver improvements to the Bushfires Emergency 
Management System (BEMS) to strengthen and 
improve current capabilities.

• Continue the introduction of the new purpose 
built grass fire units to volunteers to ensure 
volunteer brigades are provided with the best 
possible quality vehicles and equipment.

• Implement the new Australian Fire Danger Rating 
System in response to the Royal Commission for 
National Natural Disaster Arrangements.

• Expand on Incident Management training in 
line with Australasian Inter-Service Incident 
Management System (AIIMS).
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BUSHFIRES NT
SNAPSHOT

99%  
of 6,505 properties inspected 

were compliant

Volunteers provided 

4,393
hours of unpaid wildfire 
suppression activities

 350
Bushfire volunteers and  

fire wardens

Bushfires NT managed 

336 
bushfire events in the 

2020 Top End fire season

1,619 
permits to burn were issued 36 new bushfire 

volunteers and fire 
wardens provided 
accredited training 

through Charles Darwin University 

 6
New grass fire 

vehicles purchased 80 people attended 
Fire Ready Open Day Event
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Bushfires NT in consultation with staff and bushfire 
volunteers designed 6 Grass Fire Units (GFU), to help 
reduce fatigue and increase safety while on the fire 
ground.

The new vehicles are part of the initiative to 
modernise the Bushfires NT GFU fleet with the 
introduction of purpose-built firefighting vehicles that 
incorporate modern safety and functional features.

Some of these new features include:

• automatic hose reels
• electronic spare wheel carriage
• high-performance pump
• pump controls inside the passenger cabin
• in-cab fire curtains
• over cab sprays for crew protection.

The dissemination of the new GFUs to the volunteer 
bushfire brigades has occurred. The feedback received 
from first-hand users on the ground will help guide 
further improvements and design changes to GFUs 
that will be produced in the future for Bushfires NT 
bushfire volunteers and staff. 

Bushfires NT will continue to introduce new GFU's in 
the fleet each year.

These vehicles are not only a great addition to the 
fleet, but they also have the most up-to-date safety 
features to keep our volunteers safe while they are out 
defending property and saving lives.

Use the QR code to watch the promotional video:

BUSHFIRES NT RECEIVES 6 NEW PROTOTYPE VEHICLES 
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On 6 July 2020, the Minister for Environment officially 
opened the new Bushfires NT Headquarters in 
Acacia Hills. The new facility has already assisted the 
department to manage response to Top End bushfire 
incidents.

The $6.8 million Headquarters brings together  
20 Bushfires NT staff members from Winnellie and 
Batchelor, 350 volunteers, and the departments 
weeds compliance officers to help the rural 
community to prepare, mitigate and manage bushfire 
risks and emergencies.

Completed in time for the 2020 Top End bushfire 
season, this significant investment was jointly funded 
under the ‘National Partnership Agreement in Risk 
Reduction’ by the Northern Territory Government 
and the Australian Government to reduce the risks of 
bushfire hazards.

The Northern Territory’s new Bushfires NT 
Headquarters is an important addition to the 
community and to the National Partnership Agreement 
in Risk Reduction.

The new facility includes:

• An Incident Control Room
• A radio operations room
• Modern office accommodation
• Facilities to provide volunteer training
• Large workshop
• Appliance bay
• Vehicle wash-down bay
• Quick fill capability for firefighting vehicles
• Operational and support areas
• Infrastructure and service connections for future 

expansion
• Solar panels and sectioned air-conditioning to 

reduce operational costs and greenhouse gas 
emissions.

NEW BUSHFIRES NT HEADQUARTERS OFFICIALLY OPENED 
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The Fire Danger Declaration and Fire Danger Period 
was declared from 26 June 2020 to 31 December 
2020. During the declaration there were 26 fire ban 
periods, with multiple consecutive declarations in July 
and August.

More than 330 bushfire events were managed by 
Bushfires NT during the 2020 Top End fire season 
which included several significant incidents requiring 
intensive management and coordination of  
multi-agency and volunteer responses. 

Under the National Aerial Firefighting Centre contract, 
Bushfires NT used 5 fixed-wing aircraft and up to 
10 locally operated rotary-wing aircraft to assist in 
firefighting efforts.

During the Top End fire season Bushfires NT 
completed 517 drops (1,536,000 litres) from 172 
flight hours utilising the fixed-wing fleet, with 120 
drops (360,000 litres) completed in one day on  
27 August 2020. 

The rotary-wing suppression activities including 
air attack supervisor, air observer, bucketing, aerial 
incendiary bombing, survey and investigation 
platforms totaling 225 flight hours.

Due to exceptionally high fire danger weather, a 
catastrophic fire danger was declared on 27 August 
2020 and an Incident Management Team was stood 
up at Bushfires NT headquarters.  

Bushfires NT worked in collaboration with the 
Emergency Operation Centre, established at the 
Peter McAulay Centre, which included a inter agency 
response to support the fire suppression activities 
during this period.

Due to the extraordinarily high fire danger weather 
occurrence, the Australian Government designated 
the Top End firefighting actions, as well as associated 
costs, as a disaster event under the Disaster Recovery 
Funding Arrangements.

CATASTROPHIC FIRE WEEK
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ENVIRONMENT
Provides assessment, monitoring and compliance to ensure the environment is protected through identifying, 
managing and mitigating potential impacts and risks from human activities. It is also responsible for the activities 
of the Office of Climate Change.

This output is responsible for:

• providing services that support the Northern Territory Environment Protection Authority (NT EPA)
• advising the Minister and government on NT EPA assessment reports
• administering the Northern Territory's environmental laws to reduce the impact of waste and pollution on 

the environment
• developing and implementing strategic policy to ensure environmentally sustainable practices and behaviour 
• coordinating the Northern Territory Government's response to climate change
• environmental regulation of onshore petroleum activities in the Northern Territory.

KEY DELIVERABLES
2017-18 
ACTUAL

2018-19 
ACTUAL

2019-20 
ACTUAL

2020-21 
BUDGET

2020-21 
ACTUAL

Decisions under the Environment Protection Act 2019 made within 
statutory timeframes

- - - 80% 100%

Compliance audits of licensed sites - - - 20% 27%

Decisions under Petroleum (Environment) Regulations 2016 made 
within statutory timeframes

- - - 90% 90%

Northern Territory Environment Protection Authority satisfaction 
with support provided (Measure is out of 6)

4 5 5 5 5

Waste and pollution approvals and licences 217 233 236 233 266

Container Deposit Scheme approvals1 1,138 1,271 1,128 1,224 905

Responses to pollution incidents2 907 909 992 1,050 1,001

Compliance audits of onshore petroleum activities with approved 
environment management plans

- - - 100% 100%

Variance analysis actual vs original budget

1. Reflects the decline in requests noting 96% of approvals were issued within 21 business days.
2. The 5% reduction reflects a decrease in referrals from other regulators. 

Key achievements in 2020-21

• Finalised and published a framework and principles 
for introducing environmental offsets in the 
Northern Territory.

• Supported the NT EPA to provide strategic advice 
to the Minister for Environment to inform the 
decision to prohibit subsea mining in Northern 
Territory coastal waters.

• Supported the NT EPA to assess the environmental 
impacts of development proposals under the 
Environment Protection Act 2019, including the 
development of new guidance material for 
development proponents and the community.

• Provided robust regulation of the onshore 
petroleum industry under the Petroleum 
(Environment) Regulations 2016 by assessing 
and providing advice to the Minister for 
Environment on 8 Environment Management 

Plans and undertaking 10 risk-focused compliance 
inspections.

• Improved regulatory efficiency and transparency 
through implementation of information 
technology solutions, including the online portal 
POINT (Petroleum Onshore Information Northern 
Territory) to provide a single source of information 
for onshore petroleum activities, and the online 
waste tracking system, which will streamline 
industry reporting on the transport of controlled 
and listed waste.       
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ENVIRONMENT
SNAPSHOT

165 
enforcement actions taken to 

protect the environment

more than

600
compliance inspections

Established the  

NT Climate 
Change 

website

Published the 
NT Climate Change  

Response: Towards 2050
and supporting 

Three Year 
Action Plan

Launched the online portal 

POINT 
(Petroleum Onshore 

Information Northern Territory) 

100% 
of decisions under the 

Environment Protection Act 2019 
made within statutory timeframes

1001 
responses to pollution incidents

266
waste pollution approvals and 

licences administered

905
Container Deposit Scheme 

approvals
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Key future priorities

• Reforming the Environment Protection Act 2019 
to improve the management of environmental 
impacts of mining activities to support improved   
environmental outcomes and investor certainty.

•  Progressing reforms to environmental management 
legislation to streamline processes, improve 
investor certainty while maintaining environmental 
outcomes, consistent with the recommendations 
of the Territory Economic Reconstruction 
Commission.

•  Scoping requirements for a Regulatory 
Management System to improve processing of 
environmental assessments and approvals and 
compliance and enforcement activities, which will 
improve our regulatory service.

•  Developing a Compliance and Enforcement 
Framework to provide clarity to Territorians and the 
regulated community about how the environmental 
regulator will ensure a consistent, transparent and 
proportionate approach to regulation.

•  Redeveloping the Northern Territory’s Oil Spill 
Contingency Plan, which will improve the Territory’s 
preparedness and response to a marine oil spill in 
Territory waters.

•  Developing a strategy to transition the Northern 
Territory toward a circular economy and reduce 
waste in consultation with relevant agencies 
and key stakeholders, including industry and 
environment groups.
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MV ANTUNG LEGAL BATTLE CONCLUDES 

The long-running legal battle to prosecute those 
responsible for a large oil slick in Darwin Harbour 
concluded in November 2020 with charges against 
the ship’s master, owner and management company 
dismissed in the Darwin Local Court. Although a prima 
facie case was established, officers could not effect 
service of the summonses due to legal constraints 
associated with overseas defendants.

Staff within the department had worked tirelessly to 
gather evidence and launch a prosecution. When the 
‘MV Antung’ (IMO 9371957) discharged waste oil into 
Darwin Harbour in the early hours of 19 August 2016, 
department staff were quick to get in a helicopter to 
photograph the extent of the oil slick and obtain water 
samples.

The evidence all pointed to the MV Antung as being 
the vessel responsible. A key positive outcome of the 
prosecution was the introduction and passage of the 
Marine Pollution Legislation Amendment Bill 2019.

The Act as amended ensures the Northern 
Territory has an environmental regulatory system to 
appropriately protect marine environments from ship-
sourced pollution being discharged into coastal waters 
in the Northern Territory. 

The new Act limits the ability of suspected polluters 
from avoiding prosecution.

These changes complement national and international 
marine pollution laws, and relevant provisions of 
the International Convention for the Prevention of 
Pollution from Ships (MARPOL).
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The Office of Climate Change was established in 2020 
with the function of working across government to 
develop Territory-wide climate change policy and 
strategies aimed at reducing the causes and impacts of 
climate change.

The Office of Climate Change developed and 
released both the Northern Territory Climate 
Change Response: Towards 2050 (the Response) and 
accompanying Three Year Action Plan in July 2020. 
The Response provides a framework for long-term 
action by the Territory Government, in partnership 
with all Territorians to address the causes and impacts 
of climate change. 

The Response establishes the Northern Territory’s 
target of net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 
2050 and includes objectives aimed at building the 
Northern Territory’s resilience to the impacts of 
climate change. The Three Year Action Plan supports 
the implementation of the Response, focusing on what 
needs to be delivered by Government over 3 years 
to establish the foundations required to deliver an 
enduring and effective climate change response.

The Office of Climate Change has commenced 
a number of significant pieces of work aimed at 
developing an emissions reduction strategy for the 
Territory. 

Consultants have been engaged by the Office to:

• calculate the Northern Territory’s greenhouse 
gas emissions and describe its current emission 
profile, before mapping future emissions profiles 
based on potential economic growth scenarios. 
This project will inform the government on the 
pathways to achieving net zero emissions by 2050 

• audit the greenhouse gas emissions produced by 
Northern Territory Government and advise on 
how the Government can become carbon neutral 
by 2030.

The Office of Climate Change has also commenced 
work on drafting policy and strategy documents 
identified in the Three Year Action Plan. The draft 
‘Greenhouse Gas Emissions Management for New 
and Expanding Large Emitters’ policy was released 
for public comment in December 2020 and other 
draft strategies have been prepared to be released for 
public comment later in 2021 – this includes a draft 
greenhouse gas offsets policy and a draft adaptation 
strategy for the Territory. 

Responding to climate change is a whole of Territory 
responsibility and the Office of Climate Change has 
published a website – climatechange.nt.gov.au – 
which acts as an information portal for Territorians to 
improve their understanding of climate change and 
how to respond.

OFFICE OF CLIMATE CHANGE 
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RESPONDING TO 
CLIMATE CHANGE

The department reports on the work and decisions undertaken or implemented that contribute to the delivery of the  
4 objectives of the Northern Territory Climate Change Response. The department's achievements for 2020-21 are below.

1. Net zero 
emissions

• Office of Climate Change commenced consultancy to 
establish baseline for NTG emissions.

• Office of Climate Change commenced consultancy 
to consider NT’s greenhouse gas emissions trajectory 
under different development scenarios and identify 
emissions reduction opportunities.

• Office of Climate Change consulted on draft large 
greenhouse gas emitter’s policy.

• Rangelands Division commenced consultancy 
to develop a set of map layers for net emissions 
estimates. These maps layers will be publicly available 
and will provide potential applicants with a broad 
indication of the emissions implications of their land 
clearing plans prior to formal assessment process.

• Prioritisation on the works program for the construction 
of two new solar hybrid systems to replace existing diesel 
generators at Mary River and Bullita ranger stations.

• Replacement of batteries in existing solar hybrid 
system to new carbon technology.

• The department's 2 new pool cars are both hybrids.

2. A resilient 
Territory

• Five department staff completed Certificate IV training 
in climate risk management.

• Established a Climate Extension Officer in the 
Rangelands division to work with pastoralists to 
manage the risks of climate change.

• Five department staff undertook training in the use 
of Full Carbon Accounting Model (FullCAM), enabling 
the calculation of greenhouse gas emissions from land 
clearing applications.

• NT Parks and Reserves are prioritised relative to 
their value to the NT’s conservation estate, including 
estimates of climatic range, enabling the prioritisation 
of NT-wide planning and management.

• Integrated Conservation Strategies (ICS) have been 
prepared for the highest biodiversity parks which integrate 
climate change risk assessments (including) and prioritises 
management responses for planning and operations.

• ICSs’ also define indicators, monitoring and landscape 
condition targets and provide a basis to measure and 
evaluate change (including climate change) in our 
priority Park landscapes.   

• In partnership with Darwin Centre for Bushfire 
Research, automating fire history monitoring for 
Northern Territory Parks and Reserves using NAFI to 
enable adaptive management.  

• The department incorporated climate change impacts 
into its water allocation plans including a regular  
(< 5 years) review of each plan allowing adaptation 
for climate change. An annual announced allocation 
is also applied that consists of an annual review of 
climate and next season’s predicted water availability, 
providing the ability for licenced entitlements to be 
reduced to maintain environmental and cultural flows.

3. Unlocking 
opportunities

• Funded Indigenous Carbon Industry Network to 
support the Aboriginal Northern Territory carbon 
market.

• Establishment of two Carbon Farming projects on 
Nitmiluk and Judbarra National Parks with Aboriginal 
organisations.

4. Inform and 
involve

• Established the Climate Change NT website.
• Released the NT State of the Climate Report 

(developed in conjunction with the National 
Environmental Science Program).

• Provided advice and extension services to assist land 
managers to identify and manage climate change risks 
from key threatening processes.

• Bushfires NT met regularly with landowners to discuss 
fire management planning at the property level. 
Annual fuel reduction burning is a key component of 
bushfire mitigation and by supporting and encouraging 
landowners to conduct planned, early season, low 
emission burning; the extent of late season, high 
emission burning is reduced with a consequent 
reduction in emissions. 
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PARKS AND WILDLIFE
The Parks and Wildlife Commission is responsible for the management, protection and sustainable development 
of the Territory’s parks and reserves, including the George Brown Darwin Botanic Gardens.

Parks and Wildlife's role is to:

• protect and provide access to the Northern Territory's park assets so they are available now and for future 
generations

• grow partnerships, ownership and stewardship of the Northern Territory’s park assets
• raise awareness of and engagement with the Northern Territory’s park assets
• develop existing locations and identify new locations to provide for new or improved service provision, 

experiences and activities.

The Commission manages the Territory's land and marine protected areas encompassing approximately 49,326 
square kilometres across the Northern Territory’s 85 parks and reserves which includes fire preparedness and 
pest animal, weed control, conservation, nature-based recreation and tourism. 

The Commission is also responsible for providing effective community and public protection through community 
engagement activities and the management of dangerous and problematic wildlife, particularly saltwater 
crocodiles. The Commission also manages the regulation of wildlife to ensure that our animals and plants are 
protected for future generations. 

KEY DELIVERABLES
2017-18 
ACTUAL

2018-19 
ACTUAL

2019-20 
ACTUAL

2020-21 
BUDGET

2020-21 
ACTUAL

Visits to major parks and reserves (million)1 3.59M 3.31M 3.59M 3.59M 3.33M

Tourism businesses and experiences operating in parks 200 193 200 200 207

Parks and reserves covered by statutory management plans 24 22 24 24 34

Problem saltwater crocodiles removed from the wild 350 326 300 300 254

Variance analysis actual vs original budget

1. Reflects the impact of COVID-19 related travel restrictions on visitor numbers.

Key achievements in 2020-21

• In response to public requests to operate mobile 
food vans on parks, developed a Mobile Food/
Coffee Vans on Parks and Reserves Policy and 
Guidelines. The policy provides a framework for 
the approval of small business, low impact mobile/
coffee vans operating on Northern Territory 
Parks and Reserves offering food and beverages 
(excluding alcohol). 

• On 16 February 2021, the Ruby Gap Nature Park 
Joint Management Plan became operational. The 
plan is the result of several years of collaboration 
between Traditional Owners, Central Land 
Council and Parks and Wildlife. The plan seeks to 
protect the reserve’s biodiversity while supporting 
Aboriginal economic development and nature-
based tourism. 

• Parks and Wildlife rangers removed a total of 
4,568 feral animals across our parks and reserves.

• The NT Parks and Wildlife Fire Management 
Framework was developed in April 2021 providing 
a structured basis for addressing legislative and 
operational fire management requirements. The 
framework defines the use and management 
of fire on land under the Territory Parks and 
Wildlife Conservation Act 1976, with management 
objectives addressing the protection of life and 
property, heritage sites including Aboriginal 
cultural assets and ecological values across 
Northern Territory parks and reserves.

• Developed a 5 year Northern Territory Salt Water 
Crocodile Risk Management Framework. The 
framework outlines how crocodile risk is assessed 
and managed throughout the Northern Territory.

• Continued to deliver the 'Be Crocwise' program 
to educate people about crocodiles and reduce 
the risk of attack. The Be Crocwise campaign 
delivered 78 school and community presentations 
across the Top End and Katherine regions.
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PARKS AND WILDLIFE 
SNAPSHOT

covering 49,326 square kilometres
85 parks and reserves 
3.33 million

visitors
Volunteer programs 

provided 

13,445
hours of unpaid work 
assisting with weed control, pruning, 

fire breaks, rubbish removal and general 
maintenance

 78
Be Crocwise presentations to more than  

3,200 participants

 254
Crocodiles removed from 

Top End waterways

36 Junior Ranger 
programs 

delivered to 660 
young Territorians

19 community 
engagement events 
attracting more than 

2,800 participants 

34 
Parks and Reserves covered by  
Statutory Management Plans

94%
visitor satisfaction 

207 
Tourism experiences operating  
in Territory parks and reserves

 170 
Community events 
attracting more 
than 8,100 people

managing a total area of 878,858 ha
322 prescribed burns

347 km of fence line repaired

4,568 feral animals removed

2,172 L of herbicide used to treat  
19,830 ha of weeds
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Key future Priorities

•  New fees for walking trails and camping will be 
introduced in the 2021-22 financial year with park 
passes to be introduced in 2022-23. The increase 
in revenue will be shared with Traditional Owners 
and reinvested back into the parks estate.

• The implementation of an online booking system 
will ensure that the Northern Territory maintains 
currency and remains contemporary improving the 
visitor experience by

 – reducing revenue leakage 
 – maximising visitor safety through by improved 

monitoring and management
 –  providing park users with a simple, convenient 

and modern way to pay for their experience.
• Traditional Owners, Land Councils and Parks 

and Wildlife Officers are currently finalising 
the Arltunga Joint Historical Reserve Joint 
Management Plan. Work is also underway to 
complete joint management plans for Mac Clark 
Conservation Reserve, Dulcie Range National 
Park, Kuyunba Conservation Reserve and Tnorala 
Conservation Reserve.

• Develop a 30-Year Master Plan to activate the 
parks estate, and set the strategic direction for 
the next few decades of park management. A 
Development and Investment Framework, and 
Destination Management Plans are also being 
developed. The Master Plan will provide the 
longer-term road map and establish a foundation 
for the future of joint park management and 
beyond, it will also deliver a development and 
infrastructure plan. Importantly the Master Plan 
will aim to maximise the liveability, health and 
wellbeing impact and outcomes for all Territorians.

• In 2021-22 the Parks and Wildlife Commission 
will continue work to secure private investment to 
revitalise the Window on the Wetlands site.

COVID-19 impacts on Parks and Wildlife

In May 2020, Parks and Wildlife provided a COVID-19 
Statement of Commitment and Safety Plan checklist 
for all of the 85 Parks and Reserves and office 
accommodations it had oversight of throughout the 
Northern Territory.

A Pandemic Management Plan was developed and 
approved for the Parks and Wildlife Commission of 
the Northern Territory and the Parks and Wildlife 
Volunteer Programs. In line with Chief Health Officer 
directions, all COVID-19 safety plans were reviewed in 
December 2020.  

A departmental COVID-19 Management Plan for 
official travel and site visits has been developed and 
implemented covering both staff and volunteers.

COVID-19 had an impact on the projected revenue 
figures for the Parks and Wildlife Commission. 

Parks and Wildlife welcomed 3.33 million visitors 
to Territory parks and reserves in 2020-21, despite 
the impacts and travel restrictions arising from the 
COVID-19 response, this compares to 3.59 million for 
2019-20 and 3.31 million in 2018-19. 
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Improving visitor safety and experiences

In 2020-21 the following infrastructure developments 
took place to improve visitor experiences across the 
Northern Territory: 

George Brown Darwin Botanic Gardens

Construction of a new multi-purpose visitor and 
events centre at George Brown Darwin Botanic 
Gardens was completed in October 2019. In 2020-21 
the commercial operation and management for the 
events centre, retail shop and outdoor spaces was 
awarded to private industry. 

A new crocodile sculpture was installed near the 
Madagascar Garden courtesy of the Friends of the 
Darwin Botanic Gardens and is a popular attraction for 
young and old alike.

The gardens average visitor satisfaction rating for 
2020-21 was 92% taken from 298 reviews on 
TripAdvisor and other feedback mechanisms such as 
Google and Facebook reviews. This is up from the 
previous years average of 90%.

Casuarina Coastal Reserve

Signs, sculptures and shelters have been constructed 
as part of the Creek to Creek Trail from Rapid Creek 
to Buffalo Creek, with installation scheduled for 
completion in coming months. Replacement of the 
elevated walking bridge has been completed. 

Nitmiluk National Park

In the past 4 years, the Government has committed 
$15.4 million investment package for new and 
refreshed infrastructure for Nitmiluk National Park. 
This includes the $5.4 million Turbocharging Tourism 
investment which has seen the development of 20 km 
of shared walking and mountain bike trails, a fabulous 
new Barruwei Lookout, new interpretive signage and 
replacement of the aged jetty. On 26 February 2021, 
the Minister for Parks and Rangers, the Honourable 
Selena Uibo officially opened walking and mountain 
bike trails and the Barruwei Lookout.  The new 
interpretive gallery in the Nitmiluk Centre is expected 
to be completed and opened by late 2021.

Judbarra/Gregory National Park

Two new campgrounds in Judbarra/Gregory National 
Park (Lupayi and Matt Wilson) were completed.  The 
Lupayi campground in Jasper Gorge was opened to 
visitors with further development scheduled for the 
new Matt Wilson campground.

Karlu Karlu

The redevelopment of the Karlu Karlu (Devils Marbles) 
campground to provide an improved visitor experience 
has been completed. This redevelopment has ensured 
better utilisation of available space for this hugely 
popular camp ground, where capacity is frequently 
exceeded in peak visitor periods. The addition of a 
campground host site will enable the site to be better 
managed through the onsite presence of volunteer 
campground hosts.   

Further improvement to our parks and reserves

Further works in Litchfield National Park will 
continue over the next 12 months to enhance visitor 
experience these including completion of the Central 
Valley development and upgrades to the Surprise 
Creek campground and construction of a new office 
and Visiting Officers Quarters at Walker Creek 
Ranger Station.

Interpretation signage for the new shared use trail at 
Yeperenye/Emily and Jessie Gaps Nature Park will be 
developed by Traditional Owners.

Structural assessments of critical infrastructure will 
continue across all Northern Territory parks and 
reserves to ensure that visitor safety standards are 
upheld.

Other projects include construction of remote 
campsite toilets along the Larapinta Trail, new toilets at 
Shady camp in Mary River National Park  and upgrades 
to the UHF radio network in the East McDonnell 
National Parks.

Continue to progress the Watarrka Multi-Day Walk 
and the Red Centre Ride as part of the Turbocharging 
Tourism investment and commence upgrades at Elsey 
National Park.
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Parks and Wildlife Community Engagement

ENGAGEMENT PROGRAM REGION EVENTS PARTICIPANTS 

Be Crocwise in the community Darwin 9 661

Katherine 3 426

Arnhem Land 3 53

Total Be Crocwise in the community 15 1,140

Be Crocwise in schools Darwin 30 1,063

Katherine 9 205

Daly River 3 39

Arnhem Land 21 756

Total Be Crocwise in schools 63 2,063

General community engagement events Darwin 5 376

Katherine 3 326

Barkly 1 20

Central Australia 8 945

NT wide 2 1,212

Total general community engagement events 19 2,879

General school presentations Darwin 23 582

Katherine 9 486

Central Australia 12 376

Total general school presentations 44 1,444

Junior Ranger program Darwin 15 205

Central Australia 21 455

Total Junior Ranger program 36 660

The Parks and Wildlife Volunteer Program

VOLUNTEER PROGRAM PARTICIPANTS SITES HOURS

General volunteers  127

 18 parks and 
reserves &  

3 Parks and 
Wildlife branches

5,522

Volunteer campground hosts 26 8 2,019

Volunteer park hosts 2 2 60

Volunteer caretakers 10 2 1,760

Volunteers groups  10  4,084

Total volunteer hours  13,445

Total value of volunteer program1  $606,392

1. The value of volunteers is based on the Australian Bureau of Statistics dollar replacement volunteer rate of $45.10 per hour. 
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The relict population of palms in Finke River National 
Park are vulnerable to weed encroachment that 
significantly increases fire loads and impacts the 
recruitment of juvenile palms.

In April/May 2021, 4 agencies worked together 
(Territory Natural Resource Management, Arid Edge 
Services, Tjuwanpa Rangers, and Parks and Wildlife) 
to protect the threatened red cabbage palm (Livistona 
mariae) at Palm Valley – Finke Gorge National Park. 

The event was nick-named 'Palm Fest' and was part 
of a Strategic Pest and Fire Management Program to 
tackle the weed and fire fuel loads amongst the palm 
populations. 

Removing grassy weeds will provide juvenile palm 
seedlings with a chance to grow while also reducing the 
dangerous fuel loads that threaten the palm trees. 

Equipment was slung in with helicopter as well as 
walked in by individuals (jerry cans of water, chemical, 
brush cutters, knapsack sprayers, PPE, fuel, tools etc). 
Over a total of 5 days, teams brush cut with whipper 
snippers and sprayed buffel and couch grasses with 
glyphosate. 

With the added generous help from Territory Natural 
Resource Management, additional helicopter hours 
were provided which provided time to sling in 
additional water that allowed for more weed spraying 
than originally anticipated. The 5 days involved more 
than 325 hrs of staff labour and approximately 820 L 
of chemical was sprayed. Monitoring of treated areas 
will ensure that any new weed growth is suppressed.

FINKE RIVER NATIONAL PARK - PALMFEST 
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More than 20 km of shared walking and mountain 
bike trails are now open at Nitmiluk National Park. The 
works are part of a $15.4 million investment into new 
and refreshed infrastructure at the park.

The new trails provide options for riders of all ages 
and abilities, including the Bamjon (River Link) Trail 
which offers spectacular views of the first gorge, an 
opportunity to bike and then swim in the second 
gorge; as well as cruising and kayaking. The Waleka 
Trail takes visitors to Pat’s Lookout and Jedda’s Rock in 
a circuit trail before joining the Yambi Trail.

For those who would like to enjoy the scenery at a 
steady pace, most trails will also suit walkers. The trails 
have been designed by Ground Creations Pty Ltd and 
constructed collaboratively with Jawoyn traditional 
owners who also participated in the building of the 
jetty and Baruwei Lookout.

The project has supported 6 jobs for local people and 
offers future employment opportunities for Nitmiluk’s 
Traditional Owners through ongoing maintenance 
works.

The $5.4 million Turbocharging Tourism investment 
package has also seen the development of:

• a new Baruwei Lookout (see cover image) with 
improved stair access, signage and viewing 
platform

• interpretive signage and the commissioning of 
sculptures adjacent to the Lookout which will 
showcase the ancient stories of the Jawoyn 
people.

These works are in addition to government’s $10 
million investment over the past 4 years into new and 
refreshed infrastructure for Nitmiluk National Park 
including:

• a new jetty to enable ramp access and for Nitmiluk 
Tours to run for longer during the Wet Season

• a new car-park to support the Cultural Touring site
• refurbishment of the 20-year-old Nitmiluk 

Visitor Centre to update the building with new 
facilities including a kitchen, bathroom, decking, 
interpretive displays and landscaping

• upgrades to the first gorge crossover on the Wet 
Season path

• a new Katherine River crossing and upgraded 
17 Mile Valley track to support Nitmiluk Tours’ 
Biddlecombe Cascades glamping experience, 
which will mean earlier access after the Wet 
Season

• refurbishment of the Alice Mitchell Gallery within 
the Nitmiluk Centre.  This work is underway with 
completion expected by the end of the 2021 Wet 
Season. The Gallery will showcase the Park and 
Jawoyn culture.

Nitmiluk National Park is the jewel in the crown of the 
Katherine Region attracting around 270,000 visitors a 
year.

$15.4 MILLION INVESTMENT INTO NITMILUK NATIONAL 
PARK
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We live and play in croc country in the Top End and 
there is an enormous amount of work that goes into 
minimising the risk of an attack. 

In June 2021, the department released a Saltwater 
Crocodile Risk Management Framework which 
outlines the holistic approach taken to crocodile 
management including educating the public on the 
dangers of crocodiles while also physically removing 
crocodiles in key management zones. 

It also provides valuable information to the community 
around the high levels of risk that remain in our 
environment, even with a crocodile management 
program in place. 

The framework is in place to:  

• reduce the likelihood of a crocodile attack
• warn the community of potential presence of 

crocodiles

• educate the community about safe behaviour 
around waterways

• reduce the number of saltwater crocodiles 
entering areas where they could come into 
contact with people.

The deparment's data and safety information have 
been compiled in one place that’s easily accessible for 
the community, with readers able to track crocodile 
catchments over time, learn about the general 
management and removal zones, and recognise the 
importance of stakeholder engagement. 

For more information, and to read the framework, use 
the QR code below: 

SALTWATER CROCODILE RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
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TERRITORY WILDLIFE PARKS
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TERRITORY WILDLIFE PARKS
Territory Wildlife Parks is a Government Business Division consisting of the Territory Wildlife Park at Berry 
Springs in the Top End and the Alice Springs Desert Park in Central Australia. The parks support the Territory’s 
biodiversity through captive breeding of endangered, rare and threatened species and helping people 
understand, respect and enjoy the Territory’s natural environment.

Both parks showcase the Territory’s unique flora and fauna in a natural environment that is educational, 
interactive and interesting for the visiting public as a tourist attraction and as a community asset.

KEY DELIVERABLES
2018-19 
ACTUAL

2019-20 
ACTUAL

2020-21 
BUDGET

2020-21 
ACTUAL

Territory Wildlife Park

Number of visitors 60,000 46,100 60,000 53,834

Biodiversity and threatened species conservation programs 3 2 2 3

Visitor engagement and experiences 3 2 2 4

Visitor satisfaction 90% 92% ≥ 95% 97%

Alice Springs Desert Park

Number of visitors 66,100 42,700 68,000 42,959

Biodiversity and threatened species conservation programs 5 3 4 3

Visitor engagement and experiences 4 5 4 5

Visitor satisfaction 97% 96% ≥ 97% 91%
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Territory Wildlife Park

The Territory Wildlife Park (TWP) gives visitors the 
opportunity to see wildlife in their natural habitats and 
to learn about the Top End’s flora and fauna. The staff 
at the park maintain an animal collection of more than  
400 species, they deliver educational presentations 
to the public and facilitate events and activities for 
education and enjoyment. 

In 2020-21, the TWP received 53,834 visitors, 7,734 
more than the previous year however still lower than 
pre-COVID visitation levels.

Key achievements in 2020-21

• In September 2020, the Territory Wildlife Park 
received correspondence from the Zoo and 
Aquarium Association Board (ZAA), congratulating 
it on achieving accreditation under the ZAA 
2020 Accreditation Program. This achievement 
demonstrates the importance of the Park to: 

 – connect visitors with nature through 
authentic encounters and exciting 
experiences

 – inspire change and long term action by 
developing environmental awareness

 – play a central role to facilitate and advocate 
conservation programs in Northern Australia.

• In August 2020, the Territory Wildlife Park opened 
a new mega-fauna themed nature playground 
which features a life-sized Megalania (giant 
prehistoric lizard). The Park also opened new 
artwork exhibits at the Monsoon Forest and 
Nocturnal House and developed an Art Trail map 
for visitors to tour with around the site. 

• The Park successfully trialled a black-footed tree-
rat breeding program which provided important 
data that can be used for future breeding. 
Offspring from this program have been relocated 
to Perth Zoo and EnviroEDU in South Australia for 
display and interpretation. An animal husbandry 
manual for this species is also being developed 
and will be made available for other zoos and 
wildlife parks to use when housing this species 
into the future. 

• The Park was once again able to host a Halloween 
Disco event and an Easter Market. Both events 
saw over 3,000 local visitors attend and the 
Market provided business opportunities for local 
stall holders.

Alice Springs Desert Park

The Alice Springs Desert Park gives visitors the 
opportunity to see wildlife in their natural habitats and 
to learn about the flora and fauna of Central Australia. 
The staff at the park maintain an animal collection 
of more than 115 species, deliver educational 
presentations to the public, and facilitate events and 
activities.

The staff at the park provide educational and 
entertaining presentations. In 2020-21, the Alice 
Springs Desert Park received 42,959 visitors, 301 
more visitors than the previous year, however still 
considerably lower than pre COVID-19.  

Key achievements in 2020-21

• The Alice Springs Desert Park hosted 'Parrtjima – 
A Festival in Light' in September 2020 and April 
2021.

• In December 2020, the Alice Springs Desert Park 
achieved official accreditation from the Zoo and 
Aquarium Association Board (ZAA) under the 
ZAA 2020 Accreditation Program representing 
the highest possible standard of positive animal 
welfare.

• The park introduced a seasonal echidna encounter 
over school holiday periods providing an 
opportunity to connect visitors with nature and 
educate on conservation projects.

• The park worked with a local artist to display 
a collection of nature inspired chalk drawings 
in aviaries in conjunction with the chalk art 
workshops over the school holidays.

• A hybrid version of the Nocturnal Tour was 
introduced allowing visitors to get up close with 
endangered species in the cool of the night. The 
new format accommodates COVID-19 measures. 

• The renovated old entry building opened as 
the new Red Mulga Event Centre. The centre is 
available for hire. 

• The gift shop commenced operations with a 
focus on nature, science and environmentally 
friendly products allowing visitors to make ethical 
purchases.

• Participation in the National Mala Conservation 
Planning Group and breeding of Mala for the 
National recovery effort with 9 animals sent to 
Newhaven Australian Wildlife Conservancy.

• Continued participation in a number of other 
breeding programs including for bilby, stick-nest rat, 
floodplain skink and red-tailed phascogale. 
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TERRITORY WILDLIFE 
PARKS SNAPSHOT

53,834
visitors

91%
visitor satisfaction 

5 
New visitor experiences

Hosted

Parrtjima - 
A Festival in 

Light

42,959
visitors

Alice Springs Desert ParkTerritory Wildlife Park

97%
visitor satisfaction 

4
New visitor experiences

Introduced seasonal 

echidna 
encounter

Opened a new

mega-fauna 
themed nature playground

successfully trialled a 

black-footed 
tree-rat 

breeding program
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OUR PEOPLE
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OUR PEOPLE SNAPSHOT

70% of our staff are employed in 
the professional (24%) and 
technical (46%) streams

people with disability people have a non-English speaking background

Average age of staff
 44 years

female average — 42 years 
male average — 45 years

67 employees work 
part-time and  
120 other staff  
have a flexible  
work arrangement

1.5% 7.5%NESB

557.24
587

of our staff 
are ongoing 
(permanent) 
employees 

81% 

22% Our 
separation 
rate is 

9% of our staff identify 
as Aboriginal

Our full-time 
equivalent staff 

numbers at  
30 June 2021 were

45% 
female

55% 
male

of our staff have 
more than 10 years of 
service with the NTPS

10+ years
39% 

40+ years
of our staff have 
more than 40 years of 
service with the NTPS

1.7% Our headcount 
of staff

Parks and Wildlife 
is our largest 
division46%
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OVERVIEW
The Department of Environment, Parks and Water 
Security has a diverse workforce. Our people are 
our most important asset and in recognition of this, 
the department aims to attract and recruit the best 
available talent to protect and support the sustainable 
use of the Northern Territory’s natural resources and 
showcase our wildlife, parks and reserves. 

In 2020-21 the former Department of Environment and 
Natural Resources merged with the Northern Territory 
Parks and Wildlife Commission and as of 30 June 2021, 
employed 587 people across the Territory.

Our staff are passionate and dedicated to providing 
valuable outcomes for the public. We understand that 
an engaged and motivated workforce is more likely to 
be productive and invested in their work, resulting in us 
achieving our organisational outcomes.

During 2020-21, the department advertised and filled 
159 positions of which 93 were advertised under 
Special Measures arrangements designed to increase 
Aboriginal employment participation.

The turnover rate during the same period was 22%. 
This is equivalent to 127 employee separations from 
587 established positions.

OUR CULTURE
The department aims to inspire and support a 
workplace culture that is collaborative, respectful and 
accountable. We achieve this by:

• building and enhancing our strategic leadership 
across the department

• maintaining an increasing capability through 
succession planning and development programs 

• delivering a healthy and safe environment 
through reducing risk and supporting continual 
improvement 

• making ongoing improvements to business 
processes and streamlining internal systems.

Developing our workforce capacity and 
capability

We support, retain and develop our people to ensure 
they are capable and committed to achieving the 
department’s strategic objectives. 

The department has a suite of online essential training 
that has been developed to support all staff to better 
understand their obligations as public sector employees 
and the frameworks within which the department 
operates. In 2020-21 there were 1,189 instances of 
online training using the department's MyLearning 
platform.

The department also promotes and encourages 
attendance at training activities, including the suite of 
targeted leadership programs offered by OCPE.

Investment in our people

The department training expenditure for 2021-21:

2020-21

Training, study and other 479,667

Conferences 17,606

Total 497,273

Study assistance

The department encourages employees to gain 
relevant professional and technical skills through higher 
education studies. The department had 5 employees 
apply for study assistance during 2020-21 with a total 
of $2,840 provided support.Early Careers

1%

Executive

2%

Administrative

25%

Professional

24%

Technical

46%

Physical

2%

Employees by stream

Water

14%

Bushfires Corporate

5%

Rangelands

Environment

10%

Parks and Wildlife

46%

Flora and Fauna

12%

5%

8%

Employees by division
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PEOPLE MATTER SURVEY 2021
The People Matter Survey 2021 was conducted in February 2021 and resulted in 
a 71% survey response rate from staff in the department. Compared to the NTPS 
this was a higher than average response rate.

An Action Statement outlining how our agency will respond to the People Matter 
Survey was developed. The Statement complements the actions and responses 
being delivered by each division.

PEOPLE MATTER SURVEY 2021
ACTION STATEMENT

Priority Ideas and Focus Areas Delivery and Acti ons

A clearly arti culated 
Strategic Agenda for      
a new Agency

The results suggest that the strategic directi on 
of the agency is not clear or is not being 
eff ecti vely communicated. This suggests that 
we need to consider strategies for greater 
engagement on, and alignment with, the 
Strategic Agenda and Strategic Plan across and 
down the agency.

• Annual Senior Leader’s Forum convened for all nominated 
managers, Directors and Executi ves

• Executi ve Directors and the CEO include briefi ng with all 
staff  on agency prioriti es as part of regional visits 

• Review Business Plans to ensure alignment with the 
Strategic Plan 

• Include the role of the Strategic Plan in Boost discussions

Broader and 
more consistent 
communicati on

The results indicate that staff  are seeking 
improved communicati on at all levels and in 
ways that are more accessible than newslett ers 
and bulleti ns.

• Release a brief communique following each Governance 
Board meeti ng of decisions and outcomes

• Each Division committi  ng to all staff  meeti ngs or forums to 
share news, achievements and informati on

• Executi ve Directors and Senior Directors presenti ng to 
regional staff  on whole of Government and agency prioriti es 
and issues

• Supporti ng and ensuring team meeti ngs within individual 
Divisions occur 

Performance 
management

Survey respondents raised a percepti on that 
poor performance was not being well managed 
in the agency, leading to a sense of inequity.

Staff  say they understand their roles and have 
positi ve and regular contact with their managers 
but they want more structured or formal 
feedback on how they are going.

• Support the delivery of a mentoring program across DEPWS
• Skills development for managers to support performance 

management and performance management conversati ons  
• Ensuring formal performance management (ie BOOST or 

WPP) is undertaken twice a year
• Mandated parti cipati on in bullying and harassment training 

being organised across the Northern Territory Public Sector
• Request policy identi fi cati on and prioriti sati on through the 

People Matt er Reference Group

Collaborati on and 
Engagement

The results indicate strong interest and 
commitment to working collaborati vely across 
diff erent areas of the agency, and across 
Government. This should be recognised and 
supported. DEPWS is comprised of its people 
who have unique talents, skills and experience 
at all levels that should be celebrated and 
shared.

• ‘Lunch and Learn’ - Monthly Teams Based Forums focusing 
on sharing interesti ng projects/outcomes or professional 
development on topics of interest to our work 

• Practi ce refl ecti on/debriefi ng at the conclusion of a project 
to other work units of areas

• Prioriti sing the presentati on of project and program success 
to other agencies and NTG Forums 

• Facilitate opportuniti es through program design and 
Governance to engage across Divisions

Providing a safe 
environment for 
feedback

Making ourselves more available and recepti ve 
to feedback from all levels. 

• Introducti on of Skip Meeti ngs1

• Scheduled open door ti me (lunch with the ED/CEO) 
1. Skip meeti ngs are a process whereby a manager meets with the level below their direct 

reports to hear and parti cipate more directly about the delivery and operati on of the work 
unit or team.

Reward and 
Recogniti on

Good work should be recognised and 
acknowledged. This is important to balance out 
the focus on performance improvement and 
because it’s the right thing to do.

• Rebadge and reconsider the GEM awards

Closing the loop on 
changes

There is a view expressed in the survey that the 
survey will not result in positi ve changes. People 
Matt er Survey responses and reforms need to 
be identi fi ed as such and be well communicated 
and shared. Badging changes as ‘people matt er 
outcome’ is one way to connect the outcome 
with the acti on that follows.

• Badging success using the People Matt er Acti on stamp
• Establishing a ‘People Matt er Outcomes’ Reference Group 

made up of Managers to advise and inform acti ons and 
provide further feedback on progress

DEPWS.NT.GOV.AU
RANGELANDS  |  ENVIRONMENT

FLORA & FAUNA  |  PARKS & WILDLIFE
WATER RESOURCES  |  BUSHFIRES NT

Department of
ENVIRONMENT, PARKS AND WATER SECURITY

59ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 | DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT, PARKS AND WATER SECURITY



Staff designation breakdown

Designation 2019-20 
Headcount

% of Paid 
Headcount

AO1 2 0.3%

AO2 4 0.7%

AO3 9 1.5%

AO4 21 3.6%

AO5 20 3.4%

AO6 22 3.7%

AO7 26 4.4%

AQF4A 1 0.2%

EO1C 1 0.2%

EO2 1 0.2%

EO2C 10 1.7%

EO3C 1 0.2%

EO5C 1 0.2%

P1 14 2.4%

P1R 4 0.7%

P2 46 7.8%

P3 56 9.5%

PH2 10 1.7%

PH2R 0 0.0%

SAO1 17 2.9%

SAO2 25 4.3%

SBA 1 0.2%

SP1 15 2.6%

SP2 8 1.4%

T1 37 6.3%

T1R 44 7.5%

T2 32 5.5%

T2R 33 5.6%

T3 49 8.3%

T3R 25 4.3%

T4 25 4.3%

T4R 10 1.7%

T5 16 2.7%

T6 1 0.2%

Grand Total 587 100.0%

Data variation is not available as the department was 
established in the September 2020 Machinery of 
Government changes. 

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY
Equal Employment Opportunity 

The department is committed to having a diverse 
workforce and values the contributions of people from 
different cultures and backgrounds. In December 2020, 
the department introduced a Special Measures Plan to 
increase Aboriginal employment participation through 
priority consideration for Aboriginal applicants against 
advertised vacancies. 

As at 30 June 2021, 9% of the department identified as 
Aboriginal. 

The department also creates indirect Aboriginal 
employment opportunities, through partnerships, 
such as Aboriginal custodians delivering local cultural 
inductions on jointly managed parks.

EMPLOYMENT PROGRAMS
The department continued to support early career 
development programs over the 2020-21 period.

Apprenticeships – school-based and full-time 
trainees 

These programs combine employment with structured 
learning to develop workplace skills and provide a 
nationally recognised qualification.

In 2020-21, the department supported 3 school-based 
trainees and 2 full-time trainees. 

Vacation Employment program

The vacation program provides paid short-term 
employment for university students. Employment is 
during semester breaks. In 2020-21, the department 
supported 1 work placement.
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Volunteers

The department provides unpaid work placements to 
suit a variety of arrangements including school work 
experience, university placements, return to work 
placements, general work placements and volunteers.

The Parks and Wildlife division has well-established 
volunteer programs as well as a number of 
conservation-focused volunteer groups operating 
across the Northern Territory. 

Volunteer groups assist with projects such as weed 
control, pruning, track maintenance, rubbish removal, 
fire breaks and reducing fuel loads, drone surveys, 
general maintenance, and signage installation.

The Parks and Wildlife Volunteer Campground Host 
program was at 48% capacity for 2021-21. A successful 
campground host trial was held at Karlu Karlu for the 
first time and had 6 hosts cover a period of 6 weeks.

General volunteers participated in opportunities at 18 
different parks and reserves and 3 Parks and Wildlife 
branches. 

A total of 127 people volunteered as individuals 
(general volunteers), 26 were campground hosts and 
10 were Caretakers (Munbililla Campground at Limmen 
National Park and Arltunga Historical Reserve). 

Bushfires NT supports 20 volunteer fire brigades 
across the Northern Territory with about 500 active 
volunteers. Bushfire volunteers are landholders and 
members of the community - men and women from all 
cultural backgrounds, age groups and professions.

Bushfires volunteers take part in a range of activities 
including fighting and preventing bushfires, fuel hazard 
reduction, operational support during a bushfire, and 
fundraising for local brigades. Bushfires NT greatly 
values the role of its volunteers.

WELLBEING
The Department is committed to the health and 
wellbeing of all employees, offering a range of 
initiatives to support staff such as flexible working 
arrangements, flu vaccinations and the Employee 
Assistance Program.

Work-life balance

The department offers flexible working options, 
recognised as a valuable tool in achieving greater 
productivity and supporting employees to improve their 
balance between work and personal commitments.

These arrangements allow staff to adjust their working 
arrangements for an agreed period of time. This is due 
to a variety of circumstances such as returning from 
parental leave, undertake responsibilities as a care giver, 
and transition to retirement.

In 2020-21, the department supported 120 individual 
flexible work arrangements.

Employee Assistance Program

The Employee Assistance Program (EAP) provides 
important support services to assist staff who may be 
affected by personal, family or work related issues.  
Employees can choose to access counselling sessions 
from a panel of 8 providers. 

The department continued to promote the EAP with 
218 employees and family members accessing the 
Program in 2021-21.

Flu vaccination program

The department again offered all staff influenza (flu) 
vaccinations. The program was well-received with a 
total of 183 staff having the vaccination in Darwin, 
Palmerston, Katherine and Alice Springs in 2020-21.
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WORKPLACE HEALTH AND SAFETY (WHS)
The department is committed to providing and maintaining safe and healthy workplaces and ensuring 
compliance with the Work Health and Safety (National Uniform Legislation) Act 2011 and the Workers Rehabilitation 
and Compensation Act 2015.

Activities undertaken to implement the Work Health and Safety (WHS) legislation include:

• continual review of current policies, procedures and systems
• regular committee and workplace meetings
• staff trained for committees and fire warden duties
• training provided for field working staff, for example, 4WD training.

The Governance Board is the department’s WHS approving body and is supported by a WHS committee for 
each division.

LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE
Employment instructions

Under the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993 (PSEMA), Employment Instructions provide 
direction to agencies on human resource management matters. The department’s performance against each 
Employment Instruction is reported below.

EMPLOYMENT INSTRUCTION ACTION

1 Filling vacancies Recruitment and establishment procedures are available on the intranet. 
Completion of the online Merit Selection Training is a requirement for all 
staff who take part in the selection process.

2 Probation The department has a probation procedure consistent with legislation on 
our intranet site. New employees are advised of the probation process 
during induction and given information about their responsibilities.
Probation is monitored on a regular basis and managers are advised of 
upcoming probation due dates to ensure timely compliance.
In 2020-21 one staff member was terminated during the probation 
process.

Near miss5

6

6

16

18

27
Hitting object

Hazard

Body Stressing

Vehicle incident & other

Hit by object

Mental stress 2 Chemicals and substances2

9 Environmental factors

Slips, Trips and Falls

19

Workplace Health and Safety Incidents
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EMPLOYMENT INSTRUCTION ACTION

3 Natural justice The principles of natural justice are communicated to all employees. 
Natural justice is adhered to in all dealings with employees and reflected 
appropriately in internal policies and procedures.

4 Employee management The department has a performance management system called Building 
Our Own Staff Talent (BOOST). A total of 51% of staff had records of 
performance discussions being held in 2020-21.

5 Medical examinations Advice is provided to managers as required by The Department of 
Corporate and Digital Development (DCDD). There were no medical 
incapacity cases in 2020-21.

6 Performance and inability The performance and inability guidelines are available from the 
department’s intranet. DCDD HR Services supports managers dealing 
with under-performance issue, and helps managers and staff to improve 
performance. There were no formal performance improvement processes 
undertaken in 2020-21.

7 Discipline The discipline employment instruction and associated guidelines are 
available from the department’s intranet. DCDD works closely with 
managers to ensure processes are followed correctly and natural justice 
is provided. There were no section 49 disciplinary action undertaken in  
2020-21.

8 Internal agency complaints 
and section 59 grievance 
reviews

There is significant documentation on the department’s intranet in 
relation to resolving complaints and the formal grievance process.
In 2020-21 there were 2 internal agency complaints and 1 section 
59 grievance lodged with the Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment.

9 Employment records DCDD stores employment records on personnel files. The department 
complies with the DCDD policy regarding access to these files.
There were no requests to access employee information lodged under 
the Information Act 2002 in 2020-21.

10 Equality of employment 
opportunity programs

The department adheres to the principles of the NTPS EmployAbility 
Strategy. The department has an Inclusion and Diversity Policy which is 
available on the staff intranet.

11 Occupational health and 
safety programs

The department has a Work, Health and Safety Management System with 
policies and procedures to support a healthy and safe work environment 
that is consultative and co-operative. 

12 Code of conduct The code of conduct is available on the department’s intranet site and 
is reinforced by the activities of HR Services. The code of conduct is 
available online and is covered as part of the mandatory training program 
for new staff.

13 Appropriate workplace 
behaviours

There is significant documentation available on the intranet site about 
addressing inappropriate behaviour in the workplace, including bullying.

14 Redeployment and 
redundancy procedures

The department adheres to the current redeployment and redundancy 
provisions. A total of 4 staff members received a voluntary redundancy in 
2020-21.

15 Special measures The department has an Inclusion and Diversity Policy that supports 
increasing employment opportunities for people from all Equality of 
Employment Opportunity (EEO) groups and introduced a Special Measures 
Plan in  January 2021.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
The department's Governance Framework outlines the principles and approach to governance and 
accountability. 

The department is governed by 9 principles with operational requirements giving effect to each principle. 
Accountability controls that govern the department’s activities are listed against each operational requirement. 

This framework allows the department to navigate the accountability requirements of its governance structure 
and understand how it is addressing each governance principle.

Governance principles

1.  Government and public sector 
relationship

The department’s relationship with the government is clear

2. Management and oversight The department’s management and oversight is accountable and has clearly defined 
responsibilities

3. Organisational structure The department’s structure serves its operations

4. Operations The department plans its operations to achieve its goals

5. Ethics and integrity Ethics and integrity are embedded in the department’s values and operations

6. People The department’s leadership in people management contributes to individual and 
organisational achievements

7. Finance The department safeguards financial integrity and accountability

8. Communication The department communicates with all parties in a way that is accessible, open and 
responsive

9. Risk management The department identifies and manages its risks

Governance structure

VALUES Commitment to Service   ||   Ethical Practice   ||   Respect   ||   Accountability   ||   Impartiality   ||   Diversity

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (CEO) GOVERNANCE BOARD

DEPARTMENT WHS COMMITTEEAUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Department of

ENVIRONMENT, PARKS AND WATER SECURITYGOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

INFORMATION & COMMUNICATIONS 
TECHNOLOGY COMMITTEE

INFRASTRUCTURE COMMITTEE

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

BUSHFIRES NT WHS COMMITTEE

FLORA & FAUNA WHS COMMITTEE

WATER RESOURCES WHS COMMITTEE

ENVIRONMENT WHS COMMITTEE

RANGELANDS WHS COMMITTEE

PARKS & WILDLIFE WHS COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE / BUSINESS SERVICES WHS 
COMMITTEE
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GOVERNANCE BOARD
The Governance Board is integral to the department’s 
strategic governance arrangements and provides 
direct support to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
in the development and implementation of strategic 
direction, risk management, performance of the 
department, and operational delivery.

The Governance Board is the senior planning and 
decision-making body for the department responsible 
for strategic leadership, direction and whole of 
department policy setting, to ensure the department 
is positioned to deliver government’s objectives and 
meets its corporate responsibilities and priorities.

The Governance Board has the power to appoint 
committees as required.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES
Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARMC) 
provides independent advice and assurance to the 
CEO on the effectiveness of the agency’s audit, risk 
management and internal control processes. 

Infrastructure Committee

The Infrastructure Committee provides whole of 
department direction (including the Government 
Business Division - Territory Wildlife Parks) on 
infrastructure planning and investment decisions. 

Information and Communications Technology 
(ICT) Committee

The ICT Committee provides effective governance 
and oversees the process, technology and data 
components of the department's Strategic Plan and 
ICT environment and activities to ensure alignment of 
the agency’s business objectives and ICT architecture, 
as well as adherence with whole of government 
requirements. 

Emergency Management Committee

The Emergency Management Committee is 
responsible for leading the departments emergency 
mitigation, business continuity, preparedness, 
response and recovery responsibilities and objectives 
and responsibilities in line with the Territory 
Emergency Plan.

Work Health and Safety Committee

The Department Work Health and Safety Committee 
provides whole of department direction on policies, 
strategies and safe systems of work. 

The Committee exists to ensure the department 
complies with its statutory work health and safety 
obligations to staff and other persons.

Divisional Work Health and Safety Committees

Each division has its own committee to collaborate 
and contribute health and safety matters, policies and 
procedures.  

STATUTORY COMMITTEES 
AND BODIES
As at 30 June 2021, the department was responsible 
for 15 statutory committees and bodies. Membership 
details can be found at Appendix 2.

NON-STATUTORY 
COMMITTEES AND BODIES
As at 30 June 2021, the department was responsible 
for 22 non-statutory committees and bodies. 
Membership details can be found at Appendix 2. 
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CORPORATE PLANNING 
FRAMEWORK
Organisation structure

The CEO is supported by the Governance Board 
through a clearly defined organisation structure. 
The organisation structure is published on the 
department’s intranet and is shown on page 10.

Strategic Plan 2021–2024

The department's Strategic Plan 2021–2024 (as 
shown on pages 8-9) outlines key priorities and 
activities in delivering services for the next 4 years and 
includes the department's vision, purpose, goals and 
values.

Customer Service Charter

The department is committed to providing a high 
standard of service that is responsive and helps 
our customers meet their goals. To formalise this, 
the department has developed a Customer Service 
Charter that outlines what the department’s 
customers can expect from our services how they can 
assist us in our delivery of professional, reliable and 
consistent customer service.

Strategic Workforce Development Plan 2016–20

The Strategic Workforce Development Plan 2016–20 
has actionable strategies to address current and 
future workforce challenges. Priorities outlined in the 
plan are leadership, diversity, culture and workforce 
planning for the future.

A key challenge for the department is to ensure our 
workforce has the capacity and capability to deliver 
against the strategic priorities set by government.

The NT Public Sector Workforce Strategy 2021–2026 
was released on 23 June 2021 and a new Strategic 
Workforce Development Plan is currently being 
developed for the department. 

Aboriginal Employment Strategy 2016–20

The Aboriginal Employment Strategy focuses on 
sourcing and developing the right people and ensuring 
they have a supportive, sensitive and appropriate 
workplace to grow and develop.

The strategy aims to increase Aboriginal employment 
in the department in all occupations, levels of 
employment and locations, improve Aboriginal 
workforce capability, and grow the department into a 
mature and culturally competent workplace.

The Aboriginal Employment and Career Development 
Strategy 2021–25 was released on 24 June 2021 and 
a new Aboriginal Employment Strategy is currently 
being developed for the department.

Information and Communications Technology 
(ICT) Strategic Plan 2015–19

The ICT Strategic commenced redevelopment in 
2020–21. Divisional ICT roadmaps are being finalised, 
providing a business-focused bottom-up approach 
to the strategy design. Upon completion of these 
roadmaps, work will start on a whole of department 
data strategy and enterprise architecture. These 
roadmaps and strategies will be used to inform the 
new ICT Strategic Plan.

Business plans

The Strategic Plan is the basis of our business 
planning, and in turn, our performance planning. 
Divisional Business Plans and Personal Development 
Plans focus on linkages and implementation against 
the strategic direction.

Business plans are continually reviewed (with quarterly 
updates) and adjusted in response to changes to 
internal and external environments that affect the 
department.

Annual Strategic Risk Assessment

Throughout 2020-21, the Governance Board 
reviewed the department’s risk register against any 
strategic and operational changes and participated in a 
risk workshop. This year, the assessment scope was to 
identify risk sources that may hinder achievement of 
the goals in the department's Strategic Plan.

The assessment identified new and emerging risks 
within the current operating and internal control 
environment and new treatments, to address the 
risks, continue to be determined. These activities 
contribute to the assurance that risks are controlled 
and the department is responsive to managing risk 
as a priority. Work health and safety operational risk 
registers are managed within each division.

 COVID-19

In line with the Northern Territory Government's 
commitment to keep Territorians healthy and safe and to 
protect businesses and jobs as well as keep the Territory 
on the road to recovery, the department’s Governance 
Board developed a COVID-19 Response Plan. 

The Plan informed staff of measures and requirements 
to ensure their health and safety, ensure the 
department’s compliance with the Australian and 
Northern Territory Government’s directions for 
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COVID-19 while ensuring critical business continuity, 
guidance for implementation of the department’s 
priority and critical activities, and make sure 
communication methods were streamlined and 
consistent.

The Response Plan and messaging is updated as 
circumstances change and communicated to staff 
through regular updates from the CEO.

DEPARTMENTAL 
COMMUNICATIONS
Internal communications

The CEO produces a regular e-newsletter to promote 
department news, staff achievements, and project and 
program outcomes. It is emailed to all department staff 
and posted on the department's intranet. Staff are 
encouraged to contribute articles and information. 

As part of the People Matter Action Statement, 
Governance Board meeting outcomes are distributed 
to department staff via email from the CEO and are 
placed on the department's intranet.

Each division in the department holds regular staff 
meetings to share news, achievements and information. 
Executive directors and senior directors are also 
encouraged to present to regional staff on whole of 
government and agency priorities and issues.

Other internal communication activities include regular 
corporate emails to staff about important warnings or 
events. Directors are also required to maintain contact 
lists for all of their staff members for use in the need for 
direct communication such as team texts or individual 
phone calls.

External communications tools

Our webpage depws.nt.gov.au is the primary resource 
for information on the department's key functions.

The department uses the NTG's 'Have Your Say' 
online engagement platform for external engagement 
activities that require public feedback or submissions, 
as well as directly engaging with key stakeholders.

The department produces newsletters to regularly 
communicate information to stakeholders.  
Bushfires NT, for example, produces a quarterly 
newsletter called 'Hot Topics' which has been in 
production since May 2015. The newsletter provides 
a regular update of interesting stories and events from 
Bushfires NT and the bushfires brigade volunteers. 
Volunteers are encouraged to supply articles and 
achievements. 

The department also holds regular community 
engagement activities to directly communicate with 
the public and stakeholders. The Parks and Wildlife 
Commission's 'Be Crocwise' program continues to 
educate people about crocodiles and reduce the risk of 
attack. 

The division's popular Junior Ranger Program offers 
9 to 12 year old children the opportunity to discover 
the NT's natural and cultural environment through fun, 
hands-on activities. The program runs annually in Alice 
Springs, Katherine and Darwin.

The department regularly contributes to other 
newsletters and the department provides support 
to the Pastoral Land Board to produce a quarterly 
newsletter to keep pastoralists up to date on current 
activities.

The department holds regular external community 
engagement activities to build awareness and 
capacity for corporate social responsibility among its 
stakeholders. For a list of these activities see 'Corporate 
Social Responsibility'.

The department manages 7 Facebook pages, 4 
Instagram accounts and Google business pages for 
many of the Northern Territory's parks and reserves.

Future priorities

• Implement a new ticket-based project management 
system.

• Continue to improve on campaign monitoring and 
evaluation.

• Update department’s social media policy and 
guidelines to better reflect new department 
direction.

• Ongoing review of content and improvements to 
user accessibility for the department’s intranet and 
internet web pages.

• Continue to gain followers for the department’s 
social media accounts and grow engagement with 
digital content.

• Seek out innovative ways to showcase the 
expertise of department staff.

• Successfully deliver communications and media 
requirements for department campaigns and 
climate change priorities.

• Support the divisions in successfully delivering 
stakeholder engagement.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Corporate governance accountabilities

The department is required to comply with the Financial 
Management Act 1995, Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act 1993, Procurement Act 1995 and other 
legislation, such as the Anti-Discrimination Act 1992 and 
the Work Health And Safety (National Uniform Legislation) 
Act 2011.

The department’s corporate governance framework and 
the relevant statutes are promoted to staff in many ways, 
including through the department’s induction programs.

Internal controls

The department has a number of internal control 
mechanisms and policies in place to mitigate workplace 
risks, including fraud.

Corporate delegations

The CEO delegates certain powers to other employees 
under the Financial Management Act 1995, Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act 1993, Contracts 
Act 1978 and Procurement Act 1995. In 2020-21, the 
following CEO approved delegations were in place:

• Human Resources delegations.
• Procurement and Contract delegations.
• Financial delegations.
• Information (Records) Security delegations.
• ICT delegations.

Conflict of interest

Conflicts of interest, whether real or perceived, can erode 
confidence in the department’s integrity. Employees 
are responsible for completing a Disclosure Declaration 
as soon as they become aware of any real or perceived 
conflict and must take all reasonable steps to prevent 
involvement in any declared conflicts.

Reporting suspected and improper conduct

The department is committed to high levels of 
professionalism and ethical behaviour in delivering 
its services, and values honesty and integrity in its 
administrative and management practices. 

Effective mechanisms are in place to facilitate the 
notification, assessment and management of disclosures 
of information about wrongdoing or danger. 

Staff can report suspected wrongdoing in accordance 
with the Independent Commissioner Against Corruption Act 
2017. As at 30 June 2020, the department’s Executive 
Officer, was the department’s nominated recipient.

Code of conduct

Through internal training, such as the corporate 
induction program, staff are informed of their 
responsibility to act in accordance with the NTPS 
Code of Conduct.

Freedom of information and privacy

In accordance with the Information Act 2002, a range 
of Northern Territory Government policies and 
procedures are in place to enable individuals to access 
records and information held by the department.

Accounting and property manual

In accordance with the Financial Management Act 
1995, the department has an Accounting and Property 
Manual that specifies finance procedures and internal 
control requirements. The Accounting and Property 
Manual was updated in 2020-21 and made available 
on the department’s intranet.
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INFORMATION MANAGEMENT
Information requests

The department is subject to the Information Act 2002 (the Act) and is required to meet the obligations placed 
on it under the Act. Members of the public can gain access to documents or records held by the department 
through Freedom of Information requests unless the document is within an exception or exemption category 
specified in the legislation. 

The Act also defines strict timeframes for dealing with these requests for information. During 2020-21, the 
department received 18 applications for access to government or personal information under the Act. The table 
below provides statistical data about the formal access applications the department received.

INFORMATION ACT REQUESTS 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Applications carried over from previous year - 1 4 3

Applications to access personal information - - 2 -

Applications to access government information 12 12 12 18

Applications to access personal and government information - 2 - -

Applications to correct personal information - - - -

Applications transferred - 6 2

Requests withdrawn 1 1 - 3

Requests refused - - - 4

Internal reviews - - - -

Responses completed within 30-day period 10 10 5 3

Responses completed exceeding 30-day period - - 4 5

Applications handled as at 30 June 10 10 9 17

Applications pending 1 4 3 4

Ombudsman enquiries

The department received no enquiries from the Ombudsman during the reporting year. 

Records management

The CEO of a public sector organisation has a duty to ensure that the organisation complies with Part 9 of the 
Information Act 2002. The Records and Information Management Standards require agencies to comply with 
core principles for the effective management of records and information. 

This is to ensure records are disposed of in accordance with the Act. All organisational records, including records 
in business systems, must be covered by a current and authorised records disposal schedule and be reviewed 
when major legislative or policy change affects the regulatory environment.
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MONITORING THROUGH AUDITS AND REVIEWS
Internal audits

There were 6 risk-based internal audits conducted under the department’s 2020-21 Internal Audit Plan as 
detailed below:

INTERNAL AUDIT FOCUS OUTCOME

Official Travel To review the department’s official travel against the 
whole-of-government Travel Policy Framework.

The audit found inconsistent application 
of the controls. Recommendations were 
made to strengthen existing controls and 
practices.

Cabinet Information 
Security Compliance Check

To assess the department’s compliance with the 
required Cabinet information security measures.

The annual compliance check identified no 
material weaknesses in controls. 

Guarantees and Indemnities To assess the department’s compliance with the 
Treasurer’s Directions – Guarantees and Indemnities 
and any other legislative requirements

The audit found no material fraud or 
breaches of financial legislation. 

Value for Territory 
Procurement

To assess the department’s compliance against the 
Northern Territory Government’s Procurement Rules, 
Governance Policy and Buy Local Plan.

The audit identified minor breaches to 
the Procurement Rules. 4 instances of 
inadequate management of perceived 
conflicts of interest were identified. 
Recommendations were made to 
strengthen existing controls and practices. 
The Buy Local Industry Advocate reviewed 
the report and concluded that overall, the 
department demonstrated a satisfactory 
level of compliance. 

Work Health and Safety 
Committee Framework

To review the department’s work health and safety 
committee framework for compliance with legislative 
requirements.

The audit recommended improvements 
to training arrangements for committee 
members. One breach of S79(4a) of the 
Act was detected where injured workers’ 
identities were inadvertently provided to 
the Committee.  

Waste Discharge Licences Assess level of compliance with legislative requirements 
for the granting of new Waste Discharge Licences.

The audit found a satisfactory level of 
compliance with several recommendations 
made to improve existing processes and 
regulatory decision making. 
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External audits

The Office of the Northern Territory Auditor-General selected the department for the 7 following external 
audits during 2020-21. Audit results are published in the Auditor-General’s reports to the Legislative Assembly.

EXTERNAL AUDIT FOCUS OUTCOME

Agency Compliance Audit 
ending 30 June 2020

To assess compliance against the Financial Management 
Act 1995 and other Northern Territory Government 
policies and directives.

The audit found a ‘satisfactory’ level of 
compliance. One recommendation was 
made to improve existing controls.

End of Year Review 30 June 
2020

To assess the adequacy of selected aspects of end of 
financial year controls over reporting, accounting and 
material financial transactions and balances with the 
primary purpose of providing support to the audit of 
the Treasurer’s Annual Financial Statement.

The audit found a ‘satisfactory’ level of 
compliance. Recommendations were made 
to improve existing controls.

Corporate Credit Cards 
Data Analytics

To examine verified transactions using corporate 
credit cards to identify the existence of fraud or other 
irregularities.

The audit found several non-compliances.
Recommendations were made to improve 
existing controls and raise awareness of 
staff.

Buy Local Industry Advocate To assess compliance with Contractor Management and 
Contractor Performance Reporting rules. 

The audit found several non-compliances. 
Recommendations were made to improve 
existing controls and raise awareness of 
staff.

Territory Wildlife Parks 
Financial Statements 

To form an audit opinion of the financial statements of 
the Territory Wildlife Parks.

An unmodified audit opinion was issued. 
One audit issue was identified. 

Nitmiluk (Katherine Gorge) 
Nation-al Park Board 
Financial Statements 

To form an audit opinion of the financial statements of 
the Nitmiluk (Katherine Gorge) National Park Board for 
the year ending 30 June 2020.

An unmodified audit opinion was issued.  
2 audit issues were identified.

Cobourg Peninsula 
Sanctuary and Marine Park 
Board Financial Statements 

To form an audit opinion of the financial statements 
of the Cobourg Peninsula Sanctuary and Marine Park 
Board for the year ending 30 June 2020.

An unmodified audit opinion was issued.  
3 audit issues were identified.

Insurable risk 

Insurable risks are generally related to workers compensation, assets and inventories, public liability and indemnities. 

INSURABLE RISK CATEGORY MITIGATION STRATEGIES

Public liability • Formal risk assessments completed
• Repairs and maintenance program in place to reduce risks associated with physical 

assets, managed by the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics.
• Ongoing review of practices and procedures to ensure public safety
• Appropriate signage
• Education campaigns for staff
• Building audits, for example security, maintenance, compliance
• Appropriate security and testing, for example fire systems, alarms, patrols and staff

Workers’ compensation • Work Health and Safety (WHS) Management system in place
• WHS policies and standard operating procedures in place
• Risk assessments and Job Safety Analysis undertaken
• Workplace Hazard Inspections
• Job-specific training and support
• Utilisation of Employee Assistance Program (EAP)
• Early intervention program
• Critical incident debriefings
• Work life balance strategies

Asset and inventories • Formal risk assessments completed
• Ongoing review of policies and practices to guide standard operating procedures to 

protect assets and inventories
• Asset registers maintained for fixed and leased assets

Vehicles (for example motor vehicles, 
ATVs and boats)

• Regular service and maintenance checks
• Driving training (4 wheel drives, ATVs, boat handling)

Indemnities • Formal risk assessments completed each year and with each new agreement
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DEPARTMENT
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Overview 
This section of the report provides an analysis of the financial outcome of the Department of Environment, Parks 
and Water Security for the year ended 30 June 2021. The department’s financial performance is reported in 4 
financial statements: They are the Comprehensive Operating Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in 
Equity, Cash Flow Statement and the notes accompanying these statements.  

The department includes the following output groups / outputs:  

Natural Resources 

• Flora and fauna  
• Rangelands  
• Water resources  
• Bushfires 

Parks and Wildlife 

• Parks, wildlife and visitor services 

Environment 

• Environment management and policy 

Statutory Body 

• Northern Territory Environment Protection Authority 

Corporate and Shared Services 

• Corporate and governance 
• Shared services received 
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COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT 
The department reported an operating deficit of $7.7 million against a budgeted deficit of $9.6 million.  

Income was less than that of the original budget by $3.8 million as was total expenses by $5.8 million, resulting in a 
favourable variance to the budgeted deficit ($2 million).  There was a myriad of changes to the budget throughout 
the year in relation to additional funding and subsequent expenditure.   

Note 32 outlines the original budget against the actual result for the year. 

 

INCOME 
The department received income for the financial year of $112.5 million, $3.8 million less than original budget. 

 

2020-21 Income by Source 
 

 

 

$112.5M
$120.1M

$7.7M

$116.3M
$125.9M

$9.6M

Total Income Total Expenses Deficit

Actual
Original Budget

$93.6M

$3.2M
$2.4M

$12.1M

$1.2M

Output appropriation
Grants and subsidies
Sale of goods and services
Goods and services received free of charge
Other revenue

$112.5M
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The department is funded primarily through Northern Territory Parliamentary output appropriation, receiving $93.6 
million (83% of total income). Revenue is also derived from current grants and subsidies $3.2 million (3% of total 
income), sales of goods and services $2.4 million (2% of total income) and other miscellaneous income $1.2 million 
(1% of total income). Additionally notional revenue for services provided free of charge by the Department of 
Corporate and Digital Development (DCDD) and Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics (DIPL) was 
received totalling $12.1 million (11% of total income). 

Output revenue 

In 2020-21 output revenue of $93.6 million was received, $3.9 million less than the original budget. This variance is 
largely a result of the transfer of the Territory Wildlife Parks repairs and maintenance budget to the Department of 
Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics for the Territory Wildlife Parks critical infrastructure capital works program. A 
corresponding reduction in expenditure exists under Community Service Obligations. 

Grants and subsidies revenue 

The department attracted $3.2 million in current grant revenue, or 3% of total income. This external revenue is 
higher than the original budget by $1.3 million due to additional external grant program funding sourced. 

Key externally funded projects in 2020-21 include: 

• West Arnhem Fire Monitoring Agreement 
• INPEX Darwin Harbour Integrated Marine Monitoring and Research Program 
• Gamba Fire Mitigation Project 
• Beetaloo Geological and Bioregional Assessment-Region Baseline Survey Program 
• Territory Natural Resource Management – Central Rock-rat in the West MacDonnell Ranges 
• National Pollutant Inventory 
• National Environment Science Program Northern Australia Environmental Resource Hub (NESP NAERH) 

Projects 

Sales of goods and services 

In 2020-21, income from the sale of goods and services totalled $2.4 million, $1.1 million less than the original 
budget. The decrease is primarily due to lower than anticipated Parks revenue, largely a result of COVID-19 border 
restrictions. 

Goods and services received free of charge 

Notional goods and services received free of charge totalled $12.1 million in 2020-21, $1.1 million less than that of 
the original budget. This is primarily due to lower than budgeted services received free of charge for the 
department’s repairs and maintenance program, managed by the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and 
Logistics. A corresponding expense for this item results in a net nil effect to the department’s operating result. 
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EXPENSES 
The department incurred $120.1 million in expenses during 2020-21 in the delivery of its programs and services. 

 

2020-21 Expenses by Category 
 

 

 

Payments to employees and purchase of goods and services account for 68% of the department’s outlays. Payments 
of grants, subsidies and Community Service Obligations are the other major departmental expenses accounting for 
11% of total expenditure, with depreciation 9%, and notional charges for services received free of charge from the 
Department of Corporate and Digital Development (DCDD) and the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and 
Logistics (DIPL) representing non-cash transactions totalling 10%, and finance lease expenses representing 1% of 
departmental outlays. 

Employee expenses 

Staffing costs represent 46% of total agency expenditure or $55.8 million, $0.3 million greater than original budget 
of $55.5 million. 

Purchase of goods and services 

Total administrative expenses of $49.3 million in 2020-21 were lower than the original budget of $52.9 million by 
$3.6 million predominantly due to budget carryovers for work to be completed in future years and the continued 
reduction of fieldwork due to COVID-19. 

Actual spend on purchase of goods and services (including property management) in 2020-21 was $26.0 million or 
22% of total expenditure, $3.8 million less than the original budget. This underspend is also predominantly due to 
budget carryovers for work to be completed in future years and the continued reduction of fieldwork due to 
COVID-19. 

Grants, subsidies and Community Services Obligations 

In 2020-21 the department distributed $13.5 million in grants, subsidies and Community Service Obligations, $2.6 
million less than the original budget. This is largely due to the transfer of the repairs and maintenance budget for 

$55.8M

$26.0M

$13.5M
$11.0M

$12.3M

$1.5M

Employee expenses
Purchase of goods and services
Grants, subsidies and community service obligations
Depreciation and amortisation
Other including DCDD and DIPL services received free of charge
Interest expense

$120.1M
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Territory Wildlife Parks critical infrastructure capital works to the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and 
Logistics (reducing total Community Service Obligation payments made for the year). 

Depreciation and amortisation 

Depreciation and amortisation is the allocation of an asset’s cost over its useful life.  In 2020-21 depreciation and 
amortisation was $11.0 million, $1.1 million higher than the original budget resulting from the increase in the 
department’s asset base. Depreciation and amortisation costs represent 9% of total expenditure. 

Interest expenses 

Interest expense from borrowings and finance leases were $1.5 million or 1% of total expenditure, aligning to the 
original budget. 
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BALANCE SHEET 
The Balance Sheet provides a summary of the department’s balances at the end of the financial year for assets, 
liabilities and equity. 

The balances reported are the net worth to Government of the departments’ asset holdings (what is owned) against 
liabilities (what is owed). 

 Actual 
2020-21 

$000 
Assets 321,542 
Liabilities (87,534) 
Net assets / equity 234,008 

 

Assets 

The department’s assets at 30 June 2021 totalled $321.5 million. The balance of assets consists of: 

• Property, plant, equipment and computer software of $309.9 million 
• Cash balances of $8.5 million, representing cash held in a financial institution 
• Receivables of $2.5 million representing the amount that is owed to the department for goods and services 

provided and delivered 
• Prepaid expenses of $0.5 million representing expenses that have been paid before the good or service was 

received or provided 
• Inventory of $0.2 million representing assets held for sale (general inventories) 

Liabilities 

The department’s liabilities at 30 June 2021 totalled $87.5 million. The balance of liabilities consists of: 

• Borrowings of $74.0 million representing effect of adopting the lease standards AASB 16 (adoption of the 
lease standards, and its effects, are discussed further at Note 20) 

• Provisions for employee entitlements of $8.7 million, such as recreation leave, leave loading and leave fares 
to reflect the cost in present day dollars of employee entitlements that are to be paid in the future 

• Payables of $3.0 million representing the amount owed to creditors for goods and services purchased and 
received 

• Deposits held of $1.3 million predominately to recognise the liability for Joint Managed Parks and the 
Natural Heritage Trust Single Holding Account 

• Unearned revenue of $0.6 million representing the amount received for services not yet provided 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
The statement of changes in equity reflects movements in equity balances during the year.  

Equity as at 30 June 2021 is $234.0 million. 

Due to machinery of government changes the newly formed agency acquired: 

• $292.2 million in net equity injections 
• $92.3 million in assets revaluation reserves; offset by  
• $153.2 million in accumulated funds. 

Equity movements throughout the year include: 

• $8.4 million net increase assets predominantly in completed minor new works  
• $2.0 million appropriation to purchase capital items 
• $7.7 million operating loss for the 2020-21 financial year 

 

 Actual  
2020-21  

$000 
Balance of equity at 1 July - 
Net equity injections 302,602 
Movement in reserves 92,281 
Accumulated funds (160,875) 
Balance of Equity at 30 June 234,008 
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CERTIFICATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 

 Note 2021 
$’000 

Income   
Grants and subsidies revenue   

Current 4a 3,154 
Appropriation   

Output 4b 93,646 
Sales of goods and services 4c 2,379 
Goods and services received free of charge 5 12,067 
Other income  4d 1,215 
Total Income 3 112,461 
   
Expenses   
Employee expenses  55,786 
Administrative expenses   

Purchases of goods and services 6 21,968 
Property management  4,029 
Depreciation and amortisation 15, 17 11,009 
Other administrative expenses(a) 

 12,299 
Grants and subsidies expenses   

Current  5,828 
Community Service Obligations  7,676 
Loss on disposal of assets 7 5 
Interest expense 8 1,533 
Total Expenses  120,133 
   
Net Deficit  (7,672) 
   
Other Comprehensive Income   
Changes in asset revaluation reserve 24 - 
   
Comprehensive Result  (7,672) 
(a) Includes Department of Corporate and Digital Development (DCDD) and Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics (DIPL) 

services received free of charge. 

The Comprehensive Operating Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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BALANCE SHEET 
As at 30 June 2021 
 

 Note 2021 
$’000 

Assets   
Current Assets   

Cash and deposits 10 8,472 
Receivables 12 2,967 
Inventories 13 190 

Total Current Assets  11,629 
   
Non-Current Assets   

Property, plant and equipment 15 309,239 
Intangibles 17 674 

Total Non-Current Assets  309,913 
   
Total Assets  321,542 
   
Liabilities   
Current Liabilities   

Deposits held 18 1,269 
Payables 19 3,011 
Borrowings 20 368 
Provisions 21 8,682 
Other liabilities 22 394 

Total Current Liabilities  13,724 
   
Non-Current Liabilities   

Borrowings  73,632 
Other liabilities  178 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  73,810 
   
Total Liabilities  87,534 
   
Net Assets  234,008 
   
Equity   

Capital  302,603 
Asset revaluation surplus 24 92,280 
Accumulated funds  (160,875) 

Total Equity  234,008 

The Balance Sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
 

2020-21 

Note 

Equity at 
1 July 
$’000 

Comprehensive 
Result 
$’000 

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners 

$’000 

Equity at 
30 June 

$’000 
 

DENR 
Transfers 

in 

PW 
Transfers 

in DEPWS 
Accumulated Funds  - (7,672) (84,435) (68,768) - (160,875) 
        
Reserves 24       
Buildings  - - 1,570 (7,110) - (5,540) 
Infrastructure  - - 963 2,258 - 3,222 
Land  - - 380 94,219 - 94,599 
        

Capital - Transactions with Owners      
Capital Appropriation  - - 12,823 - 2,047 14,870 
Equity Transfers Out  - - (268,073) - (26) (268,099) 
Equity Transfers In  - - 337,240 198,332 8,371 543,943 
Other equity injections  - - 27,010 3,119 - 30,129 
Equity Withdrawals  - - (13,874) (4,366) - (18,240) 
        

Total Equity at 30 June - (7,672) 13,604 217,684 10,392 234,008 
 

The Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 
statements. 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 

 Note 2021 
$’000 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities   
Operating Receipts   
Grants and subsidies received   
 Current  3,154 
Appropriation   
 Output  93,646 
Other receipts from sales of goods and services  5,683 
Total Operating Receipts  102,483 
Operating Payments   
Payments to employees  (54,993) 
Payments for goods and services  (28,608) 
Grants and subsidies paid   
 Current  (5,828) 
 Community Service Obligation  (7,676) 
Deposits paid  (55) 
Total Operating Payments  (97,160) 
Net Cash From Operating Activities 11 5,323 
Cash Flows From Investing Activities   
Investing Receipts   
Proceeds from asset sales 7 73 
Total Investing Receipts  73 
Investing Payments   
Purchases of assets 14, 15 (1,631) 
Total Investing Payments  (1,631) 
Net Cash (Used In) Investing Activities  (1,558) 
Cash Flows From Financing Activities   
Financing Receipts   
Equity injections   
Capital appropriations  2,047 
Equity injections due to Machinery of Government  4,579 
Total Financing Receipts  6,626 
Financing Payments   
Equity transfers out  (26) 
Lease repayments  (360) 
Interest paid on finance lease  (1,533) 
Total Financing Payments  (1,919) 
Net Cash From Financing Activities 11 4,707 
   
Net increase in cash held  8,472 
Cash at beginning of financial year  - 
Cash at End of Financial Year 10 8,472 

The Cash Flow Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.  

86 ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 | DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT, PARKS AND WATER SECURITY



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
1. Objectives and Funding 
2. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies 
3. Comprehensive Operating Statement by Output 
 
Income 
4. Revenue 
5. Goods and Services Received Free of Charge 
 
Expenses 
6. Purchases of Goods and Services 
7. Loss on Disposal of Assets 
8. Interest Expenses 
9. Write-offs, Postponements, Waivers, Gifts and Ex Gratia Payments 
 
Assets 
10. Cash and Deposits 
11. Cash flow Reconciliation 
12. Receivables 
13. Inventories 
14. Other Assets 
15. Property, Plant and Equipment 
16. Agency as Lessee 
17. Intangibles 
 
Liabilities 
18. Deposits Held 
19. Payables 
20. Borrowings and Advances 
21. Provisions 
22. Other Liabilities 
23. Commitments 
 
Equity 
24. Reserves 
 
Other Disclosures 
25. Fair Value Measurement of Non-Financial Assets 
26. Financial Instruments 
27. Related Parties 
28. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
29. Events Subsequent to Balance Sheet Date 
30. Accountable Officers Trust Account 
31. Schedule of Administered Territory Items 
32. Budgetary Information 
33. Budgetary Information: Administered Territory Items 
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1.  OBJECTIVES AND FUNDING 
 
The Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security provides natural resource monitoring, management and 
advice, including scientific assessment of flora, fauna, land and water assets, and the allocation and management of 
these resources to enable their sustainable use. The department coordinates water security outcomes for the 
Territory and is committed to managing Territory parks and reserves effectively so key values are maintained to 
conserve the Territory’s landscape, flora and fauna.  
The department also provides assessment, monitoring and compliance support, and services on behalf of the Northern 
Territory Environment Protection Authority to support environmentally sustainable development. 
To be effective, a strong partnership approach is undertaken. It is through partnerships with landholders, across 
Government and with our external stakeholders, that we will meet our priorities. 
 
Agency goals are as follows: 
1. Supporting sustainable economic development 
2. Fostering and strengthening partnerships 
3. Protecting and managing our natural assets 
4. Investing in our people and systems. 
 
Additional information in relation to the agency and its principal activities can be found elsewhere in the annual report. 
The agency is predominantly funded by, and dependent on, the receipt of Parliamentary appropriation. The financial 
statements encompass all funds through which the agency controls resources to carry on its functions and deliver 
outputs. For reporting purposes, outputs delivered by the agency are summarized into several output groups.  
 

Output Group Outputs 

Natural Resources 

Flora and Fauna 
Bushfires 
Rangelands 
Water Resources 

Parks and Wildlife Parks, wildlife and visitor services 
Environment Environment management and policy 
Statutory Body Northern Territory Environment Protection Authority 

Corporate and Shared Services Corporate and governance 
Shared services received 

Note 3 provides summarised financial information in the form of the comprehensive operating statement by output 
group. 
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2.  STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(a) Statement of compliance 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 
1995 and related Treasurer’s Directions. The Financial Management Act 1995 requires the Department of Environment, 
Parks and Water Security to prepare financial statements for the year ended 30 June based on the form determined 
by the Treasurer. The form of agency financial statements should include: 

1) a certification of the financial statements 
2) a comprehensive operating statement 
3) a balance sheet 
4) a statement of changes in equity 
5) a cash flow statement 
6) applicable explanatory notes to the financial statements. 

 

(b) Basis of accounting 
The financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, which recognises the effect of 
financial transactions and events when they occur, rather than when cash is paid out or received. As part of the 
preparation of the financial statements, all intra-agency transactions and balances have been eliminated. 
Except where stated, the financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with the historical cost 
convention. 
The form of the agency financial statements is also consistent with the requirements of Australian Accounting 
Standards. The effects of all relevant new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are effective for the current annual reporting period have been evaluated. 
Standards and interpretations effective from 2020-21 
Several amending standards and AASB interpretations have been issued that apply to the current reporting periods, 
but are considered to have no impact on public sector reporting. 
Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 
No Australian accounting standards have been early adopted for 2020-21. 
Several other amending standards and AASB interpretations have been issued that apply to future reporting periods 
but are considered to have limited impact on public sector reporting. 

 
(c) Reporting entity 
The financial statements cover the Department as an individual reporting entity. 
The Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security (the Department) is a Northern Territory department 
established under the Interpretation Act 1978 and Administrative Arrangements Order. 
The principal place of business of the department is: 
1st Floor, Goyder Centre, 25 Chung Wah Terrace 
PALMERSTON NT 0832 
 

(d) Agency and Territory items 
The financial statements of the Department include income, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity over which the 
department has control (agency items). Certain items, while managed by the agency, are controlled and recorded by 
the Territory rather than the agency (Territory items). Territory items are recognised and recorded by the Central 
Holding Authority as discussed below. 
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(e) Central Holding Authority 
The Central Holding Authority is the ‘parent body’ that represents the Government’s ownership interest in 
Government-controlled entities. 
The Central Holding Authority also records all Territory items, such as income, expenses, assets and liabilities 
controlled by the Government and managed by agencies on behalf of the Government. The main Territory item is 
Territory income, which includes taxation and royalty revenue, Commonwealth general purpose funding (such as GST 
revenue), fines, and statutory fees and charges. 
The Central Holding Authority also holds certain Territory assets not assigned to agencies as well as certain Territory 
liabilities that are not practical or effective to assign to individual agencies such as unfunded superannuation and long 
service leave. 
The Central Holding Authority recognises and records all Territory items, and as such, these items are not included in 
the agency’s financial statements. However, as the agency is accountable for certain Territory items managed on 
behalf of Government, these items have been separately disclosed in Note 31 - Schedule of Administered Territory 
Items. 
 

(f) Presentation and rounding of amounts 
Amounts in the financial statements and notes to the financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and have 
been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, with amounts of $500 or less  being rounded down to zero. Figures in 
the financial statements and notes may not equate due to rounding. 
 

(g) Changes in accounting policies 
There have been no changes to accounting policies adopted in 2020-21 as a result of management decisions. Changes 
in policies relating to COVID-19 are disclosed in (k) below. 
 

(h) Accounting judgements and estimates 
The preparation of the financial report requires the making of judgements and estimates that affect the recognised 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
Judgements and estimates that have significant effects on the financial statements are disclosed in the relevant notes 
to the financial statements. 
 

(i) Goods and services tax 
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the 
amount of GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO). 
In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the ATO is included as part of receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash 
flows. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable or payable unless 
otherwise specified. 
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(j) Contributions by and distributions to government 
The agency may receive contributions from government where the government is acting as owner of the agency. 
Conversely, the agency may make distributions to Government. In accordance with the Financial Management Act 
1995 (FMA) and Treasurer’s Directions, certain types of contributions and distributions, including those relating to 
administrative restructures, have been designated as contributions by, and distributions to, Government. These 
designated contributions and distributions are treated by the agency as adjustments to equity. 
The Statement of Changes in Equity provides additional information in relation to contributions by, and distributions 
to, Government. 

  

(k) Impact of COVID-19 
COVID-19 continued to impact the Department’s comprehensive result during the 2020-21 financial year.  These 
impacts included a reduction in expenditure due to reduced field work and a reduction in revenue due to state 
lockdowns and border restrictions resulting in fewer visitors to parks and reserves. 
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3.  COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT BY OUTPUT GROUP 

  
Natural 

Resources 
Parks and 

Wildlife Environment 
Statutory 

Body 

Corporate 
and Shared 

Services Total 

 
 

Note 
2021 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Income        
Grants and subsidies 
revenue        

Current 4a 3,119 17 18 - - 3,154 
Appropriation        

Output 4b 39,664 37,476 10,867 754 4,885 93,646 
Sales of goods and services 4c 1,144 1,144 - - 91 2,379 
Goods and services 
received free of charge 5 - - - - 12,067 12,067 
Other income 4d 834 203 74 - 104 1,215 
Total Income  44,761 38,840 10,959 754 17,147 112,461 
Expenses        
Employee expenses  25,908 18,119 7,666 144 3,949 55,786 
Administrative expenses        

Purchases of goods and 
services 6 12,077 6,685 1,251 516 1,439 21,968 
Property management  877 2,888 69 - 195 4,029 
Depreciation and 
amortisation 15,17 1,742 8,893 369 - 5 11,009 
Other administrative 
expenses (a)   237 (137) 103 - 12,096 12,299 

Grants and subsidies 
expenses        

Current  4,703 495 630 - - 5,828 
Community Service 
Obligations  - 7,676 - - - 7,676 

Loss on disposal of assets 7 - 5 - - - 5 
Interest expense 8 - 1,533 - - - 1,533 
Total Expenses  45,544 46,157 10,088 660 17,684 120,133 
        
Net Surplus/(Deficit)   (783) (7,317) 871 94 (537) (7,672) 
        
Other Comprehensive 
Income        
Changes in asset 
Revaluation 24 - - - - - - 
Total Other 
Comprehensive Income  - - - - - - 
        
Comprehensive Result  (783) (7,317) 871 94 (537) (7,672) 

 (a) Includes Department of Corporate and Digital Development and Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics services received free of 
charge 
 

This Comprehensive Operating Statement by output group is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 
statements. 
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Income 
Income encompasses both revenue and gains. Income is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, 
exclusive of the amount of GST. Exchanges of goods or services of the same nature and value without any cash 
consideration being exchanged are not recognised as income. 
 

4.  REVENUE 
 
(a) Grants and subsidies revenue  

2021 
 Revenue from contracts 

with customers Other Total  
$’000 $’000 $’000 

Current grants 3,154 - 3,154 
Total grants and subsidies revenue 3,154 - 3,154 

 
Grants revenue is recognised at fair value exclusive of the amount of GST. 
Where a grant agreement is enforceable and has sufficiently specific performance obligations for the agency to 
transfer goods or services to the grantor or a third party beneficiary, the transaction is accounted for under AASB 15. 
In this case, revenue is initially deferred as a contract liability when received in advance and recognised as or when 
the performance obligations are satisfied. The agency has adopted a low value contract threshold of $50,000 
excluding GST, and recognises revenue from contracts with a low value, upfront on receipt of income.  
The Agency’s contracts with customers is for the delivery of various research and monitoring programs and facilitating 
a fleet of highly specialized firefighting aircrafts that are readily available for use by State and Territory emergency 
service and land management agencies across Australia. Funding is generally received upfront for 12 months and the 
agency typically satisfies obligations and recognises revenue as services are being delivered as specified in the 
agreement. 
A financing component for consideration is only recognised if it is significant to the contract and the period between 
the transfer of goods and services and receipt of consideration is more than one year. For the 2020-21 reporting 
period, there were no adjustments for the effects of a significant financing component.  
Where grant agreements do not meet criteria above, it is accounted for under AASB 1058 and income is recognised 
on receipt of funding except for capital grants revenue received for the purchase or construction of non-financial 
assets to be controlled by the agency. Capital grants with enforceable contracts and sufficiently specific obligations 
are recognised as an unearned revenue liability when received and subsequently recognised progressively as revenue 
as or when the agency satisfies its obligations under the agreement. Where a non-financial asset is purchased, revenue 
is recognised at the point in time the asset is acquired and control transfers to the agency. 
Grant revenue, passed on from a Territory Government-controlled entity with the exception of the Central Holding 
Authority, is recognised upfront on receipt, irrespective of which revenue accounting standard it may fall under in 
accordance with the Treasurer’s Direction on income. 
Revenue from contracts with customers have been disaggregated below into categories to enable users of these 
financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of income and cash flows. These 
categories include a description of the type of product or service line, type of customer and timing of transfer of 
goods and services. 
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Grant agreements that satisfy recognition requirements under AASB 15 are disaggregated below. 

 2021 

 $000 
Type of good and service:  
Service delivery 3,154 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service 3,154 
  
Type of customer:  
Australian Government entities 45 
State and territory governments 206 
Non-government entities 2,903 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer 3,154 
  
Timing of transfer of goods and services:  
Point in time 3,154 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer 3,154 

 
(b) Appropriation  

2021 
 Revenue from contracts with 

customers Other Total  
$’000 $’000 $’000 

Output - 93,646 93,646 
Total appropriation - 93,646 93,646 

Output appropriation is the operating payment to each agency for the outputs they provide as specified in the 
Appropriation Act 2019. It does not include any allowance for major non-cash costs such as depreciation. Output 
appropriations do not have sufficiently specific performance obligations and recognised on receipt of funds. 

Commonwealth appropriation follows from the intergovernmental agreement on federal financial relations, resulting 
in specific purpose payments (SPPs) and national partnership (NP) payments being made by the Commonwealth 
Treasury to state treasuries, in a manner similar to arrangements for GST payments. These payments are received by 
the Department of Treasury and Finance on behalf of the Central Holding Authority and then passed on to the 
relevant agencies as Commonwealth appropriation..  

Where appropriation received has an enforceable contract with sufficiently specific performance obligations as 
defined in AASB 15, revenue is recognised as and when goods and or services are transferred to the customer or third 
party beneficiary. Otherwise revenue is recognised when the agency gains control of the funds. 

There is no revenue from contracts with customers for the 2020-21 financial year. 

 
(c) Sales of goods and services  

2021 
 Revenue from contracts with 

customers Other Total  
$’000 $’000 $’000 

Sales of goods and services 2,318 61 2,379 
Total sales of goods and services 2,318 61 2,379 

 
Revenue from regulatory fees is recognised when the agency satisfies its performance obligations. These include fees 
for the issue of licences. The agency’s sole performance obligations for the issue of a non-intellectual property licence 
is the issue of the licence, as such revenue is recognised upfront on issue of the licence. For intellectual property 
licences, revenue is recognised at a point in time or overtime as or when the performance obligation is satisfied. The 
agency recognises licences with a term less than 12 months or a low value of $10,000 or less, upfront on receipt of 
cash. 
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Sale of goods 
Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the agency satisfies a performance obligation by transferring the 
promised goods, including souvenirs, food and drink items and various guides, maps, posters and crocodile tags. The 
agency typically satisfies its performance obligations when the customer has made payment, and the customer has 
taken physical possession of the item. The payments of crocodile tags are typically due 30 days from production of 
invoice. Payments of other items are made upfront at time of purchase. 
Revenue from crocodile tag sales are based on the price specified in the contract, and revenue from the sale of other 
items are based on the retail price on display. Revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable a 
significant reversal will not occur. There is no element of financing present as sales are made with a short credit term 
or no credit terms. 
 

Rendering of services 
Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the agency satisfies the performance obligation by 
transferring the promised services such as hydrographic services, water licensing, plant identification, and providing 
access to a range of parks across the Territory. The agency typically satisfies its performance obligations when 
information, or outcome, is provided to the customer or once the customer pays the related fee and has access to a 
park. 
Revenue from contracts with customers have been disaggregated below into categories to enable users of these 
financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of income and cash flows. These 
categories include a description of the type of product or service line, type of customer and timing of transfer of 
goods and services. 

 2021 
 $000 
Type of good and service:  
Sales of inventory 1,200 
Service delivery 1,118 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service 2,318 
  
Type of customer:  
Australian Government entities 389 
State and territory governments 1,343 
Non-government entities 586 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer 2,318 
  
Timing of transfer of goods and services:  
Overtime 467 
Point in time 1,851 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer 2,318 

 
(d) Other income  

 
2021 

 Revenue from contracts with 
customers Other Total  

$’000 $’000 $’000 
Other income - 1,215 1,215 
Total other income - 1,215 1,215 

 
Donated assets include assets received at below fair value or for nil consideration that can be measured reliably. 
These are recognised as revenue at their fair value when control over the assets is obtained, normally either on receipt 
of the assets or on notification the assets have been secured, unless received from another government entity as a 
consequence of a restructuring of administrative arrangements.  
 
There is no revenue from contracts with customers for the 2020-21 financial year.  
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5.  GOODS AND SERVICES RECEIVED FREE OF CHARGE 
 

 2021 
$’000 

Corporate and information services 8,050 
Repairs and maintenance 4,017 
Total Goods and Services Received Free of Charge 12,067 

 
Resources received free of charge are recognised as revenue when, and only when, a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would have been purchased if they had not been donated. Use of those resources is 
recognised as an expense. Resources received free of charge are recorded as either revenue or gains depending on 
their nature.  
Repairs and maintenance expenses and associated employee costs are centralised and provided by the Department 
of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics and forms part of goods and services free of charge of the agency.  
In addition, corporate services staff and functions are centralised and provided by Department of Corporate and 
Digital Development and forms part of goods and services free of charge of the agency.  
The department administers the Bushfires Management Act 2016 (the Act), which clearly defines that a landowner is 
responsible for fire on their land.  Under the Act there is capacity for the Minister to establish a Volunteer Bushfire 
Brigade within a Fire Protection Zone.  Authorised volunteers are provided with a level of protection under the Act 
to undertake fire management, including undertaking planned burns to reduce the impact of wildfires, issue Permits 
to Burn to landowners within their region and to lead or assist other brigades or department staff in the suppression 
of wildfires.   
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6.  PURCHASES OF GOODS AND SERVICES 
 
The net deficit has been arrived at after charging the following expenses: 
 

 2021 
$’000 

Consultants 1 1,368 
Advertising 2 117 
Marketing and promotion 3 144 
Document production 32 
Legal expenses 4 1,203 
Recruitment 5  132 
Training and study 500 
Official duty fares 355 
Travelling allowance 519 
Information technology charges and communications 6 4,158 
Insurance 893 
Motor Vehicle expenses 7 4,842 
Consumables 1,298 
Corporate Support by External Agencies 286 
Equipment hire charges 8 3,864 
Other 2,257 
Total Purchases of Goods and Services 21,968 

1 Includes marketing, promotion and IT consultants. 
2 Does not include recruitment advertising, or marketing and promotion advertising. 
3 Includes advertising for marketing and promotion but excludes marketing and promotion consultants’ expenses, which are incorporated 
in the consultants’ category. 
4 Includes legal fees, claim and settlement costs. 
5 Includes recruitment-related advertising costs. 
6 Excludes IT hardware/software expenses, and IT Consultants which are incorporated in the consultants' category. 
7 Includes lease costs to NT Fleet. 
8 Primarily wildfire hire charges. 

 
Purchases of goods and services generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations, 
including supplies and service costs recognised in the reporting period in which they are incurred. 
 

7.  LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 
 

 2021 
$’000 

Net proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets 73 
Less: Carrying value of non-current assets disposed (78) 
Loss on the Disposal of Non-Current Assets (5) 
Proceeds from sale of minor assets - 
Total Loss on the Disposal of Assets (5) 
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8.  INTEREST EXPENSE 
 

 2021 
$’000 

Interest from lease liabilities 1,533 
Total Interest Expense 1,533 

Interest expenses consist of interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. It includes 
interest on lease liabilities and service concession liabilities.  
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9. WRITE-OFFS, POSTPONEMENTS, WAIVERS, GIFTS AND EX 
GRATIA PAYMENTS 

 

 Agency Items Territory Items 
 2021 

$’000 
No. of 
Trans 

2021 
$’000 

No. of 
Trans 

Write-offs, Postponements and Waivers under the Financial 
Management Act 1995 

    

Represented by:     
Amounts written off, postponed and waived by Delegates     
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory or an agency written off 

- - - - 

Losses or deficiencies of money written off 7 3 - - 
Public property written off 48 10 - - 
Waiver or postponement of right to receive or recover money or 
property - - - - 

Total Written Off, Postponed and waived by Delegates 55 13 - - 
     
Amounts written off, postponed and Waived by the Treasurer     
Write-offs, postponements and waivers due to COVID-191 - - - - 
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory or an agency written off - - - - 

Losses or deficiencies of money written off 8 1 - - 
Public property written off - - - - 
Waiver or postponement of right to receive or recover money or 
property - - - - 

Total Written Off, Postponed and Waived by Treasurer 8 1 - - 
     
Write-offs, postponements and waivers authorised under other 
legislation(a) 63 14 - - 

     
Gifts under the Financial Management Act 1995     
Gifts by delegate     
Office Furniture - - - - 
Computer and other electronic equipment - - - - 
Other - 1 - - 
Total gifts by delegate - 1 - - 
Gifts by Treasurer  - 1 - - 
     
Gifts authorised under other legislation(a) - - - - 
     
Ex gratia payments under the Financial Management Act 1995 - 1 - - 

(a) Remit of pastoral lease rent under Section 58 of the Pastoral Land Act 1992 
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10. CASH AND DEPOSITS 
 

 2021 
$’000 

Cash at bank 8,472 
Total Cash and Deposits 8,472 

For the purposes of the balance sheet and the cash flow statement, cash includes cash on hand, cash at bank and cash 
equivalents. Cash equivalents are highly liquid short-term investments that are readily convertible to cash, of which 
the agency has none. Cash on hand includes floats and petty cash, of which the agency has none. Cash at bank includes 
monies held in the Accountable Officer’s Trust Account (AOTA) that are ultimately payable to the beneficial owner – 
refer also to Note 30. 
 

11. CASH FLOW RECONCILIATION 
 
(a) Reconciliation of cash 
The total of agency cash and deposits of $8.4 million recorded in the balance sheet is consistent with that recorded 
as ‘cash’ in the cash flow statement. 

Reconciliation of net deficit to net cash from operating activities 
 2021 

$’000 
Net Deficit (7,672) 
  
Non-Cash Items:  
Depreciation and amortisation 11,009 
Repairs and maintenance non cash 218 
Assets acquired at nil value (185) 
Loss on disposal of assets 5 
Interest paid on finance lease 1,533 
  
Changes in assets and liabilities net of transfers in due to MOG:  
Increase in receivables (211) 
Decrease in inventories 36 
Decrease in deposits held (55) 
Increase in payables 127 
Increase in employment benefits 203 
Increase in other provisions 151 
Increase in other liabilities 164 
Net Cash From Operating Activities 5,323 
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(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 
 

  Cash flows Other  
 

1 July 
Lease Liability 

Repayments 
Total cash 

flows 

Lease 
Liability 

Transfers 
In 

Lease Liability 
Remeasurement 

Total 
Other  30 June 

2020-21 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Borrowings and 
advances - (360) (360) 73,038 965 74,004 73,643 

Total - (360) (360) 73,038 965 74,004 73,643 
 
(c) Non-cash financing and investing activities 
During the financial year the agency recognised $185 000 of assets acquired at nil value for the Volunteer Bushfire 
Brigade vehicles transferred to the agency as part of new Bushfires NT fleet program, and right-of-use assets for the 
lease of aboriginal land with an aggregate value of $72.9 million. 
 

12. RECEIVABLES  
 2021 

$’000 
Accounts receivable 232 
Less: Loss allowance (110) 
 122 
Contract Receivables 1,431 
Less: Loss allowance (15) 
 1,416 
GST receivables 727 
Prepayments 491 
Other receivables 211 
Total Receivables 2,967 

Receivables are initially recognised when the agency becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument 
and are measured at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Receivables include contract 
receivables, accounts receivable, accrued contract revenue and other receivables. 
Receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairments. 
Accounts receivable, contract receivables, and other receivables are generally settled within 30 days of due date. 
The loss allowance reflects lifetime expected credit losses and represents the amount of receivables the agency 
estimates are likely to be uncollectible and are considered doubtful.  

Accrued contract revenue 
Accrued contract revenue arise from contracts with customers where the agency’s right to consideration in exchange 
for goods transferred to customers or works completed have arisen but have not been billed at the reporting date. 
Once the agency’s rights to payment becomes unconditional, usually on issue of an invoice, accrued contract revenue 
balances are reclassified as contract receivables. Accrued revenue that does not arise from contracts with customers 
are reported as part of other receivables. 
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Credit risk exposure of receivables 
Receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure that exposure to bad debts is not significant. The entity 
applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses. This approach recognises a loss allowance based 
on lifetime expected credit losses for all accounts receivables, contracts receivables and accrued contract revenue. 
To measure expected credit losses, receivables have been grouped based on shared risk characteristics and days past 
due.  
The expected loss rates are based on historical observed loss rates, adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking 
information. 
In accordance with the provisions of the FMA, receivables are written-off when there is no reasonable expectation 
of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery includes a failure to make contractual 
payments for a period greater than 90 days past due. 
The loss allowance for receivables as at the reporting date is disclosed below. 

 

Loss allowance for receivables 
There were no internal receivables requiring adjustments for expected credit losses. 

 

 2021 

 

Gross 
receivables Loss rate (b) 

Expected 
credit losses Net receivables 

Internal receivables $’000 % $’000 $’000 
Not overdue 237 - - 237 
Overdue for less than 30 days - - - - 
Overdue for 30 to 60 days - - - - 
Overdue for more than 60 days - - - - 
Total internal receivables 237 - - 237  

    
External receivables     
Not overdue 1,290 - - 1,290 
Overdue for less than 30 days 8 13% 1 7 
Overdue for 30 to 60 days 4 - - 4 
Overdue for more than 60 days 124 100% 124 - 
Total external receivables 1,426 9% 125 1,301 

  

Total amounts disclosed exclude statutory amounts and include contract receivables and accrued contract income. 
 

Reconciliation of loss allowance for receivables 2021 
$’000 

External receivables(a)  
Opening balance - 
Expected credit loss transferred in due to MOG 298 
Decrease in allowance recognised in profit or loss (173) 
Total external receivables 125 

 (a) Reconciliation of loss allowances includes loss allowances attributed to contract receivables and accrued contract revenue. 

 
Prepayments 
Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods and services or that part of expenditure made in one 
accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period. 
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13. INVENTORIES 
 

 2021 
$’000 

General inventories  
At cost 190 
  
Total Inventories 190 

Inventories include assets held either for sale (general inventories) or distribution at no or nominal consideration in 
the ordinary course of business operations  

Inventories held for distribution are carried at the lower of cost and current replacement cost. Cost of inventories 
includes all costs associated with bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. When inventories 
are acquired at no or nominal consideration, the cost will be the current replacement cost at date of acquisition. 

The cost of inventories are assigned using a mixture of first in, first out or weighted average cost formula or using 
specific identification of their individual costs. 

Inventory held for distribution are regularly assessed for obsolescence and loss. 
 

14. OTHER ASSETS 
 
(a) Agency as a lessor 
Leases under which the agency assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are classified 
as finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases.  
 
Subleases are classified by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, rather than by reference to 
the underlying asset. A sublease is an arrangement where the underlying asset is re-leased by a lessee (intermediate 
lessor) to another party, and the lease (head lease) between the head lessor and original lessee remains in effect. 
 
Finance leases 
At the lease commencement date, the entity recognises a receivable for assets held under a finance lease in its 
statement of financial position at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The net investment in leases is 
classified as financial assets amortised cost and equals the lease payments receivable by a lessor and the unguaranteed 
residual value, plus initial direct costs, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease Initial direct costs. 
 
Finance income arising from finance leases is recognised over the lease term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant 
periodic rate of return on the lessor’s net investment in the lease. 
 
The agency does not have any finance lease or sublease arrangements. 
 
Operating leases 
An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis 
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of comprehensive income due to its operating nature. 
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
underlying asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are 
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned. 
 
The agency owns a parcel of land where a portion of this is leased to a tenant under a peppercorn operating lease 
arrangement with a lease expiry of December 2023. 

 
(b) Contract cost asset 
Costs to obtain a contract are expensed where goods and services will be transferred within one year or less and only 
capitalised if deemed material. Territory Government employee costs that satisfy the criteria for recognition as a cost 
to fulfil a contract are not capitalised and expensed immediately. Other costs to fulfil a contract are accounted for as 
a contract cost asset if deemed material. For the 2020-21 reporting period, no costs were capitalised as a contract 
cost asset.  
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 2021 
$’000 

Land  
At Fair Value 107,361 
 107,361 
Buildings  
At Fair Value 131,533 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (67,422) 
 64,111 
Infrastructure  
At Fair Value 115,066 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (62,115) 
 52,951 
Plant and Equipment  
At Cost 17,643 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (11,021) 
 6,622 
Transport Equipment  
At Cost 8,972 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (4,147) 
 4,825 
Computer Hardware  
At Cost 32 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (23) 
 9 
Construction (WIP)  
At Capitalised Cost 453 
 453 
Right of Use of Leased Assets  
At Fair Value 74,709 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (1,802) 
 72,907 
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 309,239 
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Property, plant and equipm
ent reconciliations 

Property, plant and equipm
ent includes right-of-use assets under A

A
SB 16 Leases and service concession assets under A

A
SB 1059. Further inform

ation on right-of-use assets 
are disclosed in N

ote 16. 

A
 reconciliation of the carrying am

ount of property, plant and equipm
ent at the beginning and end of 2020-21 is set out below

: 

  
Land 

$’000 
Buildings 

$’000 
Infrastructure 

$’000 

Construction 
(W

IP) 
$’000 

Plant &
 

Equipm
ent 

$’000 
RO

U
 Leased 

A
ssets $’000 

Transport 
Equipm

ent 
$’000 

Com
puter 

H
ardw

are 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Carrying A
m

ount as at 1 
July 2020 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
 

- 

A
dditions (a) 

- 
7 

- 
- 

623 
- 

747 
- 

1,377 
D

isposals 
- 

(1) 
(28) 

- 
- 

- 
(49) 

- 
(78) 

A
dditions from

 asset 
transfers 

- 
7,258 

339 
285 

271 
- 

- 
- 

8,153 

D
epreciation and 

am
ortisation 

- 
(3,372) 

(4,436) 
- 

(1,180) 
(906) 

(809) 
(2) 

(10,705) 

A
dditions from

 asset 
transfers – M

O
G

 - D
EN

R 
2,400 

6,133 
2,762 

30 
1,581 

- 
4,521 

11 
17,438 

A
dditions from

 asset 
transfers – M

O
G

 – Parks &
 

W
ildlife 

104,961 
54,112 

54,314 
138 

5,327 
72,848 

415 
- 

292,115 

A
sset Transfers out to 

other agency 
- 

(26) 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
(26) 

Lease rem
easurem

ent 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

965 
- 

- 
965 

Carrying A
m

ount as at 30 
June 2021 

107,361 
64,111 

52,951 
453 

6,622 
72,907 

4,825 
9 

309,239 

(a) Plant and Equipm
ent is net of A

sset Clearing account 
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Acquisitions 
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other 
consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount 
attributed to that asset when initially recognised in accordance with the requirements of other accounting standards. 
All items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value, equal to or greater than $10,000 are recognised 
in the year of acquisition and depreciated as outlined below. Items of property, plant and equipment below the 
$10,000 threshold are expensed in the year of acquisition. 
The construction cost of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of materials and direct labour, and an 
appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads. 

Complex assets 
Major items of plant and equipment comprising a number of components that have different useful lives, are 
accounted for as separate assets. The components may be replaced during the useful life of the complex asset. 

Subsequent additional costs 
Costs incurred on property, plant and equipment subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable 
that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset will flow to the agency in 
future years. Where these costs represent separate components of a complex asset they are accounted for as 
separate assets and are separately depreciated over their expected useful lives. 

Construction (work in progress) 
As part of the financial management framework, the Department of Infrastructure Planning and Logistics is 
responsible for managing general government capital works projects on a whole of government basis. Therefore, 
appropriation for all the agency’s capital works is provided directly to the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and 
Logistics and the cost of construction work in progress is recognised as an asset of that department. Once completed, 
capital works assets are then transferred to the agency. 
On rare occasions amounts are transferred to agencies prior to a project being finished and will sit as works in progress 
within the agency ledger until completed and capitalised. 

Revaluations and Impairment 
Revaluation of assets 
Subsequent to initial recognition, assets belonging to the following classes of non-current assets are revalued with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of these assets does not differ materially from their fair value 
at reporting date: 
• land 
• buildings 
• infrastructure assets 
Plant and equipment asset classes are stated at historical cost less depreciation, which is deemed to equate to fair 
value.  
For right-of-use assets, the net present value of the remaining lease payments is often an appropriate proxy for the 
fair value of relevant right-of-use assets at the time of initial recognition. Subsequently, right-of-use assets are stated 
at cost less amortisation, which is deemed to equate to fair value. 
The agencies land, buildings and infrastructure assets are revalued at least once every five years. The latest 
revaluations as at 30 June 2020 were independently conducted by either Territory Property Consultants Pty Ltd or 
Colliers International. Refer to Note 25 – Fair Value Measurement of Non-Financial Assets for additional disclosures. 

Impairment of assets 
An asset is said to be impaired when the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Non-current physical and intangible agency assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis or 
whenever there is an indication of impairment. If an indicator of impairment exists, the agency determines the asset’s 
recoverable amount. The asset’s recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset’s depreciated 
replacement cost and fair value less costs to sell. Any amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss. 
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Impairment losses are recognised in the comprehensive operating statement. They are disclosed as an expense unless 
the asset is carried at a revalued amount. Where the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is 
offset against the asset revaluation surplus for that class of asset to the extent that an available balance exists in the 
asset revaluation surplus. 
In certain situations, an impairment loss may subsequently be reversed. Where an impairment loss is subsequently 
reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount. A reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement as income, unless the asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment reversal results in an increase in the asset revaluation surplus. 
Note 24 provides additional information in relation to the asset revaluation surplus. 
Agency property, plant and equipment assets were assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2021. No impairment 
adjustments were required as a result of this review. 
 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 
Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings but excluding land, have limited useful lives and are 
depreciated or amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. 
Amortisation applies in relation to intangible non-current assets with limited useful lives and is calculated and 
accounted for in a similar manner to depreciation. 
The estimated useful lives for each class of asset are in accordance with the Treasurer’s Directions, as well as an 
approved variation for specific vehicles, and are determined as follows: 
 

Class of Asset 2021 
Buildings 10 – 50 years 
Infrastructure 8 - Infinite 
Plant and Equipment 1 – 20 years 
Transport Equipment 10 – 20 years 
Computer Hardware 3 – 6 years 
Intangibles 2 – 10 years 

Assets are depreciated or amortised from the date of acquisition or from the time an asset is completed and held 
ready for use. 

The estimated useful lives disclosed above includes the useful lives of right-of-use assets under AASB 16.  For further 
detail, refer to Note 16. 
 

16. AGENCY AS A LESSEE 
The Department leases land, vehicles and office equipment, specifically multi-function devices (MFD). MFD leases 
are typically made for a fixed period of five years and vehicle lease contracts are typically made for fixed period of 
four to six years. Land leases are typically made for 99 years. All lease types may have extension options. Lease terms 
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements 
do not impose any covenants. The Department does not provide residual value guarantees in relation to leases. 
Extension and termination options are included in a number of the leases. Their terms are used to maximise 
operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of extension and termination options held are 
exercisable only by the Department and not by the respective lessor. In determining the lease term, management 
considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not 
exercise a termination option. Extension options for leases held by the Department can only be exercised subject to 
many conditions, including condition of the asset, and are therefore not included in the lease term.  
Potential future cash outflows have not been included in the lease liability because it is not reasonably certain the 
leases will be extended (or not terminated). The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change 
in circumstances occurs that affects this assessment and is within the control of the lessee.  
The Department has elected to recognise payments for short-term leases and low value leases as expenses on a 
straight-line basis, instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability. Short-term leases are leases with a 
lease term of 12 months or less with no purchase option. Low value assets are assets with a fair value of $10,000 or 
less when new and not subject to a sublease arrangement.  
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Right-of-use asset 
The following table presents right-of-use assets included in the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment 
at Note 15. 

 Land 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Balance as at 1 July 2020 - - 
Right-of-use assets transferred in due to the Machinery of Government 
restructure 

72,848 72,848 

Lease remeasurement 965 965 
Amortisation expense (906) (906) 
Carrying amount as at 30 June 2021 72,907 72,907 

 
The following amounts were recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ending 30 June 2021 
in respect of leases where the agency is the lessee: 

 2021 
$’000 

Amortisation expense of right-of-use assets 906 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,533 
Expense relating to low-value assets 16 
Intergovernmental leases 3,222 
Total amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement 5,677 

 

Recognition and measurement (under AASB 16 from 1 July 2019) 
The agency assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
The agency recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use 
the underlying assets, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. 
The agency recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (the date the underlying asset is 
available for use). Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the amount of initial measurement of the lease liability, 
adjusted by any lease payments made at or before the commencement date and lease incentives, any initial direct 
costs incurred, and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the asset or restoring the site. 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful 
lives of the assets, as follows: 

Class of Asset 2021 
Land 26 – 99 years 

The right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at fair value which approximates costs except for those arising 
from leases that have significantly below-market terms and conditions principally to enable the agency to further its 
objectives and are also subject to impairment. 
The right-of-use assets are subject to remeasurement principles consistent with the lease liability including indexation 
and market rent review that approximates fair value and only revalued where a trigger or event may indicate their 
carrying amount does not equal fair value. 
 

Inter-governmental leases 
The agency applies the inter-governmental leases recognition exemption as per the Treasurer’s Direction – Leases 
and recognise these as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. These largely relate to the lease of 
motor vehicles from NT Fleet. Leases of commercial properties for office accommodation are centralised with the 
Department of Corporate and Digital Development (DCDD). Consequently all lease liabilities and right-of-use assets 
relating to these arrangements are recognised by DCDD and not disclosed within these financial statements. 
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17. INTANGIBLES 
 2021 

$’000 
Carrying Amounts  
Intangibles with a Finite Useful Life  
Computer Software  
At Cost 2,514 
Less: Accumulated Amortisation (1,840) 
Total Intangibles 674 

Impairment of intangibles 
Agency intangible assets were assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2021. No impairment adjustments were required 
as a result of this review. 
 
Reconciliation of movements 

 2021 
$’000 

Intangibles with a Finite Useful Life  
Carrying Amount at 1 July - 
Transfers in due to Machinery of Government restructure 978 
Less Accumulated Amortisation (304) 
Carrying Amount as at 30 June 674 

 

18. DEPOSITS HELD 
 2021 

$’000 
Deposits held 297 
Accountable Officers Trust Account (AOTA) 349 
Natural Heritage Trust 463 
Lodgment Fees Held 1 
Other Clearing Accounts 159 
Total Deposits Held 1,269 

 
  

109ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 | DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT, PARKS AND WATER SECURITY



19. PAYABLES 
 2021 

$’000 
Accounts payable 637 
Accrued expenses 2,374 
Total Payables 3,011 

 
Liabilities for accounts payable and other amounts payable are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the 
consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the agency. Accounts 
payable are normally settled within 20 days from receipt of valid of invoices under $1 million or 30 days for invoices 
over $1 million. 
 

20. BORROWINGS AND ADVANCES 
 2021 

$’000 
Current  
Lease liabilities 368 
  
Non-Current  
Lease liabilities 73,632 
  
Total Borrowings and Advances 74,000 

 
Borrowings and advances are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in net 
result when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process. 
 
Lease liabilities 
At the commencement date of the lease where the agency is the lessee, the agency recognises lease liabilities 
measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. Lease payments include: 

• fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable 
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate 
• amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees 
• exercise price of a purchase options reasonably certain to be exercised by the agency 
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the entity exercising the option to 

terminate. 
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, which is generally the case for the agency’s leases, the Northern Territory Treasury Corporation’s 
institutional bond rate is used as the incremental borrowing rate. 
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and 
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a 
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (such as changes to future payments resulting 
from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option 
to purchase the underlying asset. 
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The following table presents liabilities under leases for 2020-21 

 2021 
$’000 

Balance at 1 July 2020 - 
Transfers in due to MOG restructure 73,395 
Lease remeasurement 965 
Interest expense 1,533 
Interest paid on lease liabilities (1,533) 
Finance lease payments (360) 
Balance at 30 June 2021 74,000 

The agency had total cash outflows for leases of $1.89 million in 2020-21. 
 

21. PROVISIONS 
 2021 

$’000 
Current  
Employee Benefits  

Recreation Leave 6,554 
Leave Loading 942 
Other Employee Benefits 45 

Other Current Provisions  
Superannuation 572 
Payroll Tax 476 
Other Provisions 92 

Total Provisions 8,682 

The agency employed 971 employees as at 30 June 2021. 
 
Employee benefits 
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the reporting 
date. These benefits include wages and salaries and recreation leave. Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, 
recreation leave and other employee benefit liabilities that fall due within twelve months of reporting date are 
classified as current liabilities and are measured at amounts expected to be paid. Non-current employee benefit 
liabilities that fall due after twelve months of the reporting date are measured at present value, calculated using the 
government long-term bond rate. 

No provision is made for sick leave, which is non-vesting, as the anticipated pattern of future sick leave to be taken 
is less than the entitlement accruing in each reporting period. 

Employee benefit expenses are recognised on a net basis in respect of the following categories: 
• wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, recreation leave, sick leave and other leave  entitlements. 
• other types of employee benefits. 

As part of the financial management framework, the Central Holding Authority assumes the long service leave 
liabilities of government agencies, including the Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security, and as such 
no long service leave liability is recognised in agency financial statements. 
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Superannuation 
Employees’ superannuation entitlements are provided through the: 

• Northern Territory Government and Public Authorities Superannuation Scheme (NTGPASS); 
• Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme (CSS); or 
• non-government employee nominated schemes for those employees commencing on or after 10 August 

1999. 

The agency makes superannuation contributions on behalf of its employees to the Central Holding Authority or non-
government employee nominated schemes. Superannuation liabilities related to government superannuation schemes 
are held by the Central Holding Authority and therefore not recognised in agency financial statements. 
 

22. OTHER LIABILITIES 
 2021 

$’000 
Current  
Unearned contract revenue 394 
  
Non-Current  
Unearned contract revenue 78 
Unearned other revenue 100 
Total Other Liabilities 572 

 

Unearned contract revenue 
Unearned contract revenue relates to consideration received in advance from customers in respect of various external 
funding agreements where the services are yet to be provided. 

The agency anticipates to recognise as revenue, any liabilities for unsatisfied obligations as at the end of the reporting 
period in accordance with the time bands below: 

 

2021 
$000 

Not later than one year 394 
Later than one year and not later than five years  178 
Later than five years - 
Total 572 
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23. COMMITMENTS 
Commitments are those contracted as at 30 June where the amount of the future commitment can be reliably 
measured.  
Disclosures in relation to capital and other commitments are detailed below. 
 

 2021 

Other Expenditure Commitments 
Internal NTG 

$’000 
External Non-NTG 

$’000 
Other non-cancellable expenditure commitments not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows: 
Within one year 2,684 7,003 
Later than one year and not later than five years - 10,266 
 2,684 17,269 

 

24. RESERVES 
Asset revaluation surplus 
The asset revaluation surplus includes the net revaluation increments and decrements arising from the revaluation of 
non-current assets. Impairment adjustments may also be recognised in the asset revaluation surplus. 

 

 Land Buildings Infrastructure Total 

Movements in the asset revaluation surplus 
2021 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Balance as at 1 July - - - - 
Transfers in due to MOG restructure 94,599 (5,540) 3,221 92,280 
Balance at 30 June  94,599 (5,540) 3,221 92,280 

 

25. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. 

Fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use. The highest and best use takes into account the use of the asset that is physically 
possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. 

When measuring fair value, the valuation techniques used maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and 
reliable observable inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities. 

Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being 
valued. Observable inputs used by the agency include, but are not limited to, published sales data for land and general 
office buildings. 

Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgments that are not available publicly, but are relevant to the 
characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued. Such inputs include internal agency adjustments to observable 
data to take account of particular and potentially unique characteristics/functionality of assets/liabilities and 
assessments of physical condition and remaining useful life.  

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within 
the following fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used: 

Level 1 – inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2 – inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly 

Level 3 – inputs are unobservable. 
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The fair value of financial instruments is determined on the following basis: 
• the fair value of cash, deposits, advances, receivables and payables approximates their carrying amount, which 

is also their amortised cost 
• the fair value of derivative financial instruments are derived using current market yields and exchange rates 

appropriate to the instrument and 
• the fair value of other monetary financial assets and liabilities is based on discounting to present value the 

expected future cash flows by applying current market interest rates for assets and liabilities with similar risk 
profiles. 

 
(a) Fair value hierarchy 
The agency does not recognise any financial assets or liabilities at fair value as these are recognised at amortised cost. 
The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities approximates their fair value.  

The table below presents non-financial assets recognised at fair value in the balance sheet categorised by levels of 
inputs used to compute fair value. 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Total Fair 

Value 

 
2021 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Land (Note 15) - 2,400 104,961 107,361 
Buildings (Note 15) - - 64,111 64,111 
Infrastructure (Note 15) - - 52,951 52,951 
Plant and Equipment (Note 15) - - 6,622 6,622 
Transport Equipment (Note 15) - - 4,825 4,825 
Computer Hardware (Note 15) - - 9 9 
Construction (WIP) (Note 15) - - 453 453 
Intangibles (Note 17) - - 674 674 
Total - 2,400 234,606 237,006 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Levels 2 or 3 during 2020-21. 
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(b) Valuation techniques and inputs 
Valuation techniques used to measure fair value in 2020-21 are: 
 

Asset Classes Level 2 Technique Level 3 Technique 
Land Market Market 
Buildings - Cost 
Infrastructure - Cost 
Plant and Equipment - Cost 
Transport Equipment - Cost 
Computer Hardware - Cost 
Construction (WIP) - Cost 
Intangibles - Cost 

 
The Department’s land, building and infrastructure are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the 
date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, 
including any additions or modifications.  
The latest revaluation of land, buildings and infrastructure asset classes was performed by Territory Property 
Consultants Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2020. The next revaluation will take place in 2024-25. 
Level 2 fair values of land were determined based on market evidence of sales price per square metre of comparable 
land. 

Level 3 fair values of specialised buildings and infrastructure were determined by computing their current replacement 
costs because an active market does not exist for such facilities. The current replacement cost was based on a 
combination of internal records of the historical cost of the facilities, adjusted for contemporary technology and 
construction approaches. Significant judgement was also used in assessing the remaining service potential of the 
facilities, given local environmental conditions, projected usage, and records of the current condition of the facilities. 
 
(c) Additional information for level 3 fair value measurements 
 
(i) Reconciliation of recurring Level 3 fair value measurements of non-financial assets 
 

2020-21 
Buildings 

$’000 
Infrastructure 

$’000 

Plant and 
Equipment 

$’000 

Transport 
Equipment 

$’000 

Computer 
Hardware 

$’000 

Construction 
(WIP) 
$’000 

Intangibles 
$’000 

Fair Value as at 1 July 2020 - - - - - - - 
Additions 7 - 623 747 - - 387 
Disposals (1) (28) - (49) - - - 
Additions from Asset 
Transfers 7,258 339 271 - - 285 - 

Depreciation and 
Amortisation (3,372) (4,436) (1,180) (809) (2) - (304) 

Disposals from Asset 
Transfers out (26) - - - - - - 

Additions from Asset 
Transfers in due to MOG 60,245 57,076 6,908 4,936 11 168 591 

Fair Value as at 30 June 
2021 64,111 52,951 6,622 4,825 9 453 674 
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(ii) Sensitivity analysis 
Unobservable inputs used in computing the fair value of buildings and infrastructure include the historical cost and 
the consumed economic benefit for each asset. Given the large number of assets, it is not practical to compute a 
relevant summary measure for the unobservable inputs. In respect of sensitivity of fair value to changes in input value, 
a higher historical cost results in a higher fair value and greater consumption of economic benefit lowers fair value. 
 

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity.  
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when the agency becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The agency’s financial instruments include cash and deposits; 
receivables; deposits held, payables, and lease liabilities.  
Due to the nature of operating activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statutory 
obligations rather than a contract. Such financial assets and liabilities do not meet the definition of financial 
instruments as per AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. These include statutory receivables arising from 
taxes including GST and penalties.  
The Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security has limited exposure to financial risks as discussed below. 

Exposure to interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk, price risk and liquidity risk arise in the normal course 
of activities. The NT Government’s investments, loans and placements, and borrowings are predominantly managed 
through the Northern Territory Treasury Corporation (NTTC) adopting strategies to minimise the risk. Derivative 
financial arrangements are also utilised to manage financial risks inherent in the management of these financial 
instruments. These arrangements include swaps, forward interest rate agreements and other hedging instruments to 
manage fluctuations in interest or exchange rates. 
 
(a) Categories of financial instruments 
The carrying amounts of the agencies financial assets and liabilities by category are disclosed in the table below: 
 

2020-21 Amortised Cost Other Total 
$’000 $’000 $’000 

Cash and deposits - 8,472 8,472 
Receivables (a) 1,538 - 1,538 
Total Financial Assets 1,538 8,472 10,010 
    
Deposits held 1,269 - 1,269 
Payables (a) 637 - 637 
Lease liabilities 74,000 - 74,000 
Total Financial Liabilities 75,906 - 75,906 

(a) Total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts and accrued contract revenue 
 

Categories of financial instruments 
The agency’s financial instruments are classified in accordance with AASB 9. 
Financial assets are classified under the following categories: 

• amortised cost 
• Fair Value Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) 
• Fair Value Through Profit and Loss (FVTPL). 
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Financial liabilities are classified under the following categories: 
• amortised cost 
• Fair Value Through Profit and Loss (FVTPL). 

These classification are based on the agency’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual 
terms of the cash flows. Where assets are measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or 
loss, or other comprehensive income.  
Financial instruments are reclassified when and only when the agency’s business model for managing those assets 
changes. 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash 
flows are solely payment of principal and interest. 

Financial assets at amortised cost 
Financial assets are classified at amortised cost when they are held by the agency to collect the contractual cash flows 
and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.  
These assets are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less impairment. The agency’s financial assets categorised at amortised cost include receivables, and 
advances paid. 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
Financial assets are classified at fair value through other comprehensive income when they are held by the agency to 
both collect contractual cash flows and sell the financial assets, and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest.  
These assets are initially and subsequently recognised at fair value. Changes in the fair value are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses and interest income which are 
recognised in the operating result in the comprehensive operating statement. When financial assets are derecognised, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to the 
comprehensive operating statement. 
For equity instruments elected to be categorised at FVOCI, changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 
income are not reclassified to profit or loss on derecognition of the asset. Dividends from such instruments continue 
to be recognised in the comprehensive operating statement as other income when the agency’s right to receive 
payments is established. 
The agency does not have any financial assets under this category. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
Financial assets are classified at FVTPL where they do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI. These assets 
are initially and subsequently recognised at fair value with gains or losses recognised in the net result for the year. 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  
The agency’s financial liabilities categorised at amortised cost include all accounts payable, deposits held, and lease 
liabilities. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
Financial liabilities are classified at FVTPL when the liabilities are either held for trading or designated as FVTPL. 
Financial liabilities classified at FVTPL are initially and subsequently measured at fair value with gains or losses 
recognised in the net result for the year. 
For financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, changes in the fair value of the liability attributable to changes in the 
agency’s credit risk are recognised in other comprehensive income, while remaining changes in the fair value are 
recognised in the net result. 
The agency does not have any financial liabilities under this category. 
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Derivatives 
The agency may enter into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate risk. 
The agency does not speculate on trading of derivatives. 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered in to and are subsequently 
remeasured at their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the comprehensive 
operating statement immediately unless the derivative is designated and qualifies as an effective hedging instrument, 
in which event, the timing of the recognition in the comprehensive operating statement depends on the nature of the 
hedge relationship. Application of hedge accounting will only be available where specific designation and 
effectiveness criteria are satisfied.  
 

Netting of swap transactions 
The agency, from time to time, may facilitate certain structured finance arrangements, where a legally recognised 
right to set-off financial assets and liabilities exists, and the Territory intends to settle on a net basis. Where these 
arrangements occur, the revenues and expenses are offset and the net amount is recognised in the comprehensive 
operating statement. 
 

(b) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation.  
The agency has limited credit risk exposure (risk of default). In respect of any dealings with organisations external to 
Government, the agency has adopted a policy of only dealing with credit worthy organisations and obtaining sufficient 
collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. 
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, 
represents the agency’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral or 
other security obtained. 
Credit risk relating to receivables is disclosed in Note 12. 
 

(c) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The agency’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities when they 
fall due. This is achieved by ensuring that minimum levels of cash are held in the agency bank account to meet various 
current employee and supplier liabilities. The agency’s exposure to liquidity risk is minimal. Cash injections are 
available from the Central Holding Authority in the event of one-off extraordinary expenditure items arise that 
deplete cash to levels that compromise the agency’s ability to meet its financial obligations. 
The following tables detail the agency’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities, calculated based on 
undiscounted cash flows at reporting date. The undiscounted cash flows in these tables differ from the amounts 
included in the balance sheet which are based on discounted cash flows. 
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2021 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities 
 

2020-21 

Carrying 
amount 

Less than a 
year 

1 to 5 
years 

More than 5 
years 

 
Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Deposits held 1,269 1,269 - - 1,269 

Payables 637 637 - - 637 

Lease liabilities 74,000 1,894 7,574 145,794 155,262 

Total financial liabilities 75,906 3,800 7,574 145,794 157,168 
 
(d) Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. It comprises interest rate risk, price risk and currency risk.  
(i) Interest rate risk 
The Department has no exposure to interest rate risk as all financial assets and financial liabilities, with the exception 
of the Gift Funds and finance leases held are non-interest bearing. Interest earned on the Gift Funds is accounted for 
as both an asset and a liability, therefore changes to the variable rates of 100 basis points (1 percent) at reporting 
date would have had no effect on the Department’s profit or loss and equity. Finance lease arrangements are 
established on a fixed interest rate and therefore do not expose the Department to interest rate risk. 
(ii) Price risk 
The Department is not exposed to price risk as it does not hold units in unit trusts. 
(iii) Currency risk 
The Department is not exposed to currency risk as the department does not hold borrowings denominated in foreign 
currencies or transactional currency exposures arising from purchases in a foreign currency. 
 

27. RELATED PARTIES 
(i) Related parties 
The Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security is a government administrative entity and is wholly owned 
and controlled by the Territory Government. Related parties of the Department include: 

• the portfolio ministers and key management personnel (KMP) because they have authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the agency directly 

• close family members of the portfolio minister or KMP including spouses, children and dependents  
• all public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of government financial 

statements 
• any entities controlled or jointly controlled by the KMP’s or the portfolio minister, or controlled or jointly 

controlled by their close family members. 

(ii) Key management personnel 
Key management personnel of the Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security are those persons having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Department Environment, Parks 
and Water Security. These include the Minister for Environment, Minister for Climate Change, Minister for Water 
Security, Minister for Parks and Rangers, the Chief Executive Officer and the 9 members of the Governance Board of 
the Department Environment, Parks and Water Security as listed in Appendix 1. 

(iii) Remuneration of key management personnel 
The details below excludes the salaries and other benefits of the Minister for Environment, Parks and Water Security 
as the Minister’s remunerations and allowances are payable by the Department of the Legislative Assembly and 
consequently disclosed within the Treasurer’s annual financial statements. 
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The aggregate compensation of key management personnel of the Department of Environment, Parks and Water 
Security is set out below: 
 

 2021 
$’000 

Short-term benefits 2,107 
Post-employment benefits 172 

Termination benefits - 
Total 2,279 

 

(iv) Related party transactions 
Transactions with Northern Territory Government controlled entities 
The Department’s primary ongoing source of funding is received from the Central Holding Authority in the form of 
output and capital appropriation and on-passed Commonwealth national partnership and specific purpose payments. 

The following table provides quantitative information about related party transactions entered into during the year 
with all other Northern Territory Government controlled entities. 
 

2020-2021 
 
 
Related Party 

Revenue 
from related 

parties 
2021 
$’000 

Payments 
to related 

parties 
2021 
$’000 

Amounts owed 
by related 

parties 
2021 
$’000 

Amounts owed 
to related 

parties 
2021 
$’000 

All NTG Government departments 1,616 19,161 199 657 
 
Significant transactions with other government entities are made up of the following: $7.6 million to Territory 
Wildlife Parks, $3.6 million to NT Fleet and $2.9 million to the Department of Treasury and Finance.  
 
Other related party transactions  
Given the breadth and depth of Territory Government activities, related parties will transact with the Territory public 
sector in a manner consistent with other members of the public including paying stamp duty and other government 
fees and charges and therefore these transactions have not been disclosed. All other related party transactions in 
excess of $10,000 have been provided in the tables below. 

2020-2021 
 
 
Transaction Type 

Transaction value  
for year ended  
30 June 2021   

$’000 

Net receivable /  
(payable) as at  
30 June 2021 

$’000 

Commitments as at 
30 June 2021                 

$’000 
Staff employment 177 - - 

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or received. No 
expense has been recognised in the current year for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related 
parties.  
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28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS 
 
(a) Contingent liabilities 
The department had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021. 
 
(b) Contingent assets 
The department had no contingent assets as at 30 June 2021. 
 

29. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE SHEET DATE 
No events have arisen between the end of the financial year and the date of this report that require adjustment to, 
or disclosure in these financial statements. 
 

30. ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER’S TRUST ACCOUNT 
In accordance with section 7 of the Financial Management Act 1995, an Accountable Officer’s Trust Account has been 
established for the receipt of money to be held in trust.  A summary of activity is shown below: 

Nature of Trust Money 
 

Opening 
Balance 

1 July 2020 
$’000 

Transfers in 
due to MOG 

$’000 
Receipts 

$’000 
Payments 

$’000 

Closing Balance 
30 June 2020 

$’000 
Security deposits - 131 15 - 146 

Other money - 17 210 (24) 203 
Total Accountable Officer’s Trust 
Accounts - 148 225 (24) 349 
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31. SCHEDULE OF ADMINISTERED TERRITORY ITEMS 
The following Territory items are managed by the Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security on behalf 
of the Government and are recorded in the Central Holding Authority (refer Note 2(e). 

 2021 
$’000 

Territory Income and Expenses  

Income  
Fees from regulatory services 165 
Royalties and rents 5,004 
Total Income 5,169 
  
Expenses  
Central Holding Authority income transferred 5,039 
Doubtful debts 130 
Total Expenses 5,169 
  
Territory Income Less Expenses - 
  
Territory Assets and Liabilities  

Assets  
Royalties and rent receivable 96 
Other receivables 9 
Total Assets 105 
  
Liabilities  
Central Holding Authority income payable 105 
Total Liabilities 105 
  
Net Assets - 
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32. BUDGETARY INFORMATION 
 

Comprehensive Operating Statement 2020-21 
Actual 
$’000 

2020-21 
Original 

Budget (a) 
$’000 

Variance 
$’000 Note 

Income     
Grants and subsidies revenue     

Current 3,154 1,871 1,283 1 
Appropriation     

Output 93,646 97,575 (3,929) 2 
Sales of goods and services 2,379 3,517 (1,138) 3 
Goods and services received free of charge 12,067 13,174 (1,107) 4 
Gain on disposal of assets - 10 (10)  
Other income 1,215 105 1,110 5 

Total Income 112,461 116,252 (3,791)  

     

Expenses     

Employee expenses 55,786 55,453 (333)  
Administrative expenses     

Purchase of goods and services 21,968 29,774 7,806 6 
Property management 4,029 - (4,029) 6 
Depreciation and amortisation 11,009 9,921 (1,088) 7 

Other administrative expenses 12,299 13,174 875 8 
Grants and subsidies expenses     

Current 5,828 5,608 (220)  
  Community Service Obligations 7,676 10,456 2,780 9 

Loss on disposal of assets 5 - (5)  
Interest expenses 1,533 1,513 (20)  
Total Expenses 120,133 125,899 5,766  

     

Net Deficit (7,672) (9,647) 1,975  

     

Other Comprehensive Income     

Changes in asset revaluation reserve - - -  

     

Comprehensive Result (7,672) (9,647) 1,975  

(a) Original budget amounts correspond to those disclosed in the NTG Budget 2020-21 BP3 Agency Budget Statements 
(November 2020), classified on a basis that is consistent with the presentation and classification adopted in these financial 
statements. 

Notes 
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than $0.5 million. 
1. Increase in current grants income is due to additional external grant program funding sourced. 
2. Decrease in output appropriation is primarily the result of the transfer of the Territory Wildlife Parks repairs and maintenance 

budget to the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics for the Territory Wildlife Parks critical infrastructure capital 
works program and appropriation being pushed out to forward years for multiyear projects. Offset by additional appropriation 
for unforeseen and unbudgeted events. 

3. Decrease for sales of goods and services is primarily due to lower than anticipated Parks revenue, largely a result of COVID-
19 border restrictions. 

4. Decrease in goods and services received free of charge income is primarily due to lower than anticipated notional charges from 
the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics (DIPL) for the departments repairs and maintenance program. 

5. Increase in other income primarily comprises of assets acquired at nil consideration and other recoveries from initiatives which 
were not incorporated in the budget. 
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6. Decrease in purchases of goods and services primarily due to budget carryovers for work to be completed in future years and 
the continued reduction of fieldwork due to COVID-19.  Property management costs were not separately identified in the 
original budget. 

7. The increase in depreciation and amortisation is related to the increase in depreciable assets held by the agency. 
8. Decrease in other administrative expenses is due the lower than anticipated notional charges (see Note 4) offset by expensed 

work in progress amounts unable to be capitalised. 
9. Decrease in Community Service Obligations is the result of the transfer of funding for the Territory Wildlife Parks critical 

infrastructure capital works program to the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics (DIPL). 
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Balance Sheet 2020-21 
Actual 
$’000 

2020-21 
Original 

Budget(a) 
$’000 

Variance 
$’000 Note 

Assets     

Current Assets     

Cash and deposits 8,472 3,209 5,263 1 
Receivables 2,967 2,647 320  
Inventories 190 226 (36)  

Total Current Assets 11,629 6,082 5,547  

     

Non-Current Assets     

Property, plant and equipment 309,239 304,467 4,772 2 
Intangibles 674 331 343  

Total Non-Current Assets 309,913 304,798 5,115  

     

Total Assets 321,542 310,880 10,662  

     

Liabilities     

Current Liabilities     

Deposits held 1,269 1,322 53  
Payables 3,011 2,886 (125)  
Borrowings and advances 368 356 (12)  
Provisions 8,682 8,329 (353)  
Other liabilities 394 50 (344)  
Total Current Liabilities 13,724 12,943 (781)  

     

Non-current Liabilities     

Borrowings and advances 73,632 72,683 (949) 3 
Other liabilities 178 145 (33)  
Total Current Liabilities 73,810 72,828 (982)  
     
Total Liabilities 87,534 85,771 (1,763)  

     

Net Assets 234,008 225,109 8,899  

     

Equity     

Capital 302,603 398,830 (96,227)  

Asset revaluation surplus 92,280 92,280 -  

Accumulated funds (160,875) (266,001) 105,126  

Total Equity 234,008 225,109 8,899  

(a) Original budget amounts correspond to those disclosed in the NTG Budget 2020-21 BP3 Agency Budget Statements 
(November 2020), classified on a basis that is consistent with the presentation and classification adopted in these financial 
statements. 

Notes 
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than $0.5 million. 

1. Increase in cash and deposits primarily due to the department’s comprehensive result for the year including budget 
carryovers for work to be completed in future years.  

2. Increase in property, plant and equipment is a result of new assets being transferred, completion of minor new works, and 
capital purchases.  

3. Variance against non-current borrowing and advances is due to lease remeasurements performed during the financial year. 
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Cash Flow Statement 2020-21 
Actual 
$’000 

2020-21 
Original 

Budget(a) 
$’000 

Variance 
$’000 Note 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities     

Operating Receipts     
Grants and subsidies received     

Current 3,154 1,871 1,283 1 
Appropriation     

Output 93,646 97,575 (3,929) 2 
Receipts from sales of goods and services 5,683 3,569 2,114 3 
Total Operating Receipts 102,483 103,015 (532)  
Operating Payments     
Payments to employees (54,993) (55,742) 749 4 
Payments for goods and services (28,608) (29,645) 1037 5 
Grants and subsidies paid     

Current (5,828) (5,608) (220)  
Community Service Obligations (7,676) (10,456) 2,780 6 

Deposits paid (55) - (55)  
Total Operating Payments (97,160) (101,451) 4,291  
Net Cash (Used In)/From Operating Activities 5,323 1,564 3,759  
Cash Flows from Investing Activities     
Investing Receipts     
Proceeds from asset sales 73 10 63  
Total Investing Receipts 73 10 63  
Purchases of assets (1,631) (3,162) 1,531 7 
Total Investing Payments (1,631) (3,162) 1,531  
Net Cash (Used In)/From Investing Activities (1,558) (3,152) 1,594  
Cash Flows from Financing Activities     
Financing Receipts     
Capital appropriations 2,047 2,585 (538) 8 
Equity Transfers in due to MOG 4,579 4,081 498  
Total Financing Receipts 6,626 6,666 (40)  
Financing Payments     
Finance lease payments (360) (356) (4)  
Interest payments (1,533) (1,513) (20)  
Equity transfers out (26) - (26)  
Total Financing Payments (1,919) (1,869) (50)  
Net Cash From Financing Activities 4,707 4,797 (90)  
     

Net increase in cash held 8,472 3,209 5,263  
Cash at beginning of financial year - - -  
Cash at End of Financial Year 8,472 3,209 5,263  

(a) Original budget amounts correspond to those disclosed in the NTG Budget 2020-21 BP3 Agency Budget Statements 
(November 2020), classified on a basis that is consistent with the presentation and classification adopted in these financial 
statements. 
Notes 
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than $0.5 million. 
1. Increase in current grants income is due to additional external grant program funding sourced. 
2. Decrease in output appropriation is primarily the result of the transfer of the Territory Wildlife Parks repairs and maintenance 

budget to the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics for the Territory Wildlife Parks critical infrastructure capital 
works program and appropriation being pushed out to forward years for multiyear projects. Offset by additional appropriation 
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for unforeseen and unbudgeted events. 
3. Increase for receipts from sales of goods and services is primarily due to GST refunded which is not included in the budget. 
4. Payments to employees were under budget due to the reduction in fieldwork as a result of COVID-19, vacancies held, and the 

carryover for work to be completed in future years. 
5. Decrease in purchases of goods and services primarily due to budget carryovers for work to be completed in future years and 

the continued reduction of fieldwork due to COVID-19. 
6. Decrease in Community Service Obligations is the result of the transfer of funding for the Territory Wildlife Parks critical 

infrastructure capital works program to the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics (DIPL). 
7. Decrease in purchase of assets is in relation to transferring $1m from capital appropriation to output appropriation along with 

delays in the procurement for the capital items program. 
8. Decrease in capital appropriation is primarily a result of transferring $1m from capital appropriation to output appropriation. 

 

33. BUDGETARY INFORMATION: ADMINISTERED TERRITORY 
ITEMS 

In addition to the specific department operations which are included in the financial statements, the Department of 
Environment, Parks and Water Security administers or manages other activities and resources on behalf of the 
Territory such as rent and Environmental Protection Licenses. The transactions relating to these activities are reported 
as administered items in this note. 

The department does not gain control over assets arising from these collections, consequently no income is 
recognised in the agency’s financial statements. The transactions relating to these activities are reported as 
administered items in this note. 
 

  
2020-21 

Actual 
$’000 

2020-21 
Original 
Budget 

$’000 

 
 

Variance 
$’000 

Territory Income And Expenses    
Income     

Fees from regulatory services 165 110 55 
Royalties and rents 5,004 5,063 (59) 
Total Income 5,169 5,173 (4) 
    
Expenses     

Central Holding Authority income transferred 5,039 5,173 134 
Doubtful debts 130 - (130) 
Total Expenses 5,169 5,173 4 
    
Territory Income Less Expenses - - - 
    
Territory Assets And Liabilities    
Assets     

Royalties and rent receivable 96 247 (151) 
Other receivables 9 34 (25) 
Total Assets 105 281 (176) 
    
Liabilities     

Central Holding Authority income payable 105 266 161 
Unearned Central Holding Authority income - 15 15 
Total Liabilities 105 281 176 
    
Net Assets - - - 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
TERRITORY WILDLIFE PARKS
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OVERVIEW  
This section of the report provides an analysis of the financial activities of Territory Wildlife Parks for the year 
ended 30 June 2021. Territory Wildlife Parks is a Government Business Division (GBD) responsible for managing 
the Territory Wildlife Park (TWP) at Berry Springs and the Alice Springs Desert Park (ASDP). As a GBD, Territory 
Wildlife Parks are required to pay the full cost of resources used (including tax equivalents), set efficient prices 
based on costs, and operate under appropriate commercial accounting and management structures.  

The key responsibility of both Parks’ is to showcase the Northern Territory’s unique flora and fauna in a natural 
environment that is educational, interactive and interesting for both the visiting public as a tourist attraction and as 
a community asset. The park experience enables people to understand, respect and enjoy the Territory’s natural 
environment. 

 

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
During the year both parks realised significant operational efficiencies and, whilst managing the impact of COVID-
19 on parks visitor numbers, were forecast to improve on their prior years operating position.  

In 2020-21, the GBD reported a net operating loss of $2.2 million, or an adjusted profit of $0.3 million prior to 
charging non-cash depreciation. This compares to a budgeted profit before depreciation of $0.3 million. The 
operating profit can be contributed to:  

• Commonwealth Government Supporting Australia's Exhibiting Zoos and Aquariums affected by COVID-19 
restrictions 

• Efficiencies found within operating expenses, partially offsetting insufficient revenue to meet staffing costs 
negotiated through the NTPS Enterprise Bargaining Agreement (EBA). 

 

 

NET OPERATING RESULT SUMMARY 2020-21 
TWP  
$M 

ASDP  
$M 

TOTAL 
$M 

Income 5.9 5.2 11.0 
Expenses (7.2) (6.0) (13.2) 
Net Profit / (Loss) (1.3) (0.8) (2.2) 
Net Profit / (Loss) Before Deprecation 0.1 0.2 0.3 

 

  

11.2
12.5

11.2
10.1 11 10.9

14
15.3 15

13.6 13.2 13

(0.8) (0.8) (1.6) (1.1) 0.3 0.3 

2016-17 ACTUAL 2017-18 ACTUAL 2018-19 ACTUAL 2019-20 ACTUAL 2020-21 ACTUAL 2020-21 BUDGET

OPERATING RESULT
$M

INCOME EXPENSES NET OPERATING RESULT (BEFORE DEPRECIATION)
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COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT 
INCOME 

 

Territory Wildlife Parks’ primary source of income is from the Northern Territory Government in the form of a 
Community Service Obligation (CSO) payment. The CSO payment allows Government to achieve identifiable 
community and social objectives that would not be achieved if outcomes were purely commercially delivered.  

The non-commercial functions carried out by the Territory Wildlife Parks include maintaining assets to a standard to 
assist in tourism development and growth, supporting biodiversity through captive breeding of endangered rare and 
threatened species, enhancing education of school children through teaching the benefits of the natural 
environment, and management of a Central Australian botanic gardens. 

The income received of $11 million in 2020-21 was $0.1 million higher than budget and $0.9 million higher than the 
prior year.  The increase in revenue over the prior year is predominantly due to commonwealth funding received for 
supporting Australia’s Exhibiting Zoos and Aquariums affected by COVID-19 restrictions. 

The impact of COVID-19 on operations continues to be seen in the significant reduction in visitors, with only  
88 800 visitors received in 2019-20 and 96 800 visitors received in 2020-21, although recovering slightly with a 9% 
increase on visitor numbers from 2019-20 it is a large decline from 2018-19 year where a total of 126 856 visitors 
were recorded. 

  

$7.7M

$1.7M $0.2M

$0.3M

$0.3M

$0.8M

2020-21 Income by Source

Community Service Obligation Entry fees
Park Tours, Functions & Camp Fees Café & Gift Shop
Other Commonwealth Revenue

$11M

130 ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 | DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT, PARKS AND WATER SECURITY



The table below shows the five-year trend for income sources, with a comparison of actual and budget income for 
2020-21. It shows a steady source of income up until 2019-20 with the impact of COVID-19 restrictions negatively 
impacting revenue. With the aid of Commonwealth grant funding, the parks were able to continue to operate in 
unprecedented times. 

INCOME TYPE 

ACTUAL 
2016-17 

$M 

ACTUAL 
2017-18 

$M 

ACTUAL 
2018-19 

$M 

ACTUAL 
2019-20 

$M 

ACTUAL 
2020-21 

$M 

BUDGET 
2020-21 

$M 
Community Service Obligation 7.8 9.2 7.9 7.7 7.7 7.7 
Commonwealth Grants - - - - 0.8 0.7 
Entry Fees 2.1 2.1 2.1 1.7 1.7 1.7 
Park Tours, Functions and Camp Fees 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.2 0.2 0.4 
Café & Gift Shop 0.7 0.6 0.6 0.3 0.3 0.3 
Other 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.1 
Total Income 11.2 12.5 11.2 10.1 11.0 10.9 
       
Visitor Numbers 133 327 124 888 126 856 88 880 96 800  
Entry Fee Per Visitor $15.59 $16.65 $16.81 $19.30 $18.24  

 

EXPENSES 

 

 

Operating the Territory Wildlife Parks in 2020-21 cost $13.2 million, which was $0.18 million more than budget and 
$0.4 million less than the 2019-20 actual result. 

  

$7.1M

$1M

$2.2M$0.4M

$2.5M

2020-21 Expenses by Source

Employee Property Management
Purchase of Goods and Services Repairs and Maintenance
Deprecation

$13.2M
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Employee Expenses 

Employee costs of $7.1 million represent 54% of total expenditure. 2020-21 employee expenses decreased by 3% 
and were $0.2 million less than the prior year. The reduction was largely due to the management of casual staffing 
requirements partially offset by staff pay rises as negotiated under the NTPS EBA. 

Property Management Expenses 

Property management costs are $1 million, comprising 7% of total expenditure. Property management costs have 
remained fairly constant over the past five years reflecting the semi-fixed nature of the costs.  Costs were $0.1 
million less than budget and slightly less than the prior year actuals. 

Purchase of Goods and Services 

The purchase of goods and services to operate the Parks’ represents 17% of total expenditure at a cost of $2.2 
million. Which was in line with budget and only $0.1 million less than the prior year. 

Repairs and Maintenance Expenses 

Repairs and maintenance expenses of $0.4 million represents 3% of total expenditure. Costs were $0.1 million less 
than budget. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is the allocation of an asset’s cost over its useful life. In 2020-21, depreciation was $0.1 million higher 
than budget and $0.1 million higher than that of the prior year. This increase is a result of the $0.9 million increase 
to Buildings and Infrastructure assets revaluation in 2019-20 and new asset additions. 

 

The table below shows the five-year trend of actual expenditure by type, and budget expenses for 2020-21. The 
trend highlights the impact of COVID-19 on the Parks and the good management and practises that are assisting to 
recognise efficiencies and savings to ensure that the Parks’ are viable and profitable into the future.  

EXPENSE TYPE 

ACTUAL 
2016-17 

$M 

ACTUAL 
2017-18 

$M 

ACTUAL 
2018-19 

$M 

ACTUAL 
2019-20 

$M 

ACTUAL 
2020-21 

$M 

BUDGET 
2020-21 

$M 
Employee Expenses 7.2 7.6 7.9 7.3 7.1 6.8 
Property Management 1.1 1.1 1.2 1.0 1.0 1.0 
Purchases of Goods and Services 3.1 3.1 3.0 2.4 2.2 2.2 
Repairs and Maintenance 0.6 1.4 0.7 0.5 0.4 0.6 
Depreciation 2.0 2.1 2.2 2.4 2.5 2.4 
Total Expenses 14.0 15.3 15.0 13.6 13.2 13.0 
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BALANCE SHEET 

The Balance Sheet provides a summary of Territory Wildlife Parks’ balances at the end of the financial year for 
assets, liabilities and equity. The balances reported are the net worth to Government of the Parks’ asset holdings 
(what is owned) against liabilities (what is owed). 

The five-year trend for net assets / equity is as follows: 

 

ACTUAL 
2016-17 

$M 

ACTUAL 
2017-18 

$M 

ACTUAL 
2018-19 

$M 

ACTUAL 
2019-20 

$M 

ACTUAL 
2020-21 

$M 
Assets 39.4 39.3 37.8 37.6 35.9 
Liabilities (1.3) (0.2) (1.3) (2.0) (2.0) 
Net Assets / Equity 38.1 39.1 36.5 35.6 33.9 

 

Assets 

The Territory Wildlife Parks maintain a significant asset base, with $35.9 million in controlled assets as at  
30 June 2021.  

The largest asset group is physical buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment with a value of  
$35 million.  

Movements in the value of the asset base during the year relates to: 

• $2.5 million in depreciation; offset by 
• $0.5 million capitalised completed Works In Progress 
• $0.2 million recognition of transport finance leases in line with accounting standards. 

The balance of assets consists of: 

• $0.7 million of cash balances, representing cash held in a financial institution, gift fund accounts, and cash 
floats. 

• $0.2 million receivables and accrued revenue representing the amount that is owed to the Parks for goods 
and services provided and delivered. 

Liabilities 

Territory Wildlife Park’s liabilities totalled $2.0 million as at 30 June 2021. 

• Provisions for employee entitlements of $1.0 million, such as recreation leave, leave loading and leave fares 
to reflect the cost in present day dollars of employee entitlements to be paid in the future. 

• Lease liability recognised as a result of changes to accounting standards for $0.7 million. 
• payables of $0.2 million, representing the amount owing to creditors for goods and services purchased and 

received. 
• Deposits held of $0.1 million, being money held in the TWP gift fund account, and money held on behalf of 

third parties for charity collections. 

Equity  

Equity as at 30 June 2021 was $33.9 million, a decrease in net worth of $1.7 million from the previous year. 

This result is a combination of: 

• $2.2 million operating loss reported for 2020-21. 
• $0.5 million transferred in from Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics for completed building 

and infrastructure works. 
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CASHFLOW STATEMENT  

The cash flow statement provides information on how cash was received and spent during the year. The figures in 
the cash flow statement vary to those in the comprehensive operating statement as the cash flow statement only 
includes cash transactions.  

The comprehensive operating statement includes non-cash items such as depreciation, non-cash adjustments for 
employee entitlements and notional charges for services received free of charge from Department of Corporate and 
Digital Development and Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics.  

The Parks’ cash balances were $0.8 million at 30 June 2021. The cash flows are summarised as follows: 

 Actual 
2016-17 

$M 

Actual 
2017-18 

$M 

Actual 
2018-19 

$M 

Actual 
2019-20 

$M 

Actual 
2020-21 

$M 
Cash In      
Operating receipts 11.5 12.9 11.6 10.5 11.3 
Equity injections  0.9 0.8 1.4 1.4 - 
 12.4 13.7 13.0 11.9 11.3 
Cash Out      
Operating payments (12.2) (13.7) (13.1) (11.5) (11.1) 
 (12.2) (13.7) (13.1) (11.5) (11.1) 
      
Net increase/ ( decrease) in cash held 0.2 - (0.1) 0.3 - 
Cash at beginning of financial year 0.4 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.8 
      
Cash at End of Financial Year 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.8 0.8 
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Auditor-General 
Independent Auditor's Report 

to the Minister for Parks and Rangers 
Territory Wildlife Parks 

Page 1 of 2 
Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial report of Territory Wildlife Parks, which comprises the 
balance sheet as at 30 June 2021, and the comprehensive operating statement, statement of changes 
in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes, and the certification of the financial statements by the Chief Executive 
Officer. 

In my opinion, the financial report gives a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the financial 
position of Territory Wildlife Parks as at 30 June 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
section of my report. I am independent of Territory Wildlife Parks in accordance with the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to my 
audit of the financial report in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion. 

Other Information 
The Chief Executive Officer of the Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security is responsible 
for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
overview preceding Territory Wildlife Parks' financial statement for the year ended 30 June 2021, but 
does not include the financial report and my auditor's report thereon. 

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly I do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or 
my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer for the Financial Report 
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and for such internal control as the Chief Executive 
Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report 
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the ability of Territory Wildlife 
Parks to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate Territory 
Wildlife Parks or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Level 9 Northern Territory House 22 Mitchell Street Darwin 0800 Tel: 08 8999 7155 
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CERTIFICATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT  
For the year ended 30 June 2021 

 Note 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Income    
Grants and subsidies revenue    

Current 4a 759 - 
Community Service Obligations 4a 7,676 7,660 

Sales of goods and services 4b 2,353 2,238 
Interest revenue  3 9 
Gain on disposal of assets 5 8 - 
Other income  4c 243 204 
Total Income 3 11,042 10,111 
    
Expenses    
Employee expenses  7,072 7,321 
Administrative expenses    

Property management  943 996 
Purchases of goods and services 6 2,209 2,338 
Repairs and maintenance  434 513 
Depreciation and amortisation 14 2,518 2,385 
Other administrative expenses 

 14 14 
Interest expense 7 11 8 
Total Expenses  13,201 13,575 
    
Net Deficit Before Tax  (2,159) (3,464) 
    
Income Tax Expense  - - 
    
Net Deficit After Tax  (2,159) (3,464) 
    
Other Comprehensive Income – Net of Income Tax    
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 21 - 863 
Total Other Comprehensive Income  - 863 
    
Comprehensive Operating Result  (2,159) (2,601) 

The Comprehensive Operating Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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BALANCE SHEET 
As at 30 June 2021 
 

 Note 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Assets    
Current Assets    

Cash and deposits 9 754 759 
Receivables 11 175 82 
Inventories 12 40 33 

Total Current Assets  969 874 
    
Non-Current Assets    

Property, plant and equipment 14 34,963 36,779 
Total Non-Current Assets  34,963 36,779 
    
Total Assets  35,932 37,653 
    
Liabilities    
Current Liabilities    

Deposits held 16 84 103 
Payables 17 175 243 
Borrowings and advances 18 188 171 
Provisions 19 973 990 

Total Current Liabilities  1,420 1,507 
    
Non-Current Liabilities    
Borrowings and advances 18 554 505 
Total Non-Current Liabilities  554 505 
    
Total Liabilities  1,974 2,012 
    
Net Assets  33,958 35,641 
    
Equity    
Capital  34,533 34,057 
Asset revaluation surplus 21 38,696 38,696 
Accumulated funds  (39,271) (37,112) 
Total Equity  33,958 35,641 

The Balance Sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
 

2020-21 

Note 

Equity at 
1 July 
$’000 

Comprehensive 
Result 
$’000 

Transactions with 
owners in their 

capacity as owners 
$’000 

Equity at 30 
June 

$’000 
Accumulated Funds  (37,112) (2,159) - (39,271) 
      
Reserves      
Asset revaluation surplus 21 38,696 - - 38,696 
      

Capital - Transactions with Owners     
Equity injections      

Capital appropriation  19,085 - - 19,085 
Equity transfers in  10,945 - 476 11,421 
Other equity injections  9,800 - - 9,800 

Equity withdrawals      
Capital Withdrawal  (3,359) - - (3,359) 
Equity transfers out  (2,414) - - (2,414) 

  34,057 - - 34,533 
      
Total Equity at 30 June  35,641 (2,159) 476 33,958 

 
 

2019-20 

Note 

Equity at 
1 July 
$’000 

Comprehensive 
Result 
$’000 

Transactions with 
owners in their 

capacity as owners 
$’000 

Equity at 30 
June 

$’000 
Accumulated Funds  (33,648) (3,464) - (37,112) 
      
Reserves      
Asset revaluation surplus 21 37,833 863 - 38,696 
      

Capital - Transactions with Owners     
Equity injections      

Capital appropriation  19,085 - - 19,085 
Equity transfers in  10,638 - 307 10,945 
Other equity injections  8,400 - 1,400 9,800 

Equity withdrawals      
Capital Withdrawal  (3,359) - - (3,359) 
Equity transfers out  (2,414) - - (2,414) 

  32,350 - 1,707 34,057 
      
Total Equity at 30 June  36,535 (2,601) 1,707 35,641 

The Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 
statements. 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 

 Note 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities    
Operating Receipts    
Grants and subsidies received    
  Current   759 - 
  Community Service Obligations  7,676 7,660 
Receipts from sales of goods and services  2,833 2,837 
Deposits received  - 4 
Interest received  3 9 
Total Operating Receipts  11,271 10,510 
Operating Payments    
Payments related to employees  (7,113) (7,247) 
Payments for goods and services  (3,953) (4,246) 
Deposits paid  (19) - 
Total Operating Payments  (11,085) (11,493) 
Net Cash Generated from/(Used In) Operating Activities 10 186 (983) 
    
Cash Flows From Investing Activities    
Investing Receipts    
Proceeds from asset sales 5 10 - 
Total Investing Receipts  10 - 
Total Investing Payments  - - 
Net Cash Generated from Investing Activities  10 - 
    
Cash Flows From Financing Activities    
Financing Receipts    
Equity injections    

Other equity injections  - 1,400 
Total Financing Receipts  - 1,400 
Financing Payments    
Interest paid on lease liabilities 18 (11) (8) 
Lease liabilities payments 18 (190) (129) 
Total Financing Payments  (201) (137) 
    
Net Cash Generated (Used in)/from Financing Activities  (201) 1,263 
Net (decrease)/increase in cash held  (5) 280 
Cash at beginning of financial year  759 479 
Cash at End of Financial Year 9 754 759 

The Cash Flow Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
1. Objectives and Funding 
2. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies 
3. Segment Information 
 
Income 
4. Revenue 
5. Gain on Disposal of Assets 
 
Expenses 
6. Purchases of Goods and Services 
7. Interest Expenses 
8. Write-offs, Postponements, Waivers, Gifts and Ex Gratia Payments 
 
Assets 
9. Cash and Deposits 
10. Cash flow Reconciliation 
11. Receivables 
12. Inventories 
13. Other Assets 
14. Property, Plant and Equipment 
15. Entity as Lessee 
 
Liabilities 
16. Deposits Held 
17. Payables 
18. Borrowings and Advances 
19. Provisions 
20. Commitments 
 
Equity 
21. Reserves 
 
Other Disclosures 
22. Fair Value Measurement of Non-Financial Assets 
23. Financial Instruments 
24. Related Parties 
25. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
26. Events Subsequent to Balance Sheet Date 
27. Accountable Officers Trust Account 
28. Budgetary Information 
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1. OBJECTIVES AND FUNDING 
Territory Wildlife Parks (“the Entity”) is a government business division responsible for managing the Territory Wildlife 
Park at Berry Springs and the Alice Springs Desert Park. A key responsibility of both Parks is to showcase the Northern 
Territory’s unique flora and fauna in a natural environment that is interactive and interesting for the visiting public, 
provide recreational opportunities, and promote biodiversity conservation principles. The Parks experience enables 
people to understand, respect and enjoy the Territory’s natural environment. 
Territory Wildlife Parks, established under the Financial Management Act 1995, is subject to the direction of the 
Minister for Parks and Rangers. Territory Wildlife Parks is dependent on funding from the Northern Territory 
Government in recognition that it carries out activities on a non-commercial basis. Such funding is termed as 
‘Community Service Obligation’ (CSO) and this funding is reflected in the Comprehensive Operating Statement (also 
refer to Note 4). 

These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis in the expectation that such funding will continue. 
 

2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(a) Statement of compliance 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 
1995 and related Treasurer’s Directions. The Financial Management Act 1995 requires Territory Wildlife Parks to 
prepare financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021 based on the form determined by the Treasurer. The 
form of Territory Wildlife Parks’ financial statements should include: 

(i) a certification of the financial statements 
(ii) a comprehensive operating statement 
(iii) a balance sheet 
(iv) a statement of changes in equity 
(v) a cash flow statement and 
(vi) applicable explanatory notes to the financial statements. 

 

(b) Basis of accounting 
The financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, which recognises the effect of 
financial transactions and events when they occur, rather than when cash is paid out or received.  
Except where stated, the financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with the historical cost 
convention. 
The form of Territory Wildlife Parks’ financial statements is also consistent with the requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standards. The effects of all relevant new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are effective for the current annual reporting period have been 
evaluated. 
Standards and interpretations effective from 2020-21 
Several amending standards and AASB interpretations have been issued that apply to the current reporting periods, 
but are considered to have no impact on public sector reporting. 
Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 
No Australian accounting standards have been early adopted for 2020-21.  
Several other amending standards and AASB interpretations have been issued that apply to future reporting periods 
but are considered to have limited impact on public sector reporting. 
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(c) Reporting entity 
The financial statements cover Territory Wildlife Parks as an individual reporting entity. 
Territory Wildlife Parks is a Government Business Division established under the Financial Management Act 1995. 
 
The principal places of business of Territory Wildlife Parks are: 
 
Territory Wildlife Park 
Cox Peninsula Road 
BERRY SPRINGS NT 0838 
 
Alice Springs Desert Park 
871 Larapinta Drive 
ALICE SPRINGS NT 0871 
 

(d) Comparatives 
Where necessary, comparative information for the 2019-20 financial year has been reclassified to provide consistency 
with current year disclosures. 
 

(e) Presentation and rounding of amounts 
Amounts in the financial statements and notes to the financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and have 
been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, with amounts of $500 or less  being rounded down to zero. Figures in 
the financial statements and notes may not equate due to rounding. 
 

(f) Changes in accounting policies 
There have been no changes to accounting policies adopted in 2020-21 as a result of management decisions. Any 
changes in policies relating to COVID-19 are disclosed in (j) below. 
 

(g) Accounting judgements and estimates 
The preparation of the financial report requires the making of judgements and estimates that affect the recognised 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
Judgements and estimates that have significant effects on the financial statements are disclosed in the relevant notes 
to the financial statements. 
 

(h) Goods and services tax 
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the 
amount of GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO). 
In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the ATO is included as part of receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash 
flows. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable or payable unless 
otherwise specified. 
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(i) Taxation 
Territory Wildlife Parks is required to pay income tax on its accounting profit, excluding extraordinary items, at the 
company rate of 30 per cent in accordance with the requirements of the Treasurer’s Directions and the NT Tax 
Equivalent Regime.  Territory Wildlife Parks does not have a present income tax liability as it has incurred a loss for 
income tax purposes and has not taken to account any future income tax benefits arising from this loss as the potential 
future income tax benefit is not probable. 
The future income tax benefits will only be realised if: 

(i) Territory Wildlife parks derives future assessable income of a nature and amount sufficient to enable the 
benefit to be realised 

(ii) Territory Wildlife Parks continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by the Treasurer’s 
Directions, and  

(iii) There are not changes to the NT Tax equivalent regime that adversely affect Territory Wildlife Parks.  
 

(j) Impact of COVID-19 
 
Due to state lockdowns and border restrictions there have been fewer visitors to Territory Wildlife Parks across the 
2020-21 financial year which has impacted the government business division’s comprehensive result. 
 

(k) Income 
Income encompasses both revenue and gains. 
Income is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, exclusive of the amount of GST. Exchange of 
goods or services of the same nature and value without any cash consideration being exchanged are not recognised 
as income. 
Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset. 
 

(l) Prepayments 
Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods and services or that part of expenditure made in one 
accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period. 
 

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
Territory Wildlife Parks operates two major parks, which are its reportable segments. Information related to each 
reportable segment is set out below: 
 

 Territory Wildlife 
Park 

Alice Springs Desert 
Park 

Territory Wildlife 
Parks 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Revenue 5,882 5,228 5,160 4,883 11,042 10,111 
Net Deficit (1,331) (2,306) (828) (1,158) (2,159) (3,464) 
Assets 13,358 14,577 21,605 22,202 34,963 36,779 
Unallocated Assets - - - - 969 874 
Unallocated Liabilities - - - - (1,974) (2,012) 

Property, plant and equipment is allocated to reportable segments. All other assets and liabilities are not reported by 
segment. 
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4. REVENUE 
 
(a) Grants and subsidies revenue  

2021 2020 
 Revenue 

from 
contracts 

with 
customers Other Total 

Revenue 
from 

contracts 
with 

customers Other Total  
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Current grants and subsidies - 759 759 - - - 
Community Service Obligations - 7,676 7,676 - 7,660 7,660 
Total grants and subsidies revenue - 8,435 8,435 - 7,660 7,660 

 
Grant revenue, passed on from Territory Government-controlled entity with the exception of the Central Holding 
Authority, is recognised upfront on receipt, irrespective of which revenue accounting standard it may fall under in 
accordance with the Treasurer’s Direction on income. 
Community Service Obligations (CSO) funding is received from the Department of Environment, Parks and Water 
Security (DEPWS) where Territory Wildlife Parks is required to carry out activities on a non-commercial basis and is 
recognised upfront on receipt. 
 
(b) Sales of goods and services  

2021 2020 
 Revenue 

from 
contracts 

with 
customers Other Total 

Revenue 
from 

contracts 
with 

customers Other Total  
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Sales of goods and services 2,353 - 2,353 2,238 - 2,238 
Total sales of goods and services 2,353 - 2,353 2,238 - 2,238 

 

Sale of goods  
Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when Territory Wildlife Parks satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring the promised goods, including various gift shop items and consumable goods from the café. Territory 
Wildlife Parks typically satisfies its performance obligations when the customer has made payment as Territory 
Wildlife Parks has a right to payment at point of sale, and the customer has taken physical possession of the item. 
Payments are made upfront at time of purchase. 
Revenue from these sales are based on the retail price on display in the café and gift shop respectively, and revenue 
is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable a significant reversal will not occur. There is no element of 
financing present as payment is made up front with no credit terms. 

 

Rendering of services 
Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when Territory Wildlife Parks satisfies the performance obligation 
by transferring the promised services. Territory Wildlife Parks provides access to visitors to experience and enjoy the 
Territory’s unique flora and fauna in a natural environment that is educational and interactive. Visitors are provided 
access to all exhibits and can further purchase guided tours or experiences within the parks. Territory Wildlife Parks 
typically satisfies its performance obligations once the customer pays the entry fee, enters the park and has access to 
enjoy the activities and displays on offer. 
Revenue from contracts with customers have been disaggregated below into categories to enable users of these 
financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of income and cash flows. These 
categories include a description of the type of product or service line, type of customer and timing of transfer of 
goods and services. These categories include a description of the type of product or service line, type of customer 
and timing of transfer of goods and services. 
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 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Type of good and service:   
Sales of inventory 328 286 
Visitor services 2,025 1,952 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service 2,353 2,238 
   
Type of customer:   
Australian government entities - 1 
State and territory governments 66 46 
Non-government entities 2,287 2,191 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer 2,353 2,238 
   
Timing of transfer of goods and services:   
Point in time 2,353 2,238 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer 2,353 2,238 

 
(c) Other income  
  

2021 2020 
 Revenue 

from 
contracts 

with 
customers Other Total 

Revenue 
from 

contracts 
with 

customers Other Total  
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Staff accommodation rent - 93 93 - 99 99 
Other Income - 150 150 - 105 105 
Total other income - 243 243 - 204 204 

 
Rental income for provision of staff accommodation is recognised upfront on receipt, with payments due to Territory 
Wildlife Parks in arrears. 
 

5. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 
 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Net proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets 10 - 
Less: Carrying value of non-current assets disposed (4) - 
Gain on the Disposal of Non-Current Assets 6 - 
Proceeds from sale of minor assets 2 - 
Total gain on the disposal of assets 8 - 
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6. PURCHASES OF GOODS AND SERVICES 
The net deficit has been arrived at after charging the following expenses: 
 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Consultants 1 7 8 
Advertising 2 31 59 
Marketing and promotion 3 15 30 
Document production 2 3 
Legal expenses 4 1 12 
Recruitment 5  13 3 
Training and study 16 26 
Official duty fares 2 3 
Travelling allowance 2 1 
Information technology charges and communications 340 357 
Audit and other service 26 28 
Insurance 134 138 
Motor Vehicle expenses 356 343 
Corporate support by external agencies 682 704 
Other 582 623 
Total Purchases of Goods and Services 2,209 2,338 

1 Includes marketing, promotion and IT consultants. 
2 Includes marketing and promotion advertising but does not include recruitment advertising 
3 Excludes advertising for marketing and promotion which is incorporated under advertising and excludes marketing and promotion 
consultants’ expenses, which are incorporated in the consultants’ category; 
4 Includes legal fees, claim and settlement costs. 
5 Includes recruitment-related advertising costs. 
 

Purchases of goods and services generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations, 
including supplies and service costs recognised in the reporting period in which they are incurred. 
 

Repairs and maintenance expenses 
Costs associated with repairs and maintenance works on Territory Wildlife Parks’ assets are expensed as incurred. 

 

7. INTEREST EXPENSE 
 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Interest from lease liabilities 11 8 
Total Interest Expense 11 8 

 
Interest expenses consist of interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. It includes 
interest on lease liabilities.  
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8. WRITE-OFFS, POSTPONEMENTS, WAIVERS, GIFTS AND EX 
GRATIA PAYMENTS 

 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 No. of 
Trans $’000 No. of 

Trans 

Write-offs, Postponements and Waivers under the Financial Management 
Act 1995     

Represented by:     
Amounts written off, postponed and waived by Delegates     
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Entity written off - - 5 1 
Public property written off - - - 6 
Total Written Off, Postponed and waived by Delegates - - 5 7 
Amounts written off, postponed and Waived by the Treasurer     
Write-offs, postponements and waivers due to COVID-19 - - 3 2 
Total Written Off, Postponed and Waived by Treasurer - - 3 2 

 

9. CASH AND DEPOSITS 
 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Cash on hand 7 13 
Cash at bank 747 746 
Total Cash and Deposits 754 759 

For the purposes of the balance sheet and the cash flow statement, cash includes cash on hand, cash at bank and cash 
equivalents. Cash equivalents are highly liquid short-term investments that are readily convertible to cash, of which 
the Entity has none. Cash on hand includes floats and petty cash. Cash at bank includes monies held in the 
Accountable Officer’s Trust Account (AOTA) that are ultimately payable to the beneficial owner. 
 

10. CASH FLOW RECONCILIATION 
 

(a) Reconciliation of cash 
The total of Territory Wildlife Parks cash and deposits of $754,000 recorded in the balance sheet is consistent with 
that recorded as ‘cash’ in the cash flow statement. 

  

149ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 | DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT, PARKS AND WATER SECURITY



 

Reconciliation of net deficit to net cash from operating activities 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 
$’000 

Net (Deficit) (2,159) (3,464) 
   
Non-Cash Items:   

Depreciation and amortisation 2,518 2,385 
Gain on sale of fixed assets (6) - 
Repairs and maintenance non cash 26 8 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 11 8 

Changes in assets and liabilities:   
(Increase)/Decrease in receivables (93) 71 
(Increase) in inventories (7) (12) 
(Decrease)/Increase in deposits held (19) 4 
(Decrease) in payables (68) (28) 
(Decrease)/Increase in employment benefits (13) 35 
(Decrease)/Increase in other provisions (4) 10 

Net Cash Generated/(Used) In Operating Activities 186 (983) 

 
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 
 

Cash Flows - Borrowings and Advances 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Balance at 1 July 676 - 
Recognition of Lease Liabilities on Initial Adoption of AASB16 - 309 
Adjusted balance as at 1 July 676 309 
Lease liabilities repayments (190) (129) 
Total cash flows (190) (129) 
Additional lease liabilities 256 496 
Balance at 30 June 742 676 

 
(c) Non-cash financing and investing activities 
 
Lease transactions 
During the financial year, the entity recorded right-of-use assets for the lease of vehicles with an aggregate value of 
$736,000 (2020: $805,000). 
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11. RECEIVABLES 
 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Accounts receivable 39 11 
Less: Loss allowance (26) (10) 
 13 1 
Contract Receivables 56 13 
Less: Loss allowance (4) (6) 
 52 7 
   
GST receivables 22 43 
   
Prepayments 24 20 
Other receivables 64 11 
Total Receivables 175 82 

Receivables are initially recognised when the Entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument 
and are measured at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Receivables include contract 
receivables, accounts receivable, accrued contract revenue and other receivables. 
Receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairments. 
Accounts receivable, contract receivables, and other receivables are generally settled within 30 days of due date.  The 
loss allowance reflects lifetime expected credit losses and represents the amount of receivables the Entity estimates 
are likely to be uncollectible and are considered doubtful. 

Accrued contract revenue 
Accrued contract revenue arises from contracts with customers where the Entity’s right to consideration in exchange 
for goods transferred to customers or works completed have arisen but have not been billed at the reporting date. 
Once the Entity’s right to payment becomes unconditional, usually on issue of an invoice, accrued contract revenue 
balances are reclassified as contract receivables. Accrued revenue that does not arise from contracts with customers 
are reported as part of other receivables. 

Credit risk exposure of receivables 
Receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure that exposure to bad debts is not significant. The Entity 
applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses. This approach recognises a loss allowance based 
on lifetime expected credit losses for all accounts receivables, contracts receivables and accrued contract revenue. 
To measure expected credit losses, receivables have been grouped based on shared risk characteristics and days past 
due.  
The expected loss rates are based on historical observed loss rates, adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking 
information. 
In accordance with the provisions of the FMA, receivables are written-off when there is no reasonable expectation 
of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery includes a failure to make contractual 
payments for a period greater than 90 days past due. 
The loss allowance for receivables as at the reporting date is disclosed below. 
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Loss allowance for receivables 
 

 2021 2020 

 

Gross 
receivables 
$’000 

Loss rate 
% 

Expected 
credit 
losses 
$’000 

Net 
receivables 
$’000 

Gross 
receivables 
$’000 

Loss rate 
% 

Expected 
credit 
losses 
$’000 

Net 
receivables 
$’000 

Internal 
receivables         

Not overdue 1 1% - 1 1 - - 1 
Overdue for less 
than 30 days - - - - - - - - 

Overdue for 30 
to 60 days - - - - - - - - 

Overdue for 
more than 60 
days 

- - - - - - - - 

Total internal 
receivables 1 - - 1 1 - - 1 

         
External 
receivables         

Not overdue 47 0% - 47 1 100% 1 - 
Overdue for less 
than 30 days 2 6% - 2 9 100% 9 - 

Overdue for 30 
to 60 days 12 25% 3 9 3 33% 1 2 

Overdue for 
more than 60 
days 

33 80% 27 6 10 50% 5 5 

Total external 
receivables 94 32% 30 64 23 70% 16 7 

  

The loss rates have been calculated using unrounded figures which may differ to rounded values. 
 

Reconciliation of loss allowance for receivables 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

External receivables   
Opening balance 16 7 
Written off during the year - (5) 
Increase in allowance recognised in profit or loss 14 14 
Total external receivables 30 16 

 

12. INVENTORIES 
 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

General inventories   
At cost 40 33 
   
Total Inventories 40 33 

Inventories include assets held either for sale (general inventories) or distribution at no or nominal consideration in 
the ordinary course of business operations  

General inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, while those held for distribution are 
carried at the lower of cost and current replacement cost. Cost of inventories includes all costs associated with 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. When inventories are acquired at no or nominal 
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consideration, the cost will be the current replacement cost at date of acquisition. 

The cost of inventories are assigned using a mixture of first in, first out or weighted average cost formula or using 
specific identification of their individual costs. 

Inventory held for distribution are regularly assessed for obsolescence and loss. 
 
13. OTHER ASSETS 
(a) Entity as a lessor 
Leases under which the Entity assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are classified 
as finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases.  
 
Subleases are classified by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, rather than by reference to 
the underlying asset. A sublease is an arrangement where the underlying asset is re-leased by a lessee (intermediate 
lessor) to another party, and the lease (head lease) between the head lessor and original lessee remains in effect. 

Finance leases 
At the lease commencement date, the entity recognises a receivable for assets held under a finance lease in its 
statement of financial position at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The net investment in leases is 
classified as financial assets amortised cost and equals the lease payments receivable by a lessor and the unguaranteed 
residual value, plus initial direct costs, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease Initial direct costs. 
 
Finance income arising from finance leases is recognised over the lease term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant 
periodic rate of return on the lessor’s net investment in the lease. 
 
The Entity does not have any finance lease or sublease arrangements. 

Operating leases 
An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease.  
Territory Wildlife Parks owns houses which are leased to employees under operating lease arrangements with rentals 
payable monthly. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included 
in revenue in the statement of comprehensive income, in the period in which it is earned, due to its operating nature. 
Territory Wildlife Parks recognised $93 000 of rental income in 2020-21 ($99 000 2019-20).  
Lease payments may be increased in line with the NT Residential Tenancies Act 1999 and are not subject to variation 
based on an index or rate. 
All rental agreements are ongoing periodic leases, terminating on cessation of employment or in line with other clauses 
in the agreement. Due to the unspecified lease term, future minimum rentals receivable (undiscounted) as at 30 June 
are unable to be calculated. 

Contract cost asset 
Costs to obtain a contract are expensed where goods and services will be transferred within one year or less and only 
capitalised if deemed material. Territory Government employee costs that satisfy the criteria for recognition as a cost 
to fulfil a contract are not capitalised and expensed immediately. Other costs to fulfil a contract are accounted for as 
a contract cost asset if deemed material. For the 2020-21 reporting period, no costs were capitalised as a contract 
cost asset. 
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Buildings   
At Fair Value 45,359 44,909 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (25,806) (24,759) 
 19,553 20,150 
Infrastructure   
At Fair Value 39,860 39,860 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (25,191) (23,926) 
 14,669 15,934 
Plant and Equipment   
At Cost 373 373 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (372) (372) 
 1 1 
Transport Equipment   
At Cost 1,067 822 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (331) (147) 
 736 675 
Computer Hardware   
At Cost 45 45 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (41) (26) 
 4 19 
   
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 34,963 36,779 

 

Property, plant and equipment reconciliations 
Property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets under AASB 16 Leases and service concession assets 
under AASB 1059. Further information on right-of-use assets and service concession assets are disclosed in Note 15. 

 

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of 2020-21 is set 
out below: 

 

2020-21 
Buildings 

$’000 
Infrastructure 

$’000 

Plant and 
Equipment 

$’000 

Transport 
Equipment 

$’000 

Computer 
Hardware 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Carrying Amount as at 1 July 20,150 15,934 1 675 19 36,779 

Additions - - - - - - 
Additions of right-of-use assets    246 - 246 
Disposals - - - (4) - (4) 
Depreciation expense – asset 
owned (1,047) (1,265) - - (15) (2,327) 

Depreciation expense – right-of-
use asset - - - (191) - (191) 

Additions/ (Disposals) from Asset 
Transfers 450 - - - - 450 

Lease Remeasurement - - - 10 - 10 
Carrying Amount as at 30 June  19,553 14,669 1 736 4 34,963 
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2019-20 
Buildings 

$’000 
Infrastructure 

$’000 

Plant and 
Equipment 

$’000 

Transport 
Equipment 

$’000 

Computer 
Hardware 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Carrying Amount as at 1 July 20,371 16,785 1 5 35 37,197 

Recognition of right-of-use assets 
on initial adoption of AASB16  - - - 309 - 309 

Adjusted carrying amount as at 1 
July 2019 20,371 16,785 1 314 35 37,506 

Additions - - - - - - 
Additions of right-of-use assets - - - 496 - 496 
Disposals - - - - - - 
Depreciation expense – asset 
owned (981) (1,253) - (1) (16) (2,251) 

Depreciation expense – right-of-
use asset - - - (134) - (134) 

Additions/ (Disposals) from Asset 
Transfers 149 150 - - - 299 

Revaluation increment/ 
(decrement) 611 252 - - - 863 

Carrying Amount as at 30 June  20,150 15,934 1 675 19 36,779 

 

Acquisitions 
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other 
consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount 
attributed to that asset when initially recognised in accordance with the requirements of other accounting standards. 
All items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value, equal to or greater than $10,000 are recognised 
in the year of acquisition and depreciated as outlined below. Items of property, plant and equipment below the 
$10,000 threshold are expensed in the year of acquisition. 
The construction cost of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of materials and direct labour, and an 
appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads. 
 

Complex assets 
Major items of plant and equipment comprising a number of components that have different useful lives, are 
accounted for as separate assets. The components may be replaced during the useful life of the complex asset. 
 

Subsequent additional costs 
Costs incurred on property, plant and equipment subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable 
that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset will flow to Entity in future 
years. Where these costs represent separate components of a complex asset they are accounted for as separate 
assets and are separately depreciated over their expected useful lives. 
 

Construction (work in progress) 
As part of the financial management framework, the Department of Infrastructure Planning and Logistics is 
responsible for managing general government capital works projects on a whole of government basis. Therefore, 
appropriation for most of the Entity’s capital works is provided directly to the Department of Infrastructure, Planning 
and Logistics and the cost of construction work in progress is recognised as an asset of that Department. Once 
completed, capital works assets are then transferred to the Entity. 
On rare occasions amounts are transferred to agencies prior to a project being finished and will sit as works in progress 
within the Entity’s ledger until completed and capitalised. 
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Revaluations and Impairment 
Revaluation of assets 
Subsequent to initial recognition, assets belonging to the following classes of non-current assets are revalued with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of these assets does not differ materially from their fair value 
at reporting date: 
• buildings 
• infrastructure assets 
Plant and equipment asset classes are stated at historical cost less depreciation, which is deemed to equate to fair 
value. 
For right-of-use assets, the net present value of the remaining lease payments is often an appropriate proxy for the 
fair value of relevant right-of-use assets at the time of initial recognition. Subsequently, right-of-use assets are stated 
at cost less amortisation, which is deemed to equate to fair value. These right-of-use assets are not subject to 
revaluation. 
Territory Wildlife Parks’ buildings and infrastructure assets are revalued at least once every five years. The latest 
revaluations as at 30 June 2020 were independently conducted by Colliers International. Refer to Note 22 – Fair 
Value Measurement of Non-Financial Assets for additional disclosures. 
 

Impairment of assets 
An asset is said to be impaired when the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Non-current physical and intangible Entity assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis or 
whenever there is an indication of impairment. If an indicator of impairment exists, the Entity determines the asset’s 
recoverable amount. The asset’s recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset’s depreciated 
replacement cost and fair value less costs to sell. Any amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the comprehensive operating statement. They are disclosed as an expense unless 
the asset is carried at a revalued amount. Where the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is 
offset against the asset revaluation surplus for that class of asset to the extent that an available balance exists in the 
asset revaluation surplus. 
In certain situations, an impairment loss may subsequently be reversed. Where an impairment loss is subsequently 
reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount. A reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement as income, unless the asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment reversal results in an increase in the asset revaluation surplus. 
Note 21 provides additional information in relation to the asset revaluation surplus. 
Territory Wildlife Parks’ property, plant and equipment assets were assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2021. No 
impairment adjustments were required as a result of this review. 
 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 
Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings but excluding land, have limited useful lives and are 
depreciated or amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. 
Amortisation applies in relation to intangible non-current assets with limited useful lives and is calculated and 
accounted for in a similar manner to depreciation. 
The Treasurer’s Directions provide guidance for the estimate useful lives for each class of assets as follows, and allow 
the Entity to make other estimates as necessary: 
 

Class of Asset 2021 2020 
Buildings 10 – 50 years 10 – 50 years 
Infrastructure 8 - Infinite 8 - Infinite 
Plant and Equipment 1 – 20 years 1 – 20 years 
Transport Equipment 4 - 10 years 4 - 10 years 
Computer Hardware 3 – 6 years 3 – 6 years 

Assets are depreciated or amortised from the date of acquisition or from the time an asset is completed and held 
ready for use. Assets may be constructed internally, acquired assets may have modifications and accessories installed, 
and equipment may be calibrated and tested, affecting the date the asset is held ready for use. 
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The estimated useful lives disclosed above includes the useful lives of right-of-use assets under AASB 16 and service 
concession assets under AASB 1059.  For further detail, refer to Note 15. 
 

15. ENTITY AS A LESSEE 
 
Territory Wildlife Park leases vehicles and office equipment, specifically multi-function devices (MFD). MFD leases 
are typically made for a fixed period of five years and vehicle lease contracts are typically made for fixed period of 
four to six years. All lease types may have extension options.  
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The 
lease agreements do not impose any covenants. The Entity does not provide residual value guarantees in relation to 
leases. 
Extension and termination options are included in a number of the leases. Their terms are used to maximise 
operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of extension and termination options held are 
exercisable only by the Entity and not by the respective lessor. In determining the lease term, management considers 
all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a 
termination option. Extension options for leases held by the Entity can only be exercised subject to many conditions, 
including condition of the asset, and are therefore not included in the lease term.  
Potential future cash outflows have not been included in the lease liability because it is not reasonably certain the 
leases will be extended (or not terminated). The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change 
in circumstances occurs that affects this assessment and is within the control of the lessee.  
The Entity has elected to recognise payments for short-term leases and low value leases as expenses on a straight-
line basis, instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term 
of 12 months or less with no purchase option. Low value assets are assets with a fair value of $10,000 or less when 
new and not subject to a sublease arrangement, comprising MFDs. 
 

Right-of-use asset 
The following table presents right-of-use assets included in the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment 
at Note 14. 

 2021 2020 
 Transport 

Equipment 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Transport 
Equipment 

$’000 
Total 

$’000 
Balance as at 1 July 671 671 309 309 
Additions/remeasurements 256 256 496 496 
Amortisation expense (191) (191) (134) (134) 
Carrying amount as at 30 June 736 736 671 671 

 
The following amounts were recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ending 30 June 2021 
in respect of leases where the Entity is the lessee: 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Amortisation expense of right-of-use assets (191) (134) 
Interest expense on lease liabilities (11) (8) 
Expense relating to short-term leases (237) (236) 
Expense relating to low-value leases (7) (11) 
Total amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement (446) (389) 
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Recognition and measurement (under AASB 16 from 1 July 2019) 
Territory Wildlife Park assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
The Entity recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use 
the underlying assets, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. 
Territory Wildlife Parks recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the amount of initial measurement 
of the lease liability, adjusted by any lease payments made at or before the commencement date and lease incentives, 
any initial direct costs incurred, and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the asset or restoring the site. 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful 
lives of the assets, as follows: 
 

Class of Asset 2021 2020 
Transport Equipment 4 - 6 years 4 - 6 years 

The right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at fair value which approximates costs except for those arising 
from leases that have significantly below-market terms and conditions principally to enable the Entity to further its 
objectives and are also subject to impairment. 
The right-of-use assets are subject to remeasurement principles consistent with the lease liability including indexation 
and market rent review that approximates fair value and only revalued where a trigger or event may indicate their 
carrying amount does not equal fair value. 
 

16. DEPOSITS HELD 
 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Deposits held in Gift Fund Account 78 78 
Accountable Officers Trust Account (AOTA) 6 25 
Total Deposits Held 84 103 

 

17. PAYABLES 
 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Accounts payable 5 15 
Accrued expenses 170 228 
Total Payables 175 243 

 
Liabilities for accounts payable and other amounts payable are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the 
consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Entity. Accounts 
payable are normally settled within 20 days from receipt of valid of invoices under $1 million or 30 days for invoices 
over $1 million. 
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18. BORROWINGS AND ADVANCES 
 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Current   
Lease liabilities 188 171 
 188 171 
Non-Current   
Lease liabilities 554 505 
 554 505 
Total Borrowings and Advances 742 676 

 
Borrowings and advances are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in net 
result when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process. 
 
Lease liabilities 
At the commencement date of the lease where the Entity is the lessee, the Entity recognises lease liabilities measured 
at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. Lease payments include: 

• fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable 
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate 
• amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees 
• exercise price of a purchase options reasonably certain to be exercised by the Entity 
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the entity exercising the option to 

terminate. 
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred 
to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, which is generally the case for the Entity’s leases, the Northern Territory Treasury Corporation’s 
institutional bond rate is used as the incremental borrowing rate. 
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and 
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a 
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (such as changes to future payments resulting 
from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option 
to purchase the underlying asset. 
The following table presents liabilities under leases. 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Balance at 1 July 676 309 
Additions/remeasurements 256 496 
Interest expense 11 8 
Interest paid on lease liabilities (11) (8) 
Finance lease payments (190) (129) 
Balance at 30 June 742 676 

 
Territory Wildlife Parks had total cash outflows for leases of $201,000 ($137,000 in 2019-20), made up of $190,000 
in lease payments ($129,000 in 2019-20) and $11,000 in interest on lease liabilities ($8,000 in 2019-20). 
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Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases not recorded as liability are as follows.  
 

 2021 2020 
 Internal 

NTG 
$’000 

External 
Non-NTG 

$’000 

Internal 
NTG 

$’000 

External 
Non-NTG 

$’000 
Within one year 11 - 16 - 
Later than one year and not later than five years 17 - 8 - 
Later than five years - - - - 
 28  24 - 

 

19. PROVISIONS 
 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Current   
Employee Benefits   

Recreation Leave 713 726 
Leave Loading 118 117 
Other Employee Benefits - 1 

Other Current Provisions   
Other provisions (fringe benefits, payroll tax, superannuation and other) 142 146 

Total Provisions 973 990 
 
Territory Wildlife Parks employed 107 employees as at 30 June 2021 (90 employees as at 30 June 2020). 
 
Employee benefits 
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the reporting 
date. These benefits include wages and salaries and recreation leave. Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, 
recreation leave and other employee benefit liabilities that fall due within twelve months of reporting date are 
classified as current liabilities and are measured at amounts expected to be paid. Non-current employee benefit 
liabilities that fall due after twelve months of the reporting date are measured at present value, calculated using the 
government long-term bond rate. 

No provision is made for sick leave, which is non-vesting, as the anticipated pattern of future sick leave to be taken 
is less than the entitlement accruing in each reporting period. 

Employee benefit expenses are recognised on a net basis in respect of the following categories: 
• wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, recreation leave, sick leave and other leave entitlements. 
• other types of employee benefits. 

As part of the financial management framework, the Central Holding Authority assumes the long service leave 
liabilities of government agencies, including DEPWS, and as such no long service leave liability is recognised in Entity 
financial statements. 
 
Superannuation 
Employees' superannuation entitlements are provided through the: 

• Northern Territory Government and Public Authorities Superannuation Scheme (NTGPASS); 
•  Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme (CSS); or 

• Non-government, employee nominated schemes for those employees commencing on or after 10 
August 1999.  

Territory Wildlife Parks makes superannuation contributions on behalf of its employees to the Central Holding 
Authority or non-government employee nominated schemes. Superannuation liabilities related to Government 
superannuation schemes are held by the Central Holding Authority and as such are not recognised in Territory Wildlife 
Parks’ financial statements.  
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20. COMMITMENTS 
Commitments are those contracted as at 30 June where the amount of the future commitment can be reliably 
measured.  
Disclosures in relation to capital and other commitments are detailed below. 
 

 2021 2020 

Other Expenditure Commitments 

Internal 
NTG 

$’000 

External 
Non-NTG 

$’000 

Internal 
NTG 

$’000 

External 
Non-NTG 

$’000 
Other non-cancellable expenditure commitments not 
recognised as liabilities are payable as follows: 

    

Within one year 15 815 16 823 
Later than one year and not later than five years 17 123 8 90 
 32 938 24 913 

 

21. RESERVES 
Asset revaluation surplus 
The asset revaluation surplus includes the net revaluation increments and decrements arising from the revaluation of 
non-current assets. Impairment adjustments may also be recognised in the asset revaluation surplus. 

 

Movements in the asset revaluation surplus 
2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Balance as at 1 July 38,696 37,833 
Increment – Buildings and Infrastructure - 863 
Balance as at 30 June  38,696 38,696 

 

22. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. 

Fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use. The highest and best use takes into account the use of the asset that is physically 
possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. 

When measuring fair value, the valuation techniques used maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and 
reliable observable inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities. 

Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being 
valued. Observable inputs used by the Entity include, but are not limited to, published sales data for land and general 
office buildings. 

Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that are not available publicly, but are relevant to the 
characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued. Such inputs include internal Entity adjustments to observable data 
to take account of particular and potentially unique characteristics/functionality of assets/liabilities and assessments 
of physical condition and remaining useful life.  

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within 
the following fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used: 

Level 1 – inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2 – inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly 

Level 3 – inputs are unobservable. 

The fair value of financial instruments is determined on the following basis: 
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• the fair value of cash, deposits, advances, receivables and payables approximates their carrying amount, which 
is also their amortised cost 

• the fair value of derivative financial instruments are derived using current market yields and exchange rates 
appropriate to the instrument and 

• the fair value of other monetary financial assets and liabilities is based on discounting to present value the 
expected future cash flows by applying current market interest rates for assets and liabilities with similar risk 
profiles. 

 
(a) Fair value hierarchy 
Territory Wildlife Parks does not recognise any financial assets or liabilities at fair value as these are recognised at 
amortised cost. The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities approximates their fair value.  

The table below presents non-financial assets recognised at fair value in the balance sheet categorised by levels of 
inputs used to compute fair value. 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Fair Value 

(Note 14) 
2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Buildings - - - - 19,553 20,150 19,553 20,150 
Infrastructure - - - - 14,669 15,934 14,669 15,934 
Plant and Equipment - - - - 1 1 1 1 
Transport Equipment  - - - - 736 675 736 675 
Computer Hardware - - - - 4 19 4 19 
Total - - - - 34,963 36,779 34,963 36,779 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Levels 2 or 3 during 2020-21. 
 
(b) Valuation techniques and inputs 
Valuation techniques used to measure fair value in 2020-21 are: 
 

Asset Classes Level 2  
Technique 

Level 3 
Technique 

Buildings - Cost 
Infrastructure - Cost 
Plant and Equipment - Cost 
Transport Equipment - Cost 
Computer Hardware - Cost 

 
Territory Wildlife Parks’ building and infrastructure are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the 
date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, 
including any additions or modifications. The latest revaluation of these assets was performed by Colliers International 
as at 30 June 2020. The next revaluation will take place in 2024-25. 

Level 3 fair values of predominately relate to buildings and infrastructure and were determined by computing their 
depreciated replacement costs because an active market does not exist for such facilities due to their unique and 
potential inherent restrictions upon use. The depreciated replacement cost was based on a combination of internal 
records of the historical cost of the facilities, adjusted for contemporary technology and construction approaches, the 
remaining useful life of the assets, and current condition of the assets. 
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(c) Additional information for level 3 fair value measurements 
 
(i) Reconciliation of recurring Level 3 fair value measurements of non-financial assets 
 

2020-21 
Buildings 

$’000 
Infrastructure 

$’000 

Plant and 
Equipment 

$’000 

Transport 
Equipment 

$’000 

Computer 
Hardware 

$’000 
Fair Value as at 1 July 2020 20,150 15,934 1 675 19 
Additions - - - 246 - 
Disposals - - - (4) - 
Transfer between asset class - - - - - 
Depreciation and Amortisation (1,047) (1,264)  (191) (15) 
Revaluations - - - 10 - 
Additions/ (Disposals) from Asset Transfers 450 - - - - 
Gains/losses recognised in net surplus/deficit - - - - - 

Gains/losses recognised in other 
comprehensive income  - - - - - 

Fair Value as at 30 June 2021 19,553 14,670 1 736 4 
 

2019-20 
Buildings 

$’000 
Infrastructure 

$’000 

Plant and 
Equipment 

$’000 

Transport 
Equipment 

$’000 

Computer 
Hardware 

$’000 
Fair Value as at 1 July 2019 20,371 16,785 1 5 35 
Recognition of right-of-use asset on initial 
application of AASB 16 - - - 309 - 

Adjusted fair value as at 1 July 2019 20,371 16,785 1 314 35 
Additions 149 150 - 496 - 
Depreciation and Amortisation (981) (1,253) - (135) (16) 
Gains/losses recognised in other 
comprehensive income  611 252 - - - 

Fair Value as at 30 June 2020 20,150 15,934 1 675 19 
 
(ii) Sensitivity analysis 
Unobservable inputs used in computing the fair value of buildings and infrastructure include the historical cost and 
the consumed economic benefit for each asset. Given the large number of assets, it is not practical to compute a 
relevant summary measure for the unobservable inputs. In respect of sensitivity of fair value to changes in input value, 
a higher historical cost results in a higher fair value and greater consumption of economic benefit lowers fair value. 
 

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity.  
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when the Entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. The Entity’s financial instruments include cash and deposits; receivables; 
deposits held, payables, and lease liabilities.  
Due to the nature of operating activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statutory 
obligations rather than a contract. Such financial assets and liabilities do not meet the definition of financial 
instruments as per AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. These include statutory receivables arising from 
taxes including GST and penalties.  
The Territory Wildlife Parks has limited exposure to financial risks as discussed below. 
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Exposure to interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk, price risk and liquidity risk arise in the normal course 
of activities. The NT Government’s investments, loans and placements, and borrowings are predominantly managed 
through the Northern Territory Treasury Corporation (NTTC) adopting strategies to minimise the risk. Derivative 
financial arrangements are also utilised to manage financial risks inherent in the management of these financial 
instruments. These arrangements include swaps, forward interest rate agreements and other hedging instruments to 
manage fluctuations in interest or exchange rates. 
 
(a) Categories of financial instruments 
The carrying amounts of the agencies financial assets and liabilities by category are disclosed in the table below: 
 

2020-21 Amortised Cost Other Total 
$’000 $’000 $’000 

Cash and deposits - 754 754 
Receivables (a) 65 - 65 
Total Financial Assets 65 754 819 
    
Deposits held 84 - 84 
Payables (a) 5 - 5 
Lease liabilities 742 - 742 
Total Financial Liabilities 831 - 831 

(a) Total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts and accrued contract revenue 
 

2019-20 Amortised Cost Other Total 
$’000 $’000 $’000 

Cash and deposits - 759 759 
Receivables (a) 8 - 8 
Total Financial Assets 8 759 767 
    
Deposits held 103 - 103 
Payables (a) 15 - 15 
Lease liabilities 676 - 676 
Total Financial Liabilities 794 - 794 

(a) Total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts and accrued contract revenue 
 

Categories of financial instruments 
The Entity’s financial instruments are classified in accordance with AASB 9. 
Financial assets are classified under the following categories: 

• amortised cost 
• Fair Value Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) 
• Fair Value Through Profit and Loss (FVTPL). 

Financial liabilities are classified under the following categories: 
• amortised cost 
• Fair Value Through Profit and Loss (FVTPL). 

These classification are based on the Entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual 
terms of the cash flows. Where assets are measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or 
loss, or other comprehensive income.  

  

164 ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 | DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT, PARKS AND WATER SECURITY



Financial instruments are reclassified when and only when the Entity’s business model for managing those assets 
changes. 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash 
flows are solely payment of principal and interest. 
 

Financial assets at amortised cost 
Financial assets are classified at amortised cost when they are held by the Entity to collect the contractual cash flows 
and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.  
These assets are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less impairment. The Entity’s financial assets categorised at amortised cost include receivables, and 
advances paid. 
 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
Financial assets are classified at fair value through other comprehensive income when they are held by the Entity to 
both collect contractual cash flows and sell the financial assets, and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest.  
These assets are initially and subsequently recognised at fair value. Changes in the fair value are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses and interest income which are 
recognised in the operating result in the comprehensive operating statement. When financial assets are derecognised, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to the 
comprehensive operating statement. 
For equity instruments elected to be categorised at FVOCI, changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 
income are not reclassified to profit or loss on derecognition of the asset. Dividends from such instruments continue 
to be recognised in the comprehensive operating statement as other income when the Entity’s right to receive 
payments is established. 
Territory Wildlife Parks does not have any financial assets under this category. 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
Financial assets are classified at FVTPL where they do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI. These assets 
are initially and subsequently recognised at fair value with gains or losses recognised in the net result for the year. 
 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  
Territory Wildlife Parks financial liabilities categorised at amortised cost include all accounts payable, deposits held, 
and lease liabilities. 
 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
Financial liabilities are classified at FVTPL when the liabilities are either held for trading or designated as FVTPL. 
Financial liabilities classified at FVTPL are initially and subsequently measured at fair value with gains or losses 
recognised in the net result for the year. 
For financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, changes in the fair value of the liability attributable to changes in the 
Entity’s credit risk are recognised in other comprehensive income, while remaining changes in the fair value are 
recognised in the net result. 
Territory Wildlife Parks does not have any financial liabilities under this category. 
 

Derivatives 
The Entity may enter into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate risk. 
The Entity does not speculate on trading of derivatives. 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered in to and are subsequently 
remeasured at their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the comprehensive 
operating statement immediately unless the derivative is designated and qualifies as an effective hedging instrument, 
in which event, the timing of the recognition in the comprehensive operating statement depends on the nature of the 
hedge relationship. Application of hedge accounting will only be available where specific designation and 
effectiveness criteria are satisfied.  
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Netting of swap transactions 
The Entity, from time to time, may facilitate certain structured finance arrangements, where a legally recognised right 
to set-off financial assets and liabilities exists, and the Territory intends to settle on a net basis. Where these 
arrangements occur, the revenues and expenses are offset and the net amount is recognised in the comprehensive 
operating statement. 
 

(b) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation.  
Territory Wildlife Parks has limited credit risk exposure (risk of default). In respect of any dealings with organisations 
external to Government, the Entity has adopted a policy of only dealing with credit worthy organisations and obtaining 
sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from 
defaults. 
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, 
represents the Entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral or other 
security obtained. 
Credit risk relating to receivables is disclosed in Note 11. 
 

(c) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Territory Wildlife Parks will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The Entity’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient funds to meet its 
liabilities when they fall due. This is achieved by ensuring that minimum levels of cash are held in the Entity bank 
account to meet various current employee and supplier liabilities. The Entity’s exposure to liquidity risk is minimal. 
Cash injections are available from the Central Holding Authority in the event of one-off extraordinary expenditure 
items arise that deplete cash to levels that compromise the Entity’s ability to meet its financial obligations. 
The following tables detail the Entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities, calculated based on 
undiscounted cash flows at reporting date. The undiscounted cash flows in these tables differ from the amounts 
included in the balance sheet which are based on discounted cash flows. 
 

2021 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities 
 

2020-21 

Carrying 
amount 

Less than 
a year 

1 to 5 
years 

More than 5 
years 

 
Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Deposits held 84 84 - - 84 

Payables 5 5 - - 5 

Lease liabilities 742 197 490 83 770 

Total financial liabilities 831 286 490 83 859 
 

  

166 ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 | DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT, PARKS AND WATER SECURITY



2019-20 

Carrying 
amount 

Less than 
a year 

1 to 5 
years 

More than 5 
years 

 
Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Deposits held 103 103 - - 103 

Payables 15 15 - - 15 

Lease liabilities 676 180 521 - 701 

Total financial liabilities 794 298 521 - 819 

 
(d) Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. It comprises interest rate risk, price risk and currency risk.  
(i) Interest rate risk 
Territory Wildlife Parks has no exposure to interest rate risk as all financial assets and financial liabilities, with the 
exception of the cash at bank, Gift Fund and finance leases held, are non-interest bearing. Finance lease arrangements 
are established on a fixed interest rate and therefore do not expose the Entity to interest rate risk. 
(ii) Sensitivity Analysis 
Interest earned on the Gift Fund is accounted for as both an asset and a liability, therefore changes to the variable 
rates of 100 basis points (1 percent) at reporting date would have had no effect on Territory Wildlife Parks’ profit or 
loss and equity. Change in the variable rates of 100 basis points (1 per cent) at reporting date on cash at bank would 
have the following effect on Territory Wildlife Parks’ profit or loss and equity. 
 

 

Profit or Loss and Equity 
100 Basis Points 

Increase 
$’000 

100 Basis Points 
Decrease 

$’000 
30 June 2021   
Financial Assets – cash at bank 7 (7) 
Net Sensitivity 7 (7) 
   
30 June 2020   
Financial Assets – cash at bank 7 (7) 
Net Sensitivity 7 (7) 

 
(iii) Price risk 
Territory Wildlife Parks is not exposed to price risk as it does not hold units in unit trusts. 
(iv) Currency risk 
Territory Wildlife Parks is not exposed to currency risk as the Entity does not hold borrowings denominated in foreign 
currencies or transactional currency exposures arising from purchases in a foreign currency. 
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24. RELATED PARTIES 
(i) Related parties 
The Territory Wildlife Parks is a Government Business Division (GBD) which is wholly owned and controlled by the 
Territory Government. Related parties of the Entity include: 

• the portfolio ministers and key management personnel (KMP) because they have authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Territory Wildlife Parks directly 

• close family members of the portfolio minister or KMP including spouses, children and dependents  
• all public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of government financial 

statements 
• any entities controlled or jointly controlled by the KMP’s or the portfolio minister, or controlled or jointly 

controlled by their close family members. 

(ii) Key management personnel 
Key management personnel of the Territory Wildlife Parks are those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Territory Wildlife Parks. These include the Minister for Parks 
and Rangers, the Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security’s Chief Executive Officer, members of the 
Governance Board, and the executive leadership of the Territory Wildlife Parks.  

(iii) Remuneration of key management personnel 
The details below excludes the salaries and other benefits of the Minister for Environment, Parks and Water Security 
as the Minister’s remunerations and allowances are payable by the Legislative Assembly and consequently disclosed 
within the Treasurer’s annual financial statements. 

The aggregate compensation of key management personnel of the Territory Wildlife Parks is set out below: 
 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Short-term benefits 243 240 
Long-term benefits - - 
Post-employment benefits 24 26 

Termination benefits - - 
Total 267 266 

 

(iv) Related party transactions 
Transactions with Northern Territory Government controlled entities 
Territory Wildlife Parks’ primary ongoing source of funding is a Community Service Obligation (CSO) payment 
received from the Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security. 

The following table provides quantitative information about related party transactions entered into during the year 
with all other Northern Territory Government controlled entities. 
 

2020-2021 
 
 
Related Party 

Revenue 
from related 

parties 
2021 
$’000 

Payments 
to related 

parties 
2021 
$’000 

Amounts owed 
by related 

parties 
2021 
$’000 

Amounts owed 
to related 

parties 
2021 
$’000 

All NTG Government Entities 7,746 2,218 1 75 
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2019-2020 
 
 
Related Party 

Revenue 
from related 

parties 
2020 
$’000 

Payments 
to related 

parties 
2020 
$’000 

Amounts 
owed by 

related parties 
2020 
$’000 

Amounts 
owed to 

related parties 
2020 
$’000 

All NTG Government Entities 7,705 2,301 1 89 
 
Territory Wildlife Parks has one significant transaction with other government entities which relates to a 
Community Service Obligation (CSO) payment received from the Department of Environment, Parks and Water 
Security. The remaining transactions with other government entities are not individually significant. 
 
Other related party transactions  
Given the breadth and depth of Territory Government activities, related parties will transact with the Territory public 
sector in a manner consistent with other members of the public including paying stamp duty and other government 
fees and charges and therefore these transactions have not been disclosed. All other related party transactions in 
excess of $10,000 have been provided in the tables below. 

 
2020-2021 
 
 
Transaction Type 

Transaction value  
for year ended  
30 June 2021   

$’000 

Net receivable /  
(payable) as at  
30 June 2021 

$’000 

Commitments as at 
30 June 2021                 

$’000 
Services received - - - 

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or received. No 
expense has been recognised in the current year for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related 
parties. 

 
2019-2020 
 
 
Transaction Type 

Transaction value  
for year ended  
30 June 2020   

$’000 

Net receivable /  
(payable) as at  
30 June 2020 

$’000 

Commitments as at 
30 June 2020                 

$’000 
Services received 29 - - 

 
The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or received. No 
expense was recognized in the year for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.  
 

25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS 
 
(a) Contingent liabilities 
Territory Wildlife Parks had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021 or 30 June 2020. 
 
(b) Contingent assets 
Territory Wildlife Parks had no contingent assets as at 30 June 2021 or 30 June 2020. 
 

26. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE SHEET DATE 
No events have arisen between the end of the financial year and the date of this report that require adjustment to, 
or disclosure in these financial statements. 
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27. ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER’S TRUST ACCOUNT 
In accordance with section 7 of the Financial Management Act 1995, an Accountable Officer’s Trust Account has been 
established for the receipt of money to be held in trust. A summary of activity is shown below. 
 

2020-21 
 
Nature of Trust Money 

Opening Balance 
1 July 2020 

$’000 
Receipts 

$’000 
Payments 

$’000 

Closing Balance 
30 June 2021 

$’000 
Other money 25 3 (22) 6 
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28. BUDGETARY INFORMATION 
 

Comprehensive Operating Statement 2020-21 
Actual 
$’000 

2020-21 
Original 

Budget (a) 
$’000 

Variance 
$’000 Note 

Income     
Grants and subsidies revenue     

Current 759 299 460  
Community Service Obligations 7,676 10,456 (2,780) 1 

Sales of goods and services 2,353 2,543 (190)  
Interest revenue 3 18 (15)  
Gain on sale of asset 8 - 8  
Other income 243 - 243  

Total Income 11,042 13,316 (2,274)  

     

Expenses     

Employee expenses 7,072 6,427 645 2 
Administrative expenses     

Property Management 943 1,084 (141)  
Purchase of goods and services 2,209 2,147 62  
Repairs and maintenance 434 3,330 (2,896) 1 
Depreciation and amortisation 2,518 2,421 97  

Other administrative expenses 14 11 3  
Interest expenses 11 9 2  
Total Expenses 13,201 15,429 (2,228)  

     

Income Tax Expense - - -  

     

Net Deficit (2,159) (2,113) (46)  

     

Other Comprehensive Income – Net of Income Tax     

Changes in asset revaluation surplus - -   

     

Comprehensive Result (2,159) (2,113) (46)  

(a) Original budget amounts correspond to those disclosed in the NTG Budget 2020-21 BP3 Entity Budget Statements (November 
2020), classified on a basis that is consistent with the presentation and classification adopted in these financial statements. 

Notes 
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than $0.5 million. 
1. $2.78 million of funding for repairs and maintenance was transferred to the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and 

Logistics for management. 
2. Accumulated unfunded wage increases. 

  

171ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 | DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT, PARKS AND WATER SECURITY



Balance Sheet 2020-21 
Actual 
$’000 

2020-21 
Original 

Budget(a) 
$’000 

Variance 
$’000 Note 

Assets     

Current Assets     

Cash and deposits 754 797 (43)  
Receivables 151 63 88  
Prepayments 24 20 4  

Inventories 40 33 7  

Total Current Assets 969 913 56  

     

Non-Current Assets     

Property, plant and equipment 34,963 34,457 506 1 
Total Non-Current Assets 34,963 34,457 506  

     

Total Assets 35,932 35,370 562  

     

Liabilities     

Current Liabilities     

Deposits held 84 103 (19)  
Payables 175 245 (70)  
Borrowings 188 - 188  
Provisions 973 989 (16)  
Total Current Liabilities 1,420 1,337 83  

     

Non-Current Liabilities     

Borrowings 554 505 49  
Total Non-Current Liabilities 554 505 49  

     

Total Liabilities 1,974 1,842 132  

     

Net Assets 33,958 33,528 430  

     

Equity     

Capital 34,533 34,057 476  

Asset revaluation surplus 38,696 38,696 0  

Accumulated funds (39,271) (39,225) (46)  

Total Equity 33,958 33,528 430  

(a) Original budget amounts correspond to those disclosed in the NTG Budget 2020-21 BP3 Entity Budget Statements (November 
2020), classified on a basis that is consistent with the presentation and classification adopted in these financial statements. 
 

Notes 
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than $0.5 million. 
1. Increase in property, plant and equipment is a result of new assets being transferred, transferred in completed minor new 

works, and capital purchases. 
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Cash Flow Statement 
2020-21 

Actual 
$’000 

2020-21 
Original 

Budget(a) 
$’000 

Variance 
$’000 Note 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities     

Operating Receipts     
Grants and subsidies received     

Current 759 299 460  
Community Service Obligations 7,676 10,456 (2,780) 1 

Receipts from sales of goods and services 2,833 2,532 301  
Interest received 3 18 (15)  
Total Operating Receipts 11,271 13,305 (2034)  
Operating Payments     
Payments to employees (7,113) (6,427) (686) 2 
Payments for goods and services (3,953) (6,561) 2,608 1 
Deposits paid (19) (9) (10)  
Total Operating Payments (11,085) (12,997) 1,912  
Net Cash From Operating Activities 186 308 (122)  
     
Cash Flows from Investing Activities     
Investing Receipts     
Proceeds from asset sales 10 - 10  
Total Investing Receipts 10 - 10  
Purchases of assets - (99) 99  
Total Investing Payments - (99) 99  
Net Cash From/(Used in) Investing Activities 10 (99) 109  
     
Cash Flows from Financing Activities     
Financing Payments     
Interest paid (11) - (11)  
Finance lease payments (190) (171) (19)  
Total Financing Payments (201) (171) (30)  
Net Cash (Used in) Financing Activities (201) (171) (30)  
     
Net (decrease) / increase in cash held (5) 38 (43)  
Cash at beginning of financial year 759 759 0  
Cash at End of Financial Year 754 797 (43)  

(a) Original budget amounts correspond to those disclosed in the NTG Budget 2020-21 BP3 Entity Budget Statements (November 
2020), classified on a basis that is consistent with the presentation and classification adopted in these financial statements. 
 
Notes 
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than $0.5 million. 
1. Decrease is the result of the transfer of the Territory Wildlife Parks’ capital works / repairs and maintenance program to the 

Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics (DIPL). 
2. Accumulated unfunded wage increases. 

 

173ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 | DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT, PARKS AND WATER SECURITY



APPENDIX 1
DEPARTMENT BOARD AND COMMITTEES - MEMBERSHIP
The department’s board and committees oversee the allocation of resources across the department and the 
development and implementation of policies, plans and procedures that provide a foundation of good governance for 
department activities. 

COMMITTEE PURPOSE MEMBERSHIP AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

Governance Board The Governance Board is the senior 
planning and decision-making body for 
the department responsible for strategic 
leadership, direction and whole of 
department policy setting, to ensure
the department is positioned to deliver 
government’s objectives and meets its 
corporate responsibilities and priorities.

Joanne Townsend, Chief Executive Officer (Chair) 
Alaric Fisher, Executive Director, Flora and Fauna 
Amy Dennison, Executive Director, Environment Regulation 
Amy Dysart, Executive Director, Water Resources 
Collene Bremner, Executive Director, Bushfires NT
Luis Da Rocha, Executive Director, Rangelands 
Paul Purdon, Executive Director, Environmental Assessment and Policy
Sally Egan, Executive Director, Parks and Wildlife 
Cynthia Loganathan, Chief Financial Officer
John Gaynor, Regional Director, Southern

Audit and Risk Management 
Committee

The Audit and Risk Management 
Committee provides independent 
advice and assurance to the Chief 
Executive Officer on the effectiveness 
of the agency’s audit, risk management 
and internal control processes. The 
committee’s role is to advise on financial 
reporting responsibilities, performance 
reporting responsibili-ties, risk oversight 
and management, and systems of 
internal control.

Stephanie Jungfer, Executive Officer (Chair) 
Amy Dennison, Executive Director, Environment Regulation
Amy Dysart, Executive Director, Water Resources
Luis Da Rocha, Executive Director, Rangelands
Sally Egan, Executive Director, Parks and Wildlife
Glenn Edwards, Senior Director, Species Management, Flora and Fauna
Andrew Turner, Director Operations, Bushfires NT
Hannah Feneley, Director, Trans Civil Services Support, DIPL

Infrastructure Committee The Infrastructure Committee provides 
whole of department direction (including 
the Government Business Division - 
Territory Wildlife Parks) on infrastructure 
planning and investment decisions.

Sally Egan, Executive Director, Parks and Wildlife (Chair)
Collene Bremner, Executive Director, Bushfires NT 
Cynthia Loganathan, Chief Financial Officer
Neva McCartney, Senior Director, Parks and Wildlife 
Trish Grimshaw, Director Strategic Services
Adrian McKenzie, Regional Manager, Parks and Wildlife
Jo Pridham, Administration and Contracts Officer, Flora and Fauna Yvette 
Wilkes, Business Manager, Water Resources Division

Emergency Management 
Committee

The Emergency Management 
Committee leads department activities 
before and during an event and reviews 
and evaluates activities after an event, 
manages communication and emergency 
messaging for staff and assists with 
coordination of messaging across 
government, ensures the department 
has an emergency management plan
in place, and assists in coordinating 
the department’s cyclone plans and 
monitoring cyclone preparedness.

Luis Da Rocha, Executive Director, Rangelands (Chair) 
Joanne Townsend, Chief Executive Officer
Edwin Edlund, Director, Communications and Media
Trish Grimshaw, Director, Strategic Services

Information and 
Communications Technology 
Committee

The Committee provides effective 
governance and oversees process, 
technology and data components of 
the department's Strategic Plan and ICT 
environment and activities to ensure 
alignment of the agency’s business 
objectives and ICT architecture; as well 
as adherence with whole of government
requirements.

Luis Da Rocha, Executive Director, Rangelands (Chair)
Alaric Fisher, Executive Director, Flora and Fauna 
Amy Dysart, Executive Director, Water Resources 
Sally Egan, Executive Director, Parks and Wildlife 
Jason Hill, Director, Rangelands
John Gaynor, Regional Director, Southern
Ken Baulch, Director Policy and Planning, Bushfires NT
Leonie Cooper, Director, Environment
Marguerite Wall, Chief Information Officer, DCDD 
Zoe Malone, Senior Director, DCDD

Department Work Health and 
Safety Committee

The Department Work Health and 
Safety Committee provides whole 
of department direction on policies, 
strategies and safe systems of work. 
The Committee exists to ensure the 
department complies with its statutory 
work health and safety obligations to 
staff and other persons.

Joanne Townsend, Chief Executive Officer (Chair) 
Alaric Fisher, Executive Director, Flora and Fauna 
Amy Dennison, Executive Director, Environment Regulation 
Amy Dysart, Executive Director, Water Resources 
Collene Bremner, Executive Director, Bushfires NT
Luis Da Rocha, Executive Director, Rangelands 
Paul Purdon, Executive Director, Environmental Assessment and Policy
Sally Egan, Executive Director, Parks and Wildlife 
Neva McCartney, Senior Director, Parks and Wildlife
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Bushfires NT Work Health and 
Safety Committee

Each division has their own Work Health 
and Safety Committee to collaborate 
and contribute health and safety 
matters, policies and procedures.

Collene Bremner (Chair)
Sandra Paterson 
Troy Munckton 
Brittney Burton 
Nathaniel Staniford 
Lee Gleeson 
Andrew Turner 
Tina Holt
Paul Johnston (volunteer)
Maureen Kohlman (volunteer)

Executive and Business 
Services Work Health and 
Safety Committee

Each division has their own Work Health 
and Safety Committee to collaborate 
and contribute health and safety 
matters, policies and procedures.

Joanne Townsend (Chair)
Courtney Canavan
Cindy McIntyre
Kelly Steele
Trish Gimshaw

Environment Work Health and 
Safety Committee

Each division has their own Work Health 
and Safety Committee to collaborate 
and contribute health and safety 
matters, policies and procedures.

Paul Purdon (Chair) 
Alison Watters
Kylie Fitzpatrick 
Christing Plewinski 
Patricia Tonkin 
Mark Donnelly

Flora and Fauna Work Health 
and Safety Committee

Each division has their own Work Health 
and Safety Committee to collaborate 
and contribute health and safety 
matters, policies and procedures.

Glenn Edwards (Chair)
Alaric Fisher 
Alistair Stewart 
Danny Low Choy 
Mathew Majid 
Sarah Hirst 
Debbie Randall
Efrosini Delmardoros

Parks and Wildlife Work
Health and Safety Committee

Each division has their own Work Health 
and Safety Committee to collaborate 
and contribute health and safety 
matters, policies and procedures.

Sally Egan (Rotating Chair) 
Neva McCartney
Aggie Wegner
David Shevill 
Shael Martin 
Lilia Cercarelli 
Chris Day 
Lincoln Wilson

Rangelands Work Health and 
Safety Committee

Each division has their own Work Health 
and Safety Committee to collaborate 
and contribute health and safety 
matters, policies and procedures.

Luis Da Rocha (Chair)
Jason Hill
Chris Brown 
Kara Maclean 
Susan King 
Eloise Kippers 
John Gaynor

Water Resources Work Health 
and Safety Committee

Each division has their own Work Health 
and Safety Committee to collaborate 
and contribute health and safety 
matters, policies and procedures.

Amy Dysart (Chair)
Michelle Uniacke
Hayden Lowe 
Ralf Koberstein 
Pru Ducey 
Duncan Rance 
Michelle Rodrigo 
Jyoti Maggu 
Gavin Lovelock 
Liza Schenkel
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COMMITTEE PURPOSE MEMBERSHIP AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

Barranyi (North Island) Local 
Management Committee

Established under the Territory Parks and Wildlife Conservation 
Act 1976 and the Barranyi (North Island) Local Management 
Committee Regulations 1992, the committee assists with 
managing Barranyi (North Island) National Park.

Stephanie Jupiter (Chair
Andrew Peckham 
Graham Friday
Linda Owens
Mavis  Timothy
Ross Friday
Roxanne Jupiter
Sarah Kerin

Bushfires Council of the 
Northern Territory

The Bushfires Council of the Northern Territory, established 
under section 21 of the Bushfires Management Act 2016, 
recommends measures to the Minister for Environment, Parks 
and Water Security for effective fire mitigation and management 
on all Territory land apart from urban emergency response areas 
serviced by the Northern Territory Fire and Rescue Service. Its 
members are appointed by the Minister for Environment, Parks 
and Water Security.

Elizabeth Bird (Chair)
Shaun Ansell
Alice Bielby
Paul Blore
Matthew Braitling
Ashley Manicaros
Gary Cook
Benjamin Kaethner
Karen May
Lena Perkins
Dianne Tynan
William Rioli
Todd Smith
Mark Spain
Ian Stewart

Cobourg Peninsula Sanctuary 
and Marine Park Board

The Cobourg Peninsula Sanctuary and Marine Park Board is 
a statutory body established under section 18 of the Cobourg 
Peninsula Aboriginal Land, Sanctuary and Marine Park Act 1981. 
The board’s purpose is to jointly manage Garig Gunak Barlu 
National Park with the department.

Robert Cunningham (Chair)
Solomon Cooper
Michael Coombes
Benjamin Williams
Leanne Paige
Lincoln Wilson
Neva McCartney
Darryl Hudson

Conservation Land 
Corporation

Established under section 27 of the Parks and Wildlife 
Commission Act 1980, the corporation’s purpose is to acquire, 
hold and dispose of real and personal property in accordance 
with the Act. It receives administrative support from the 
department.

Kenneth Johnson (Chair)
Bart Irwin
Sally Egan

Djukbinj Local Management 
Committee

Operating under the Territory Parks and Wildlife Conservation Act 
1976 and the Djukbinj Local Management Committee (Djukbinj 
Board) Regulations. The committee’s purpose is to assist the 
Department in determining the direction of the management of 
Djukbinj National Park.

The Djukbinj LMC has not
been operational and has been
managed through the Chair of the
Limilngan–Wulna Association. As at
30 June 2021, the Chairperson and
member positions remain vacant.

Drillers Qualification Advisory 
Committee

The Drillers Qualification Advisory Committee is established 
under section 54 of the Water Act 1992 and Water Regulation 
12 to advise the Controller of Water Resources on matters 
relating to licensing drillers. Its members are appointed by the 
Minister for Environment, Parks and Water Security.

Ian Lancaster (Chair)
Lance Martin
Trevor Edwards
David George
Tash Rammers
Martina Matzner
Tim Westcott
Rebecca Mohr-Bell

Keep River National 
Park Local Management 
Committee

Established under the Territory Parks and Wildlife Conservation 
Act 1976 and the Keep River National Park Local Management 
Committee (LMC) Regulations, the committee assists in the 
management of Keep River National Park. The Keep River LMC 
was initially set up to advise on management issues relating to 
the Keep River National Park. Amendments were made to the 
Act in 1998 to ensure better representation of the Traditional 
Owners as requested by the Aboriginal people.

The committee has not met since
2005 subject to determinations on
native title, which have since been
resolved. Consultative meetings
are still held with the Traditional
Owners of the park. As at 30
June 2021, the Chairperson and
member positions remain vacant.

APPENDIX 2
STATUTORY BOARDS AND COMMITTEES - MEMBERSHIP

176 ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 | DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT, PARKS AND WATER SECURITY



Nitmiluk (Katherine Gorge) 
National Park Board

Established under section 9 of the Nitmiluk (Katherine Gorge) 
National Park Act 1989, the board’s purpose is to jointly manage 
Nitmiluk National Park with the department.

Lisa Mumbin (Chair) 
Alister Andrews
Robert Friel
Jake Quinlivan
Jane Runyu-Fordimail
Ossie Daylight
Melissa Rogers
Raymond Fordimail
Ryan Barrowei 
Sarah Kerin 
Tony Walla

Northern Territory 
Environment Protection 
Authority (NT EPA)

The NT EPA is an independent statutory authority established 
in 2013 under the Northern Territory Environment Protection 
Authority Act 2012 (NT EPA Act) to protect the environment. Its 
objectives are to promote ecologically sustainable development, 
effective waste management and minimisation strategies, and 
enhance community and business confidence in the Territory’s 
environment protection regime. Its members are appointed 
by the Administrator of the Northern Territory, with the 
exception of the Chairperson of the Northern Territory Planning 
Commission, who is appointed by the Northern Territory 
Minister for Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics in accordance 
with the Planning Act 1999.

Dr Paul Vogel AM (Chair)
Samantha Nunan
Dr David Ritchie (ex Officio)
Janice van Reyk
Dr Ian Geoffrey Wallis
Colin Joseph Woodward
Dr Vaughn Beck
Dr Rod Lukatelich

Pastoral Land Board The Pastoral Land Board is established under section 11 of 
the Pastoral Land Act 1992. It monitors the condition and use 
of pastoral land to ensure its sustainable use and economic 
viability. Its members are appointed by the Minister for 
Environment.

Julie Ross (Chair)
Steven Craig
Dr Leigh Hunt
David James
Alastair Shields
Roy Chisholm

Alice Springs Regional 
Bushfires Committee

Under the Bushfires Management Act 2016, regional bushfires 
committees are established in the 5 regional fire management 
zones to recommend measures to mitigate, manage and 
suppress bushfires to the Bushfires Council in its fire 
management zone and endorse regional bushfire management 
plans prepared by Bushfires NT. Its members are appointed by 
the Minister for Environment.

Benjamin Kaethner
Kristen Hay
Alastair Bayly
Elizabeth Bird
Ben Cromarty
Donna Digby
Edward Hayes (Chair)
Benjamin Heaslip
Kimberly McKay
Ashley Severin
Gerogina Hamlyn

Arnhem Regional Bushfires 
Committee

Under the Bushfires Management Act 2016, regional bushfires 
committees are established in the 5 regional fire management 
zones to recommend measures to mitigate, manage and 
suppress bushfires to the Bushfires Council in its fire 
management zone and endorse regional bushfire management 
plans prepared by Bushfires NT. Its members are appointed by 
the Minister for Environment.

Nigel Gellar (Chair)
Clarry Rogers (D/Chair)
Jessie Alderson
Otto Bulmaniya Campion
Anna Pickworth
Simon Ponto
William Rioli
Connell Tipiloura
Greg Wilson

Barkly Regional Bushfires 
Committee

Under the Bushfires Management Act 2016, regional bushfires 
committees are established in the 5 regional fire management 
zones to recommend measures to mitigate, manage and 
suppress bushfires to the Bushfires Council in its fire 
management zone and endorse regional bushfire management 
plans prepared by Bushfires NT. Its members are appointed by 
the Minister for Environment.

Lena Perkins (Chair)
Kenneth Ford
Michael Johnson
Donald Shadforth

Vernon/Arafura Regional
Bushfires Committee

Under the Bushfires Management Act 2016, regional bushfires 
committees are established in the 5 regional fire management 
zones to recommend measures to mitigate, manage and 
suppress bushfires to the Bushfires Council in its fire 
management zone and endorse regional bushfire management 
plans prepared by Bushfires NT. Its members are appointed by 
the Minister for Environment.

Shaun Ansell (Chair)
Ian Stewart (D/ Chair)
Rodney Beament
Colin Deveraux
Thomas Harrower
Susan Jones
David McLachlan
Andrew McTaggart
Desmond Oakhill

Savanna Regional Bushfires
Committee

Under the Bushfires Management Act 2016, regional bushfires 
committees are established in the 5 regional fire management 
zones to recommend measures to mitigate, manage and 
suppress bushfires to the Bushfires Council in its fire 
management zone and endorse regional bushfire management 
plans prepared by Bushfires NT. Its members are appointed by 
the Minister for Environment.

Alice Beilby (Chair)
James (Benjamin) Lewis (D/Chair)
Jessica Beckhouse
Campbell Elliott
Michael Harding
Tammy Kruckow
Heidi Millership
Sam Tapp
Simon Cheers
Tammy Kruckow
Thomas Shepherd
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Tnorala Local Management 
Committee

Established under the Territory Parks and Wildlife Conservation 
Act 1976 and the Tnorala Local Management Committee 
Regulations, the committee’s purpose is to assist the 
Department to manage Tnorala (Gosse Bluff) Conservation 
Reserve.

Bevan Malbunka (Chair) 
Alias Malbunka
Phil Cowan 
Martin Kreig 
Maxine Malbunka 
Tristam Malbunka

Water Resources Review 
Panel

The Water Resources Review Panel, established under section 
24 of the Water Act 1992, consists of a Chairman and a group 
of 8 people with qualifications or experience in bore drilling, 
primary industry, secondary industry, Aboriginal affairs, public 
health, environmental management, fisheries and mining. All 
members are appointed by the Minister for Environment, Parks 
and Water Security.

David George (Chair)
Prof Les McCrimmon (Alt Chair)
Neil Power
Colin Beard
Philip Howie 
Joe Morrison 
George Roussos 
Tom Harris 
Tracy Ward
Katherine Winchester

Alice Springs Water Advisory 
Committee (finalised February 
2021)

Water advisory committees are established under section 23 
of the Water Act 1992 to provide advice and recommendations 
to the department on water management and allocations. 
This includes advice on developing and implementing water 
allocation plans. Its members are appointed by the Minister for 
Environment, Parks and Water Security.

John Huigen (Chair)
Jimmy Cocking
Rod Cramer
Adam Davis
Robyn Grey-Gardner
Glenn Marshall
Eli Melky
Barbara Shaw
Greg Owens
Martin Campbell

Mataranka-Tindall Water 
Advisory Committee

Water advisory committees are established under section 23 
of the Water Act 1992 to provide advice and recommendations 
to the department on water management and allocations. 
This includes advice on developing and implementing water 
allocation plans. Its members are appointed by the Minister for 
Environment, Parks and Water Security.

Dr Rebecca Mohr-Bell (Chair)
David Ciaravolo
Jocelyn James
Sarah Kerin
Vincent Lange
Helena Lardy
Clair O’Brien
Kerry Roberts
Judy MacFarlane
Rohan Sullivan
Mark Hansen
Jenny Davis

Rapid Creek Water Advisory 
Committee

Water advisory committees are established under section 23 
of the Water Act 1992 to provide advice and recommendations 
to the department on water management and allocations. 
This includes advice on developing and implementing water 
allocation plans. Its members are appointed by the Minister for 
Environment, Parks and Water Security.

Ian Lancaster (Chair)
Neal Adamson
Professor Karen Gibb
Nick Fewster
Robin Knox
Tim Moore
Lisa Peters
Graeme Finch
Julia Schult
Dean McAdam

Gamba Grass Weeds Advisory 
Committee

Weed advisory committees are established under section 16 of 
the Weeds Management Act 2001. Its members are appointed 
by the Minister for Environment. During 2019–20 the Gamba 
Grass Weed Advisory Committee was established to draft the 
new Weed Management Plan for Gamba Grass 2020–2030. The 
final plan was approved by the Minister in December 2020.

Susanne Casanova (Chair)
Dr Natalie Rossiter-Rachor 
Anthony Kerr
Dr David Liddle
Louise Kean
Sharon Jones
Romy Cary
Anna Malgorzewicz
Justin Dunning
Anna Gazzard
Michelle Haitana
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NON-STATUTORY COMMITTEES AND BODIES - MEMBERSHIP
COMMITTEE PURPOSE MEMBERSHIP AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

Aboriginal Land Management 
Advisory Group

The Aboriginal Land Management 
Advisory Group (ALMAG) provides 
advice and recommendations to the 
department on all relevant aspects 
of the development, implementation, 
delivery and reporting of the Aboriginal 
Ranger Grants Programs under the 
Protecting Country, Creating Jobs 
initiative.

Ronald (Ricky) Archer, (Chair)
Dr Alaric Fisher
Dr Linda Ford
Brian Tipungwuti
Cameron McDougall
Daniel Keynes
Matthew Salmon
Paul Jenkins
Peter Donohoe
Robert Dalton
Karen May
Sharon Hillen

Alice Springs Regional Weeds 
Reference Group

The Alice Springs Regional Weed 
Reference Group is a forum that 
provides an opportunity for a wide 
range of stakeholders in the Alice 
Springs Region to discuss and 
collaborate on regional priorities 
and related topics relating to 
weed management, including the 
development of the Alice Springs 
Regional Weeds Strategy.

Liz Bird, A/Coordinator
Martin Campbell
Rod Cramer
Wayne Gaskon
Charlotte Klempin
Jon Hodgetts
Peter Jobson
Alex Read
Chris Brown

Barkly Regional Weeds 
Working Group

The Barkly Regional Weed Reference 
Group is a forum that provides an 
opportunity for a wide range of 
stakeholders in the Barkly Region to 
discuss and
collaborate on regional priorities 
and related topics relating to 
weed management, including the 
development of the Barkly Regional 
Weeds Strategy.

Dan Chapman
Jessica Burdon
Scott Spurling
Alan Roe
Jane Douglas
Suzie Shearer 
Jonny McGannon 
Nathan Mills

Beetaloo Regional Reference 
Group

The Beetaloo Regional Reference 
Group (BRRG) was established on 27 
October 2020 to provide input and 
feedback to the Northern Territory 
Government on the Strategic Regional 
and Environmental Baseline Assessment 
(SREBA) in the Beetaloo Sub-basin.

The BRRG functions as a consultative 
forum for community views and input 
regarding the SREBA studies for the 
specific region.

Dr Rebecca Mohr-Bell (Chair)
 Brendan Pearce 
Gordon Jackson
Jeffrey McLaughlin
Keith Holzwart
Peter Kilduff
Rohan Sullivan
 Ronald Plummer
Greg Owens 
Anne Marie Lee
Judy McFarlane
Karen May

Katherine Regional Weeds 
Reference Group

The Katherine Regional Weed Reference 
Group is a forum that provides an 
opportunity for a wide range of 
stakeholders in the Katherine Region to 
discuss and
collaborate on regional priorities 
and related topics relating to 
weed management, including the 
development of the Katherine Regional 
Weeds Strategy.

Jay Mohr-Bell (Chair)
Steve Pocock
Simone Cameron
Eleanor Fordyce
Brian Hill
Mark Ford
Chris Parry
Claire Brown
Madonna Wuttke
Scott Herring
Michelle Riggs
Susan King

Darwin Harbour Advisory 
Committee

The Darwin Harbour Advisory 
Committee provides advice on an 
integrated research and monitoring 
plan to inform management of Darwin 
Harbour and protect the aquatic 
environment and critical habitats at 
risk from climate change. Its members 
are appointed by the Minister for 
Environment, Parks and Water Security.

Professor Karen Gibb (Chair)  
Alan Roe
Claire Streten
David Ciaravolo 
Dr Emma Young
Ian Niblock
Jamie Carle
Jim Smith
Leighton Randell
Nigel Browne 
Sam Buchanan
Shar Molloy 
Sue McKinnon
Wayne Sharpe
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Lhere Mparntwe (Todd River) 
Strategy Implementation 
Advisory Group

Lhere Mparntwe (Todd River) Strategy 
Implementation Advisory Group 
monitors the implementation of 
the Lhere Mparntwe Management 
Strategy 2019 and to focus public and 
government attention on the rivers 
management. The group provides a 
consistent effort and the strategic 
oversight that is required to ensure that 
management is sustainable.

Alex McLean
Chris Day
David Letheby
Geoff Kenna
John Gaynor
Ken Johnson
Robert Campbell
Sarah Fairhead
Scott Allen
Janelle White
Sunil Dhanji
Ian Coleman
Mike Gillam
John Newchurch
Stephen Peckham
Peter Lena

Adelaide River Joint 
Management Committee

The committee provides governance, 
policy and strategic direction for reserve 
management, as per the Adelaide 
River Conservation Reserve Joint 
Management Plan.

Joe Browne
William Browne
Pamela Talbot
Edward Talbot
Jennifer Talbot
Christine Jenner
Julie Heran
Greg Williams

Arltunga & Ruby Gap Joint 
Management Committee

In line with the Ruby Gap Joint 
Management Joint Management Plan, 
the committee provides governance, 
strategic direction and policy for the 
park’s management. Traditional Owners, 
Land Councils and Parks and Wildlife 
Officers are currently finalising the 
Arltunga Joint Historical Reserve Joint 
Management Plan.

Lousie Cavanagh
Bernice Cavanagh
Gordon Cavanagh
Barry Cavanagh
Mary (Mia) Mulladad
Lorinda Mulladad
Shane Mulladad
Donovan Mulladad

Chambers Pillar Historic 
Reserve Joint Management 
Committee

In line with the Chambers Pillar Historic 
Reserve Joint Management Plan, 
the committee provides governance, 
strategic direction and policy for the 
reserve’s management.

Committee members are confirmed at the commencement of each 
meeting.

East MacDonnell Joint 
Management Committee

In line with the Corroboree Rock 
Conservation Reserve, N’Dhala Gorge 
Nature Park and Trephina Gorge 
Nature Park joint management plans, 
the committee provides governance, 
strategic direction and policy for the 
park’s management.

Committee members are confirmed at the commencement of each 
meeting.

Finke Gorge National 
Park Joint Management 
Committee

In line with the Finke Gorge National 
Park Joint Management Plan, the 
committee provides governance, 
strategic direction and policy for the 
park’s management.

Committee members are confirmed at the commencement of each 
meeting.

Giwining/Flora River Nature 
Park Joint Management 
Committee

Established under the Territory Parks 
and Wildlife Conservation Act 1976, the 
Parks and Reserves (Framework for the 
Future) Act 2003 was passed so that 
outstanding land and native title claims 
affecting 27 parks and reserves could 
be settled. In 2005 the Territory Parks 
and Wildlife Conservation Act 1976 was 
amended, setting out the principles and 
objectives for joint management for the 
27 ‘framework’ parks.

The Giwining/Flora River Nature Park 
Joint Management Plan establishes the 
actual Committee.

Marie Allen (Chair)
Bill Harney
Florrie Smiler
Ted Croker jnr 
Basil Murrimal
Sally Winbirr
Chris Parry
Andrew Peckham
Sarah Kerin

Iytwelepenty/Davenport 
Ranges National Park Joint 
Management Committee

In line with the Iytwelepenty/Davenport 
Ranges Joint Management Plan, the 
committee provides governance, 
strategic direction and policy for the 
park’s management.

Committee members are confirmed at the commencement of each 
meeting.
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Judbarra/Gregory National 
Park Joint Management 
Committee

The Judbarra/Gregory National Park 
and Gregory’s Tree Historical Reserve 
Joint Management Plan establishes the 
actual Committee.

Larry Johns (Chair) 
Lorraine Jones
Susan Jones
Basil Murrimal
Reggie Ryan
Doris Roberts
Chris Griffith
Crystella Roberts
Maryarthur Campbell
Katie Roy 
Cerise Young
Jack Little
Sarah Kerin
Chris Parry

Karlu Karlu (Devils Marbles) 
Conservation Reserve Joint 
Management Committee

In line with the Devils Marbles (Karlu 
Karlu) Conservation Reserve Joint 
Management Plan, the committee 
provides governance, strategic 
direction and policy for the reserve’s 
management.

Committee members are confirmed at the commencement of each 
meeting.

Mary River Joint Management 
Committee 

In line with the Mary River National Park 
Joint Management Plan, the committee 
provides broad direction through 
planning and policy development for 
management of the park.

Steve Dwyer
Adrian Gumudrul
Andrew Henda
Samson Henry
Julie Heran
David Kenyon
Darryl Tambling
Henry Yates
Roger Yates

Rainbow Valley Joint 
Management Committee

In line with the Rainbow Valley 
Conservation Reserve Joint 
Management Plan, the committee 
provides governance, strategic direction 
and policy for the reserve’s management

Committee members are confirmed at the commencement of each 
meeting.

Tjoritja/West MacDonnell 
National Park Joint 
Management Committee

Governance arrangements are under 
review. There is a commitment to 
continue holding one larger full 
Traditional Owner Group meeting to 
provide an opportunity for updates 
on the park management and seek 
traditional owner input.

Currently disbanded, Traditional Owner group are in discussion on how 
Joint Management can operate effectively moving forward.

Watarrka National Park Joint 
Management Committee

In line with the Watarrka National Park 
Joint Management Plan, the committee 
provides governance, strategic direction 
and policy for the park’s management.

Committee members are confirmed at the commencement of each 
meeting.

Yeperenye/Emily and Jessie 
Gaps Nature Park Joint 
Management Committee

In line with the Yeperenye/Emily 
and Jessie Gaps Nature Park Joint 
Management Plan, the committee 
provides governance, strategic direction 
and policy for the park’s management.

Committee members are confirmed at the commencement of each 
meeting.
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APPENDIX 3
GRANT RECIPIENTS 2020-21  

RECIPIENT PURPOSE

NTG OR 
EXTERNALLY 
FUNDED

2020-21 
AMOUNT

Alice Springs Desert Park Community Service Obligations NTG 3,703,000

Anindilyakwa Land Council Land Management and Conservation Grant for NTG 137,184
Arafura Swamp Rangers Aboriginal 
Corporation

Land Management and Conservation Grant for Integrated feral animal and 
weed management in the Arafura swamp NTG 37,670

Arid Lands Environment Centre Operational Grant to support the Centre NTG 100,000

Arnhem Land Fire Abatement Ltd (ALFA)

West Arnhem Fire Management Agreement (WAFMA) between the 
Northern Territory of Australia and ALFA (NT) Limited and Darwin LNG 
Pty Ltd (DLNG). Funding to be used to conduct fire planning, mitigation 
and suppression activities on country in western Arnhem Land.

Externally 
Funded 1,400,552

Australian Marine Conservation Society 
Inc. Operational Grant to support the Centre NTG 30,000

Central Land Council

Land Management and Conservation Grant for All CLC Ranger groups - 
tracker training NTG 38,600

Land Management and Conservation Grant for Docker River & Mutitjulu 
Rangers - Access to Country NTG 52,060

Land Management and Conservation Grant for Aritarpilta Inelye Ranger 
Group in Central Australia NTG 100,090

Land Management and Conservation Grant for Tennant Creek, Anmatyerr, 
Ntaria & Ltyentye Apurte Rangers - Healthy Country Plans NTG 119,400

Joint Management Support Assistance to perform the statutory functions 
and obligations to represent traditional Aboriginal owners of parks and 
reserves

NTG 123,000

Charles Darwin University West Arnhem greenhouse emissions monitoring and auditing program in 
relation to the WAFMA agreement

Externally 
Funded 100,000

Darwin Wildlife Sanctuary Native animal rescue, care and rehabilitation and provision of related 
advice NTG 25,000

DEMED Aboriginal Corporation
Land Management and Conservation Grant for Adjumarllarl Rangers - 
Targeted Land Management: Fresh Water Bininj Mundbalk to Saltwater 
Bininj Mundbalk

NTG 39,377

Dhimurru Land Management Aboriginal 
Corporation

Land Management and Conservation Grant for Dhimurru Rangers - IPA 
marine debris management NTG 5,500

Environmental Defenders Office NT Inc. Operational Grant to support the Centre NTG 100,000
Injalak Arts and Crafts Aboriginal 
Corporation Land Management and Conservation Grant for NTG 135,899

Jawoyn Association Aboriginal 
Corporation Centralised

Land Management and Conservation Grant - Strategic, Regional and 
sustainable Ranger led response to the threat of Gamba Grass on Jawoyn 
Lands

NTG 138,974

Keep Australia Beautiful Council Operational Grant to support the Centre NTG 150,000

Larrakia Nation Aboriginal Corporation Land Management and Conservation Grant for Larrakia Nation Rangers 
monitoring and managing traditional intertidal seafood NTG 40,000

Laynhapuy Homelands Aboriginal 
Corporation

Land Management and Conservation Grant for Yirralka Rangers - 
Laynhapuy IPA Feral Animal Control NTG 45,178

Local Government Association of the NT Operational Grant to support regional waste management NTG 150,000

Mimal Land Management Aboriginal 
Corporation

Land Management and Conservation Grant for Mimal Rangers - Mimal 
Land Management - Rangers delivering on country to manage weeds, fire, 
ferals and keep culture strong

NTG 50,025

North Australian Indigenous Land & Sea 
Management Alliance

Land Management and Conservation Grant for all Northern Territory 
Rangers - Indigenous State of the Region Report 2018-2020 NTG 100,000
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RECIPIENT PURPOSE

NTG OR 
EXTERNALLY 
FUNDED

2020-21 
AMOUNT

Northern Land Council

Land Management and Conservation Grant for Bulgul Rangers - 
Increasing Aboriginal Ranger capacity in caring for country within the 
Finniss-Reynolds catchment

NTG 98,984

Land Management and Conservation Grant for Ganalanga-Mindibirrina 
Indigenous Protected Area - Feral animal survey NTG 159,660

Land Management and Conservation Grant for Kenbi Rangers - Cultural 
and natural resource management activities on Kenbi land and sea 
country

NTG 35,000

Creating a Healthy Country Plan for the Aboriginal Land Trust including 
the areas of Croker Island, smaller islands surrounding and adjacent area 
on mainland

NTG 70,000

Land Management and Conservation Grant for Wardaman Rangers - 
Protecting the Wardaman IPA from feral animal and weed threats. NTG 100,000

Land Management and Conservation Grant for Bulgul Feral Pig 
Management and Training NTG 95,110

Daly River Roper engagement NTG 55,000
Assistance to perform the statutory functions and obligations to represent 
traditional Aboriginal owners of parks and reserves NTG 122,000

Northern Territory Farmers Association Water Productivity, Efficiency & sustainabilty Project NTG 30,000

Olive Pink Botanic Garden Operation and administration of Crown Lands Reserve NTG 200,000
Queensland Department of Agricultural 
& Fisheries Contribution to the National Four Tropical Weeds Eradication Program NTG 60,935

Red Witchweed Program due to new detections and subsequent impact NTG 4,261

Roper River Landcare Incorporated Land Management and Conservation Grant for Mangarrayi Rangers - 
Leadership in Neem Control and Eradication in the Never-Never NTG 25,700

Tangentyere Council Aboriginal 
Corporation Land Management and Conservation Grant for NTG 149,808

Territory Natural Resource Management Gamba Army NTG 500,000

Territory Wildlife Park Community Service Obligation NTG 3,973,000

Thamarrurr Development Corporation 
Ltd

Land Management and Conservation Grant for Thamarrurr, Asyrikarrak 
Kirim, Wudicupidilyerr and Malak Malak Rangers - Collaborative 
management of mimosa and gamba grass in the western Top End region

NTG 182,500

The Environment Centre NT Inc. Operational Grant to support the Centre NTG 100,000

Tiwi Land Council Land Management and Conservation Grant for Tiwi Rangers - Control and 
eradication of outlier weeds and ferals - Tiwi Islands NTG 73,942

Various recipients for bushfire subsidies 
relating to equipment

Subsidy is provided for landholders to purchase firefighting equipment 
and radios, at 50 percent for equipment and 80 percent for radios, of 
the purchase price (exclusive of GST) with maximum value of $1 200 per 
applicant.

NTG 12,015

Volunteer Bushfire Brigades Operational grant to support 22 volunteer bushfire brigades NTG 269,993

Warddeken Land Management Limited
Land Management and Conservation Grant for Warddeken Rangers - 
Transforming Philanthropic Support into a sustainable funding source for 
Indigenous Land and Sea Management

NTG 239,611

Wildcare Alice Springs Incorporated Native animal rescue, care and rehabilitation and provision of related 
advice NTG 15,000

Wildcare Incorporated Native animal rescue, care and rehabilitation and provision of related 
advice NTG 10,000

TOTAL  13,504,028
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Contacts
EXECUTIVE AND BUSINESS SERVICES
Postal Address: PO Box 496, Palmerston NT 0831 
Located: 1st Floor, Goyder Centre,
25 Chung Wah Terrace, Palmerston 0830
Phone: 08 8999 5511
Email: Communications.DEPWS@nt.gov.au
Website: www.denr.nt.gov.au

Facebook: www.facebook.com/depws

BUSHFIRES NT
Acacia Hills Headquarters - Phone: 08 8922 0844
Katherine - Phone: 08 8973 8871
Alice Springs - Phone: 08 8952 3066 
Email: bushfires.nt@nt.gov.au
Facebook: www.facebook.com/BushfiresNT
Twitter: twitter.com/bushfiresNT

Compliance and Enforcement
Email: BushfiresNT.Compliance@nt.gov.au

RANGELANDS
Darwin - Phone: 08 8999 4820
Katherine - Phone: 08 8973 8842
Alice Springs - Phone: 08 8951 9208 

Email: rangelands@nt.gov.au

Land Development Coordination
Phone: 08 8999 4624

Email: developmentassessment.DEPWS@nt.gov.au

Pastoral Lease Administration
Phone: 08 8999 4474

Email: pastorallandboard@nt.gov.au 

Weed Management Branch
Darwin - Phone: 08 8999 4567
Katherine - Phone: 08 8973 8857
Alice Springs - Phone: 08 8951 9210
Tennant Creek - Phone: 08 8962 4314 

Email: weedinfo@nt.gov.au

WATER RESOURCES
Phone: 08 8999 4455
Email: waterresources@nt.gov.au
Water portal: water.nt.gov.au

FLORA AND FAUNA
Phone: 08 8999 5500

Email: biodiversity.DEPWS@nt.gov.au

ENVIRONMENT
Phone: 08 8924 4218

Environmental Assessments
Email: eia.NT EPA@nt.gov.au

Environmental Operations 
Email: pollution@nt.gov.au

Environment Policy and Support and the 
Office of Climate Change
Email: environment.policy@nt.gov.au

PARKS AND WILDLIFE
Postal Address: PO Box 1448, Darwin NT 0801
Darwin - Phone: 08 8999 4555
Katherine - Phone: 08 8973 8888
Tennant Creek – Phone:  08 8962 4499
Alice Springs - Phone: 08 8951 8250
Email: ParkManagement.Pwcnt@nt.gov.au
Facebook: www.facebook.com/ParksandWildlifeNT
Opening hours: 8am to 4pm (Mon–Fri)

Hotlines

Wildwatch
1800 453 941

Pollution
1800 064 567

Container deposit
1800 752 632

mailto:Communications.DEPWS@nt.gov.au
http://www.denr.nt.gov.au
http://www.facebook.com/depws
mailto:bushfires.nt@nt.gov.au
http://www.facebook.com/BushfiresNT
http://twitter.com/bushfiresNT
mailto:BushfiresNT.Compliance@nt.gov.au
mailto:rangelands@nt.gov.au
mailto:developmentassessment.DEPWS@nt.gov.au
mailto:pastorallandboard@nt.gov.au
mailto:weedinfo@nt.gov.au
mailto:waterresources@nt.gov.au
mailto:biodiversity.DEPWS@nt.gov.au
http://eia.NT
mailto:EPA@nt.gov.au
mailto:pollution@nt.gov.au
mailto:environment.policy@nt.gov.au
mailto:ParkManagement.Pwcnt@nt.gov.au
http://www.facebook.com/ParksandWildlifeNT
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